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The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration
statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities
and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED JULY 1, 2014

PROSPECTUS

Exchange Offer for
Up to $150,000,000 Principal Amount Outstanding

of 7.750% Senior Secured Notes due 2021
for a Like Principal Amount of

Registered 7.750% Senior Secured Notes due 2021
We hereby offer, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus and the accompanying letter of transmittal
(which together constitute the “Exchange Offer”), to exchange up to $150,000,000 principal amount of our registered 7.750%
Senior Secured Notes due 2021 (the “New Notes”) and the guarantees thereof for a like principal amount of our outstanding
unregistered 7.750% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 and the guarantees thereof, each of which were issued on April 15, 2014 (the
“Original Notes”). The Original Notes were issued as additional notes under the indenture pursuant to which, on February 12, 2013,
we issued $450,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 7.750% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 that were subsequently exchanged
on June 4, 2013 for notes registered under the Securities Act (the “Existing Notes” and, together with the New Notes and the
Original Notes, the “notes”).Subject to specified conditions, the New Notes will be free of the transfer restrictions that apply to our
outstanding unregistered Original Notes that you currently hold, but will otherwise be identical in all material respects to the
Original Notes. Subject to release as described in the indenture governing the notes, the notes will be fully and unconditionally
guaranteed on a joint and several basis by all of our wholly owned domestic subsidiaries that are engaged in the conduct of our
tobacco businesses. The notes will not be guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries engaged in our real estate businesses conducted
through our subsidiary New Valley LLC.

Interest on the New Notes will accrue at the rate of 7.750% per annum from the date of original issuance of the Original Notes or
from the most recent date on which interest on the Original Notes has been paid, whichever is later, and will be payable semi-
annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15, commencing on August 15, 2014. We will deem the right to receive any interest
accrued but unpaid on the Original Notes waived by you if we accept your Original Notes for exchange.

We will exchange any and all Original Notes that are validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to 5:00 p.m., New
York City time, on           , 2014, unless we extend it.

We have not applied, and do not intend to apply, for listing of the New Notes on any national securities exchange or automated
quotation system.

Each broker-dealer that receives New Notes for its own account pursuant to this Exchange Offer must acknowledge that it will
deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of such New Notes. The letter of transmittal accompanying this prospectus states
that by so acknowledging and by delivering a prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an “underwriter”
within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). This prospectus, as it may be amended or
supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales of New Notes received in exchange for
outstanding Original Notes where such outstanding Original Notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-
making activities or other trading activities. See “Plan of Distribution.”

See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 8 to read about important factors you should consider in connection with this Exchange
Offer.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) nor any state securities commission has approved or
disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary
is a criminal offense.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prospectus dated            , 2014.
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You should rely only on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone
to give you any information or to make any representations about us or the transactions we discuss in this prospectus other than
those contained in this prospectus. We are not making an offer of these securities in any state where the offer is not permitted. You
should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date of this document,
or that any information we have incorporated by reference in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date of the
document incorporated by reference regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus. Our business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects may have changed since those dates.
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MARKET DATA

We use market and industry data throughout this prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein that we have
obtained from market research, publicly available information and industry publications, including industry data obtained from
Management Science Associates, Inc., an independent third-party database management organization that collects wholesale
shipment data from various cigarette manufacturers and distributors and provides analysis of market share, unit sales volume and
premium versus discount mix for individual companies and the industry as a whole. These sources generally state that the
information that they provide has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of
such information is not guaranteed. The market and industry data is often based on industry surveys and the preparers’ experience
in the industry. Management Science Associates’ information relating to unit sales volume and market share of certain of the
smaller, primarily deep discount, cigarette manufacturers is based on estimates developed by Management Science Associates.
Although we believe that the surveys and market research that others have performed are reliable, we have not independently
verified this information.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are subject to the informational reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), and file reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You can inspect and copy all of this information at the
Public Reference Room maintained by the SEC at its principal office at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may
obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC
maintains a web site that contains reports, proxy statements and other information regarding issuers, like us, that file such materials
electronically with the SEC. The address of this web site is: http://www.sec.gov.

In addition, we make available on our web site at http://www.vectorgroupltd.com our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K (and any amendments to those reports) filed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Exchange Act as soon as practicable after they have been electronically filed with the SEC. Unless otherwise specified,
information contained on our web site, available by hyperlink from our web site or on the SEC’s web site, is not incorporated into
the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-4 under the Securities Act with respect to the New Notes being
offered hereby. This prospectus, which forms a part of the registration statement, does not contain all of the information set forth in
the registration statement. For further information with respect to us and the New Notes, reference is made to the registration
statement. Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any contract or other document are not necessarily
complete. If a contract or document has been filed as an exhibit to the registration statement, we refer you to the copy of the
contract or document that has been filed. Each statement in this prospectus relating to a contract or document filed as an exhibit is
qualified in all respects by the filed exhibit.
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INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

We are incorporating by reference in this prospectus certain information that we file with the SEC, which means that we are
disclosing important information to you in those documents. The information incorporated by reference in this prospectus is an
important part of this prospectus, and information that we subsequently file with the SEC that is incorporated by reference into this
prospectus will automatically update and supersede information contained or incorporated in this prospectus. We incorporate by
reference the documents listed below, which we have already filed with the SEC, and any future filings we make with the SEC
under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14, or 15(d) of the Exchange Act prior to the termination of the Exchange Offer. Unless specifically
listed below, we are not incorporating by reference any documents or portions thereof that are not deemed “filed” with the SEC:

• Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, filed on March 3, 2014 (including the portions of
our Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, filed with the SEC on April 7, 2014, that were incorporated by reference
into Part III of such Annual Report on Form 10-K).

• Our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014, filed on May 12, 2014.

• Our Current Reports on Form 8-K, filed on March 14, 2014, March 18, 2014, March 19, 2014 (other than Item 7.01 and the
exhibit related thereto), March 24, 2014, April 8, 2014, April 15, 2014, May 16, 2014 and June 19, 2014 (other than Items
2.02 and 7.01 and the exhibits related thereto).

Unless otherwise specified, information contained on or that can be accessed through any web site referred to in this prospectus or
any document incorporated by reference into this prospectus is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus. You should not
consider information contained on or accessed through any such web sites to be part of this prospectus.

Any statement contained in a document that is incorporated by reference in this prospectus will be deemed to be modified or
superseded for purposes of this prospectus to the extent that a statement contained in this prospectus modifies or supersedes the
statement. Any such statement or document so modified or superseded will not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to
constitute a part of this prospectus.

You may request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at the following address and telephone number:

Vector Group Ltd.
4400 Biscayne Boulevard

Miami, Florida 33137
Attn: Investor Relations

Telephone: (305) 579-8000
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, including the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus, contains “forward-looking statements”
within the meaning of the federal securities law. Forward-looking statements include information relating to our intent, belief or
current expectations, primarily with respect to, but not limited to:

• economic outlook;

• capital expenditures;

• cost reduction;

• legislation and regulations;

• cash flows;

• operating performance;

• litigation;

• impairment charges and cost savings associated with restructurings of our tobacco operations; and

• related industry developments (including trends affecting our business, financial condition and results of operations).

You can identify forward-looking statements in this prospectus by terminology such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “may be,” “objective,” “plan,” “seek,” “predict,” “project,” and “will be” and similar words or phrases or their
negatives.

The forward-looking information involves important risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results, performance or
achievements to differ materially from our anticipated results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-
looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those suggested by the forward-looking
statements include, without limitation, the following:

• general economic and market conditions and any changes therein, due to acts of war and terrorism or otherwise;

• governmental regulations and policies;

• effects of industry competition;

• impact of business combinations, including acquisitions and divestitures, both internally for us and externally in the tobacco
industry;

• impact of legislation on our competitors’ payment obligations, results of operations and product costs, i.e., the impact of
recent federal legislation eliminating the federal tobacco quota system and providing for regulation of tobacco products by
the United States Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”);

• impact of substantial increases in federal, state and local excise taxes;

• uncertainty related to product liability litigation including the Engle progeny cases pending in Florida; and

• potential additional payment obligations for us under the Master Settlement Agreement (the “MSA”) and other settlement
agreements with the states.

Any forward-looking statement you read in this prospectus reflects our current views with respect to future events and is subject to
these and other risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to our operations, operating results, growth strategy and liquidity. We
urge you to carefully review the disclosures we make concerning risks and other factors that may affect our business and operating
results, including those made under the heading “Risk Factors” in this prospectus, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2013 and in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014, as such risk
factors may be amended, supplemented or superseded from time to time by other reports we file
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with the SEC in the future, including subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q. We caution
you that any forward-looking statements made in this prospectus and the documents incorporated herein by reference are not
guarantees of future performance and you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only
as of the date of this prospectus or any other document incorporated by reference into this prospectus. We do not intend, and we
undertake no obligation, to update any forward-looking information to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this
prospectus or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, unless required by law to do so.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. Because it is a summary, it does not contain all of the
information that you should consider before determining whether to participate in the exchange offered hereby, and it is qualified
in its entirety by the more detailed information and historical financial statements (including the notes to those financial
statements) that are included elsewhere herein or that are incorporated by reference in this prospectus. You should read the entire
prospectus carefully, including the “Risk Factors,” the financial statements and the notes to those financial statements and the
documents we have incorporated by reference. As used in this prospectus, the terms “Vector,” “Vector Group,” “we,” “our” and
“us” and similar terms refer to Vector Group Ltd. and all of its consolidated subsidiaries, including VGR Holding LLC (“VGR
Holding”), Liggett Group LLC (“Liggett Group” or “Liggett”), Vector Tobacco Inc. (“Vector Tobacco”) and New Valley LLC
(“New Valley”), except with respect to the sections entitled “— Summary of the Terms of the Exchange Offer,” “— Summary of the
Terms of the New Notes,” and “Description of New Notes” and where it is clear that these terms mean only Vector Group Ltd.

Business

Our Company

We are a holding company and are principally engaged in:

• the manufacture and sale of cigarettes in the United States through our Liggett Group and Vector Tobacco subsidiaries; and

• the real estate business through our New Valley subsidiary, which is seeking to acquire additional operating companies and
real estate properties. New Valley owns 70.59% of Douglas Elliman Realty, LLC, (“Douglas Elliman Realty”) which
operates the largest residential brokerage company in the New York metropolitan area.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, Liggett was the fourth-largest manufacturer of cigarettes in the United States in terms of
unit sales. At present time Liggett and Vector Tobacco Inc. have no foreign operations. Our tobacco subsidiaries manufacture and
sell cigarettes in the United States and all of our tobacco operations’ unit sales volume in 2013 was in the discount segment, which
management believes has been the primary growth segment in the industry for more than a decade. Our tobacco subsidiaries
produce cigarettes in approximately 123 different brand styles including private labels for other companies, typically retail or
wholesale distributors who supply supermarkets and convenience stores. Liggett’s current brand portfolio includes Eagle 20’s,
Pyramid, Grand Prix, Liggett Select, Eve, USA and various partner brands and private label brands. Liggett’s manufacturing
facilities are located in Mebane, North Carolina where it manufactures most of Vector Tobacco Inc.’s cigarettes pursuant to a
contract manufacturing agreement. Liggett’s products are distributed from a central distribution center in Mebane, North Carolina
to 17 public warehouses located throughout the United States. These warehouses serve as local distribution centers for Liggett’s
customers. Liggett’s customers are primarily candy and tobacco distributors, the military and large grocery, drug and convenience
store chains.

In addition to New Valley’s investment in Douglas Elliman, New Valley holds investment interests in various real estate projects
domestically and internationally.

At December 31, 2013, we had approximately 990 employees, of which approximately 390 were employed by Douglas Elliman
Realty primarily in the New York area, approximately 295 were employed at Liggett’s Mebane, North Carolina facility and
approximately 280 were employed in sales and administrative functions at our subsidiary Liggett Vector Brands LLC, which
coordinates our tobacco subsidiaries’ sales and marketing efforts, along with certain support functions.

Our principal executive offices are located at 4400 Biscayne Boulevard, Miami, Florida 33137, our telephone number is (305) 579-
8000, and our web site is http://www.vectorgroupltd.com. Information contained on our web site or that can be accessed through our
web site is not incorporated by reference in this prospectus. You should not consider information contained on our web site or that
can be accessed through our web site to be part of this prospectus. Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol “VGR.”
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Summary of the Terms of the Exchange Offer

Background     On April 15, 2014, we completed a private placement of $150,000,000
aggregate principal amount of the Original Notes. In connection with that
private placement, we entered into a registration rights agreement in which we
agreed to, among other things, complete an exchange offer of the New Notes
for the Original Notes.

The Exchange Offer     We are offering to exchange the New Notes, which have been registered under
the Securities Act, for a like principal amount of our outstanding, unregistered
Original Notes. Original Notes may only be tendered in an amount equal to
$2,000 in principal amount and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof.
See “The Exchange Offer — Terms of the Exchange.” You may tender your
outstanding Original Notes for New Notes by following the procedures
described under the heading “The Exchange Offer — Procedures for
Tendering.”

Resale of New Notes     Based upon the position of the staff of the SEC as described in previous no-
action letters, we believe that New Notes issued pursuant to the Exchange
Offer in exchange for Original Notes may be offered for resale, resold and
otherwise transferred by you without compliance with the registration and
prospectus delivery provisions of the Securities Act, provided that:

  •  you are acquiring the New Notes in the ordinary course of your
business;

  •  you have not engaged in, do not intend to engage in, and have no
arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in a
distribution of the New Notes; and

  •  you are not our “affiliate” as defined under Rule 405 of the Securities
Act.

  Each broker-dealer that receives New Notes for its own account in exchange
for Original Notes, where such Original Notes were acquired by such broker-
dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities, must
acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of
New Notes during the 180 days after the expiration of this Exchange Offer. See
“Plan of Distribution.”

  Any holder of Original Notes, including any broker-dealer, who:

  •  is our affiliate,

  •  does not acquire the New Notes in the ordinary course of its
business, or

  •  tenders in the Exchange Offer with the intention to participate, or for
the purpose of participating, in a distribution of New Notes,

  cannot rely on the position of the staff of the SEC expressed in Exxon Capital
Holdings Corporation, Morgan Stanley & Co., Incorporated or similar no-
action letters and, in the absence of an applicable exemption, must comply
with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act
in connection with the resale of the New Notes or it may incur liability under
the Securities Act. We will not be responsible for, or indemnify against, any
such liability.
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Consequences If You Do Not Exchange Your
Original Notes

  
  Original Notes that are not tendered in the Exchange Offer or are not accepted

for exchange will continue to bear legends restricting their transfer. You will
not be able to offer or sell such Original Notes unless:

  •  you are able to rely on an exemption from the requirements of the
Securities Act; or

  •  the Original Notes are registered under the Securities Act.

  After the Exchange Offer is closed, we will no longer have an obligation to
register the Original Notes, except under certain limited circumstances. See
“Risk Factors — If you fail to exchange your Original Notes, they will
continue to be restricted securities and may become less liquid.”

Expiration Date     The Exchange Offer will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on, 2014,
unless we extend the Exchange Offer. See “The Exchange Offer — Expiration
Date; Extensions; Amendments.”

Issuance of New Notes     We will issue New Notes in exchange for Original Notes tendered and
accepted in the Exchange Offer promptly following the Expiration Date. See
“The Exchange Offer — Terms of the Exchange.”

Certain Conditions to the Exchange Offer     The Exchange Offer is subject to certain customary conditions, which we may
amend or waive without your consent to the extent permitted by law. See “The
Exchange Offer — Conditions to the Exchange Offer.”

Special Procedures for Beneficial Holders     If you beneficially own Original Notes that are registered in the name of a
broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee and you wish
to tender in the Exchange Offer, you should contact such registered holder
promptly and instruct such person to tender on your behalf. If you wish to
tender in the Exchange Offer on your own behalf, you must, prior to
completing and executing the accompanying letter of transmittal and delivering
your Original Notes, either arrange to have the Original Notes registered in
your name or obtain a properly completed bond power from the registered
holder. The transfer of registered ownership may take a considerable time. See
“The Exchange Offer — Procedures for Tendering.”

Withdrawal Rights     You may withdraw your tender of Original Notes at any time before the
Exchange Offer expires. See “The Exchange Offer — Withdrawal of Tenders.”

Accounting Treatment     We will not recognize any gain or loss for accounting purposes upon the
completion of the Exchange Offer. See “The Exchange Offer — Accounting
Treatment.”

Federal Income Tax Consequences     The exchange pursuant to the Exchange Offer generally will not be a taxable
event for U.S. federal income tax purposes. See “Material United States
Federal Income Tax Considerations.”

Use of Proceeds     We will not receive any proceeds from the issuance of New Notes pursuant to
the Exchange Offer.

Exchange Agent     U.S. Bank National Association is serving as exchange agent in connection
with the Exchange Offer.
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Summary of the Terms of the New Notes

The summary below describes the principal terms of the New Notes. Certain descriptions below are subject to important exceptions
and/or limitations. The terms of the New Notes are identical to the terms of the Original Notes, except that the transfer restrictions,
registration rights and provisions for additional interest relating to the Original Notes do not apply to the New Notes. The
“Description of New Notes” section of this prospectus contains a more detailed description of the terms and conditions of the New
Notes.

Issuer     Vector Group Ltd., a Delaware corporation.

Notes Offered     $150,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 7.750% Senior Secured Notes due
2021.

  The New Notes will be issued as additional notes under the indenture pursuant
to which, on February 12, 2013, we issued $450,000,000 aggregate principal
amount of notes (the “Existing Notes”).

  The New Notes will be treated as a single series with the Existing Notes.
Holders of the Notes offered hereby and holders of the Existing Notes will vote
together as one class under the indenture.

Maturity Date     February 15, 2021.

Interest Rate     We will pay interest on the New Notes at an annual rate of 7.750% per annum.

Interest Payment Dates     We will make interest payments on the New Notes semi-annually in cash, in
arrears, on February 15 and August 15, of each year commencing on August
15, 2014. Interest on the New Notes will accrue from February 15, 2014.

Ranking     The New Notes:

  •  will be our general obligations;

  •  will be pari passu in right of payment with all of our existing and
future senior indebtedness, including the Original Notes and the
Existing Notes;

  •  will be senior in right of payment to all of our future subordinated
indebtedness, if any; and

  •  will be effectively subordinated in right of payment to all existing
and future indebtedness and other liabilities of our non-guarantor
subsidiaries (other than indebtedness and liabilities owed to us or one
of our guarantor subsidiaries).

Guarantees     The New Notes, along with the Original Notes and the Existing Notes, will be
fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis on the issue
date by all of our wholly owned domestic subsidiaries that are engaged in the
conduct of our cigarette business (New Valley and its subsidiaries will not
guarantee the notes).

  Each guarantee of the New Notes will be:

  •  a general obligation of the guarantor;

  •  pari passu in right of payment with all other senior indebtedness of
the guarantor, including the indebtedness of Liggett Group and 100
Maple LLC (each a “Liggett Guarantor”) under Liggett Group’s
secured revolving credit facility with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (the
“Liggett Credit Agreement”) and the guarantees of the Original
Notes and the Existing Notes;
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  •  senior in right of payment to all future subordinated indebtedness of
the guarantor, if any;

  •  effectively subordinated to indebtedness that is secured by a higher
priority lien than the lien securing the guarantee, if any, to the extent
of the value of the collateral securing such indebtedness; and

  •  effectively senior in right of payment to all existing and future
unsecured indebtedness of the guarantor to the extent of the value of
the assets that secure such guarantee.

Security Interest     The New Notes will not be secured by assets of Vector Group Ltd.

  Only Liggett Group, 100 Maple LLC (“Maple”), Vector Tobacco, and VGR
Holding will provide security for their guarantees of the New Notes.

  Each guarantee of the New Notes by the Liggett Guarantors is, and each
guarantee of the Original Notes by the Liggett Guarantors is:

  •  secured on a second priority basis, equally and ratably with all
obligations of the Liggett Guarantors under existing and future parity
lien debt, by liens on certain assets of the Liggett Guarantors, subject
in priority to the liens securing first priority debt under the Liggett
Credit Agreement and other permitted prior liens; and

  •  effectively junior, to the extent of the value of assets securing a
Liggett Guarantor’s first priority debt obligations under the Liggett
Credit Agreement, which is secured on a first priority basis by the
same assets of that Liggett Guarantor that secure the New Notes, the
Original Notes and the Existing Notes and by certain other assets of
that Liggett Guarantor that do not secure the notes.

  The guarantees of the New Notes by Vector Tobacco will be, and the
guarantees of the Original Notes and the Existing Notes by Vector Tobacco are,
secured on a first priority basis, equally and ratably with all of its obligations
under existing and future parity lien debt, by liens on certain assets, subject in
priority to permitted prior liens.

  The guarantees of the New Notes by VGR Holding will be, and the guarantees
of the Original Notes and the Existing Notes by VGR Holding are, secured by
a first priority pledge of the capital stock of each of Liggett and Vector
Tobacco.

  See “Description of New Notes — Security” for additional information.

Intercreditor Agreement     Pursuant to an intercreditor agreement, the liens securing the guarantees of the
Liggett Guarantors are second in priority to the liens that secure obligations
under the Liggett Credit Agreement up to a maximum capped amount as
described under “Description of New Notes — Intercreditor Agreement.”

  Pursuant to the intercreditor agreement, the second-priority liens securing the
note guarantees of the Liggett Guarantors may not be enforced for a
“standstill” period of up to 180 days when any obligations secured by the first-
priority liens are outstanding.
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Optional Redemption     Prior to February 15, 2016, we may redeem some or all of the New Notes at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus a make-whole
premium, plus accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated damages, if any, to
the redemption date. See “Description of New Notes — Optional
Redemption.”

  On or after February 15, 2016, we may redeem all or a part of the New Notes
at the redemption prices set forth under “Description of New
Notes — Optional Redemption.”

  At any time prior to February 15, 2016, we may on any one or more occasions
redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the New Notes with
the net proceeds of certain equity offerings at 107.750% of the aggregate
principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated
damages, if any, to the redemption date. See “Description of New
Notes — Optional Redemption.”

Mandatory Offers to Repurchase     If we sell certain assets and do not apply the proceeds as required or we
experience specific kinds of changes of control, we must offer to repurchase
the New Notes at the prices listed in the section entitled “Description of New
Notes — Repurchase at the Option of Holders.”

Certain Covenants     The indenture governing the New Notes contains certain covenants that,
among other things, limit our and our guarantors’ ability to:

  •  pay dividends, redeem or repurchase capital stock or subordinated
indebtedness or make other restricted payments;

  •  incur additional indebtedness or issue certain preferred stock;

  •  create or incur liens;

  •  incur dividend or other payment restrictions;

  •  consummate a merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all
of our assets;

  •  enter into certain transactions with affiliates; and

  •  transfer or sell assets, including the equity interests of our
guarantors, or use asset sale proceeds.

  These covenants are subject to a number of important exceptions and
qualifications. See “Description of New Notes.”

No Public Market     We do not intend to apply for listing of the New Notes on any securities
exchange or to seek approval for quotation through any automated quotation
system. Jefferies LLC, the initial purchaser in the private offering of the
Original Notes (the “Original Notes Offering”), is not obligated to make a
market in the New Notes, and any such market may be discontinued by the
initial purchaser in its discretion at any time without notice. Accordingly, there
can be no assurance that an active market for the New Notes will develop upon
completion of the Exchange Offer or, if developed, that such market will be
sustained or as to the liquidity of any market. See “Plan of Distribution.”
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Risk Factors

You should consider carefully the information set forth under the heading “Risk Factors” in this prospectus, in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 and in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March
31, 2014, and all other information included or incorporated by reference into this prospectus before determining whether to
participate in the exchange offered hereby.
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RISK FACTORS

Before you decide to participate in this Exchange Offer, and in consultation with your own financial and legal advisors, you should
carefully consider, among other matters, the following risk factors, as well as those incorporated by reference in this prospectus
from our most recent annual report on Form 10-K and our most recent quarterly report on Form 10-Q under the headings “Risk
Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and other filings we may
make from time to time with the SEC. Please also refer to the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements” in this prospectus.

Risks Related to the Notes and the Exchange Offer

If you fail to exchange your Original Notes, they will continue to be restricted securities and may become less liquid.

Original Notes that you do not tender or we do not accept will, following the Exchange Offer, continue to be restricted securities,
and you may not offer to sell them except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the Securities Act and
applicable state securities law. We will issue New Notes in exchange for the Original Notes pursuant to the Exchange Offer only
following the satisfaction of the procedures and conditions set forth in “The Exchange Offer — Procedures for Tendering.” These
procedures and conditions include timely receipt by the exchange agent of such Original Notes (or a confirmation of book-entry
transfer) and of a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal (or an agent’s message from The Depository Trust
Company).

Because we anticipate that most holders of Original Notes will elect to exchange their Original Notes, we expect that the liquidity
of the market for any Original Notes remaining after the completion of the Exchange Offer will be substantially limited. Any
Original Notes tendered and exchanged in the Exchange Offer will reduce the aggregate principal amount of the Original Notes
outstanding. Following the Exchange Offer, if you do not tender your Original Notes you generally will not have any further
registration rights, and your Original Notes will continue to be subject to certain transfer restrictions. Accordingly, the liquidity of
the market for the Original Notes could be adversely affected.

We have significant liquidity commitments.

During 2014, we have certain liquidity commitments that could require the use of our existing cash resources. As of December 31,
2013, our corporate expenditures (exclusive of Liggett, Vector Tobacco and New Valley) and other potential liquidity requirements
over the next 12 months include the following:

• cash interest expense of approximately $87.1 million, which does not include interest expense on our Variable Interest
Senior Convertible Notes due 2020 (the “2020 Convertible Notes”) issued in March 2014 and does not give effect to the
Original Notes Offering;

• $157.5 million of our 6.75% convertible notes mature in 2014, of which $25.0 million were converted into our common
stock in March 2014;

• dividends on our outstanding common shares (currently at an annual rate of approximately $157.0 million); and

• other corporate expenses and taxes.

In February 2014, we paid $59.5 million ($37.2 million, net of income taxes) relating to the Engle progeny settlement.

In order to meet the above liquidity requirements as well as other liquidity needs in the normal course of business, we will be
required to use cash flows from operations and existing cash and cash equivalents. Should these resources be insufficient to meet
the upcoming liquidity needs, we may also be required to liquidate investment securities available for sale and other long-term
investments, or, if available, draw on Liggett’s credit facility. While there are actions we can take to reduce our liquidity needs,
there can be no assurance that such measures can be achieved.
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We and our subsidiaries have a substantial amount of indebtedness.

We and our subsidiaries have significant indebtedness, and as a result, we have significant debt service obligations. As of
December 31, 2013, we and our subsidiaries had total outstanding indebtedness of $893.4 million. We incurred an additional
$258.75 million of indebtedness in connection with our March 2014 offering of the 2020 Convertible Notes and an additional $150
million of indebtedness in the Original Notes Offering. Approximately $157.5 million of our 6.75% convertible notes mature in
2014. In addition, the indenture governing our 7.750% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 contains covenants that, among other things,
restrict our ability to take specific actions, even if we believe them to be in our best interest, including restrictions on our ability to
incur additional indebtedness.

Subject to the terms of our existing and any future agreements, we and our subsidiaries will be able to incur additional indebtedness
in the future. There is a risk that we will not be able to generate sufficient funds to repay our debt. If we cannot service our fixed
charges, it would have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Our high level of debt may adversely affect our ability to satisfy our obligations under the notes.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to meet our debt service obligations. A default in our debt obligations, including a
breach of any restrictive covenant imposed by the terms of our indebtedness, could result in the acceleration of the affected debt as
well as other of our indebtedness. In such a situation, it is unlikely that we would be able to fulfill our obligations under the notes or
other indebtedness or that we would otherwise be able to repay the accelerated indebtedness or make other required payments.
Even in the absence of an acceleration of our indebtedness, a default under the terms of our indebtedness could have an adverse
impact on our ability to satisfy our debt service obligations and on the trading price of the notes.

Our high level of indebtedness could have important consequences to you. For example, it could:

• make it more difficult for us to satisfy our other obligations with respect to our debt, including repurchase obligations upon
the occurrence of specified change of control events;

• increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

• limit our ability to obtain additional financing;

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, reducing the
amount of our cash flow available for other general corporate purposes;

• require us to sell other securities or to sell some or all of our assets, possibly on unfavorable terms, to meet payment
obligations;

• restrict us from making strategic acquisitions, investing in new capital assets or taking advantage of business opportunities;

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry; and

• place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to competitors that have less debt.

We are a holding company and depend on cash payments from our subsidiaries, which are subject to contractual and other
restrictions, in order to service our debt.

We are a holding company and have no operations of our own. We hold our interest in our various businesses through our wholly-
owned subsidiaries, VGR Holding and New Valley. In addition to our own cash resources, our ability to pay interest on our debt
depends on the ability of VGR Holding and New Valley to make cash available to us. VGR Holding’s ability to pay dividends to us
depends primarily on the ability of Liggett, its wholly-owned subsidiary, to generate cash and make it available to VGR Holding.
The Liggett Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo”) contains a restricted payments test that limits the
ability of Liggett to pay cash dividends to VGR Holding. The ability of Liggett to meet the restricted payments test may be affected
by factors beyond its control, including Wells Fargo’s unilateral discretion, if acting in good faith, to modify the elements of such
test.
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Our receipt of cash payments, as dividends or otherwise, from our subsidiaries is an important source of our liquidity and capital
resources. If we do not have sufficient cash resources of our own and do not receive payments from our subsidiaries in an amount
sufficient to repay our debts, we must obtain additional funds from other sources. There is a risk that we will not be able to obtain
additional funds at all or on terms acceptable to us. Our inability to service these obligations would significantly harm us and the
value of the notes.

A significant portion of the collateral that secures the note guarantees is subject to first-priority liens and your right to receive
payments on the notes pursuant to such note guarantees are effectively subordinated to the obligations secured by first priority
liens, including the Liggett Credit Agreement, to the extent of the value of the assets securing that indebtedness.

The collateral that secures the guarantees of the Liggett Guarantors is subject to a first-priority claim to secure the Liggett
Guarantors’ indebtedness under the Liggett Credit Agreement, which must be paid in full up to a principal amount of loans of $65
million, plus $5 million of hedging obligations, $5 million of cash management obligations and interest, costs, fees and indemnity
obligations (the “Maximum Priority ABL Debt”), before the collateral can be used to fulfill any payment obligations pursuant to
their guarantee of the notes. Indebtedness under the Liggett Credit Agreement is secured by a first-priority lien on substantially all
of the tangible and intangible assets of the Liggett Guarantors, with certain exceptions, while the note guarantees by the Liggett
Guarantors are secured by second priority liens on some but not all of those same assets. The value of those excluded assets could
be significant, and the notes effectively rank junior to indebtedness secured by liens on, and to the extent of, those excluded assets.
In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or similar proceeding against such guarantors, those assets that
are pledged as collateral securing both the first-priority claims and the guarantee of the notes must first be used to pay the first-
priority claims in full up to the Maximum Priority ABL Debt before making any payments on the notes pursuant to the note
guarantees. See “Description of New Notes — Intercreditor Agreement” for a detailed description of the components of Maximum
Priority ABL Debt.

Such guarantors have entered into an intercreditor agreement with Wells Fargo and the collateral agent on behalf of the holders of
the notes that limits the rights of the collateral agent and the note holders to exercise remedies under the indenture governing the
notes. Under the intercreditor agreement, the collateral agent may not exercise certain remedies under the indenture and may not
proceed against any collateral securing the notes until after 180 days following the date on which Wells Fargo commences a lien
enforcement action and prior to or at the time of such exercise of remedies by the collateral agent, the collateral agent shall have (1)
declared an event of default under the indenture, (2) demanded repayment of the notes and (3) notified Wells Fargo of such
declaration of an event of default and demand. The lender under the Liggett Credit Agreement will be permitted to complete
foreclosure and enforce judgments if it commences such actions during the 180-day period. If the note holders are prohibited from
exercising remedies, the value of the collateral to the note holders could be impaired. Because of the restrictions placed on the
collateral agent’s enforcement of its security interests by the intercreditor agreement, there may be significant delays in any
enforcement of the collateral agent’s security interests, and after Wells Fargo has enforced its claims, the holders of the notes may
be left with undersecured obligations, given the amount of shared collateral.

None of the guarantees are secured by all of the assets of any guarantor that is providing security for its guarantee, and the
value of the collateral that secures such note guarantees may not be sufficient to pay all amounts owed under the notes if an
event of default occurs.

Only the guarantees of the notes of the Liggett Guarantors, Vector Tobacco and VGR Holding are secured and certain of those
guarantees are secured only by a second priority lien on certain assets of such guarantors. None of the guarantees are secured by all
of the assets of any guarantor providing security for its guarantee, and the collateral that secures such guarantees omits significant
categories of collateral typically found in “all assets” financings. For more information regarding the collateral for the note
guarantees, see “Description of New Notes — Security.” No appraisals of any of the collateral for the note guarantees have been
prepared in connection with this offering. The value of the collateral at any time will depend on market and other economic
conditions, including the availability of suitable buyers for the collateral. By its nature, some or all of the collateral may be illiquid
and may have no readily ascertainable market value. Some of the collateral
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may have no significant independent value apart from the other pledged assets. The value of the assets pledged as collateral for the
note guarantees could be impaired in the future as a result of changing economic conditions, competition or other future trends or
uncertainties.

Additionally, the lender under the Liggett Credit Agreement has rights and remedies with respect to the collateral that, if exercised,
could adversely affect the value of the collateral. In the event of a foreclosure, liquidation, bankruptcy or similar proceeding, the
collateral may not be sufficient to pay all or any of our obligations under the notes.

Accordingly, there may not be sufficient collateral to pay any or all of the amounts due on the notes. With respect to any claim for
the difference between the amount, if any, realized by the holders of the notes from the sale of the collateral securing the notes and
the obligations under the notes, holders of the notes will participate ratably with all our other unsecured unsubordinated
indebtedness and other obligations, including trade payables.

Servicing our indebtedness requires a significant amount of cash and we may not generate sufficient cash flow from our
business to pay our substantial indebtedness.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest (including any applicable dividend pass-through
payment) on or to refinance our indebtedness, including the notes, depends on our future performance, which is subject to
economic, financial, competitive, regulatory factors, as well as other factors beyond our control. The cash flow from operations in
the future may be insufficient to service our indebtedness because of factors beyond our control. If we are unable to generate the
necessary cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling assets, restructuring debt or obtaining
additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to refinance our indebtedness will depend on
the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in
these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on our debt obligations.

Despite our substantial level of indebtedness, we may still incur significantly more debt, which could exacerbate any or all of the
risks described above.

We may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future including additional secured debt. Although the indenture
governing the notes and the Liggett Credit Agreement limit our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to incur additional
indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of qualifications and exceptions and, under certain circumstances, debt
incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. In addition, the indenture governing the notes and the Liggett
Credit Agreement do not prevent us from incurring obligations that do not constitute indebtedness. See the section entitled
“Description of New Notes.” To the extent that we incur additional indebtedness or such other obligations, the risks associated with
our substantial leverage described above, including our possible inability to service our debt, would increase.

The indenture governing the notes contains restrictive covenants that limit our operating flexibility.

The indenture governing the notes contains covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to take specific actions, even if
we believe them to be in our best interest, including restrictions on our ability to:

• pay dividends, redeem or repurchase capital stock or subordinated indebtedness or make other restricted payments;

• incur additional indebtedness or issue certain preferred stock;

• create or incur liens with respect to our assets;

• make investments, loans or advances;

• incur dividend or other payment restrictions;

• consummate a merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets;

• enter into certain transactions with affiliates; and

• transfer or sell assets, including the equity interests of our guarantors, or use asset sale proceeds.
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In addition, the Liggett Credit Agreement requires us to meet specified financial ratios. These covenants may restrict our ability to
expand or fully pursue our business strategies. Our ability to comply with these and other provisions of the indenture governing the
notes and the Liggett Credit Agreement may be affected by changes in our operating and financial performance, changes in general
business and economic conditions, adverse regulatory developments or other events beyond our control. The breach of any of these
covenants, including those contained in the Liggett Credit Agreement and the indenture governing the notes, could result in a
default under our indebtedness, which could cause those and other obligations to become due and payable. If any of our
indebtedness is accelerated, we may not be able to repay it.

The restrictive covenants in the indenture governing the notes may be less protective than those typically found in covenant
packages for non-investment grade debt securities.

Although the notes contain restrictive covenants, these covenants are less protective than is customary for non-investment grade
debt securities and are subject to a number of important exceptions and qualifications. In particular, there are no restrictions on our
ability to pay certain dividends or make other restricted payments or enter into transactions with affiliates if our Consolidated
EBITDA (as defined under “Description of New Notes”) is $75 million or more for the four quarters prior to such transaction. Our
Consolidated EBITDA for the four quarters ending December 31, 2013 exceeded $75 million. See “Description of New Notes” for
a more detailed description of these covenants and the exceptions to these covenants.

The notes and note guarantees are structurally subordinated to creditors, including trade creditors, of our subsidiaries that are
not guarantors of the notes.

The notes are not guaranteed by New Valley or its subsidiaries and certain of our existing and future other subsidiaries. As a result,
claims of creditors of non-guarantor subsidiaries, including trade creditors, secured creditors and creditors holding debt and
guarantees issued by those non-guarantor subsidiaries will have priority with respect to the assets and earnings of those non-
guarantor subsidiaries over the claims of our creditors and the creditors of our guarantors, including holders of the notes. There are
no covenant restrictions in the indenture on any existing or future non-guarantor subsidiaries and they may incur debt and take
other actions that guarantors will be prohibited from taking. In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization of any of the
unrestricted subsidiaries, including the New Valley subsidiaries, the unrestricted subsidiaries will pay the holders of their debt and
their trade creditors before they will be able to distribute any of their assets to us. At December 31, 2013, our investment in non-
consolidated real estate businesses of the unrestricted subsidiaries (which reflects the real estate business of the New Valley
subsidiaries) was $128.2 million. For the year ended December 31, 2013, we recognized equity income from non-consolidated real
estate businesses of the unrestricted subsidiaries of $22.9 million. In addition, our unrestricted subsidiaries owned real estate and
related property, which were carried at approximately $20.9 million at December 31, 2013.

We currently have and are permitted to create unrestricted subsidiaries, which are not subject to any of the covenants in the
indenture, and we may not be able to rely on the cash flow or assets of those unrestricted subsidiaries to pay our indebtedness.

Unrestricted subsidiaries, including the New Valley subsidiaries and those we are permitted to create pursuant to the terms of the
indenture, will not be subject to the covenants under the indenture, and their assets will not be available as security for the notes.
Unrestricted subsidiaries may enter into financing arrangements that limit their ability to pay dividends to us and make loans or
other payments to fund payments in respect of the notes. Accordingly, we may not be able to rely on the cash flow or assets of
unrestricted subsidiaries to pay any of our indebtedness, including the notes. The indenture contains very limited provisions that
would prohibit the creation of unrestricted subsidiaries and only subsidiaries that are obligors under the Liggett Credit Agreement
or that are engaged in our cigarette business are required to become guarantors. Only subsidiaries that are guarantors are subject to
the restrictive covenants in the indenture.

Holders of notes will not control decisions regarding collateral.

The holders of first priority claims against the collateral securing their claims will control substantially all matters related to that
collateral. The holders of first priority claims may foreclose on or take other actions with respect to such shared collateral with
which holders of the notes may disagree or that may be contrary to
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the interests of holders of the notes. To the extent such shared collateral is released from securing first priority claims to satisfy
such claims, the liens securing the notes will also automatically be released without any further action by the trustee, collateral
agent or the holders of the notes. There is no requirement that the holders of first priority claims foreclose or otherwise take any
action with respect to excluded collateral before releasing or otherwise taking action with respect to the collateral shared with the
notes. See “Description of New Notes — Security.”

Rights of holders of notes in the collateral may be adversely affected by bankruptcy proceedings.

The right of the collateral agent for the notes to repossess and dispose of the collateral securing the notes upon acceleration is likely
to be significantly impaired by federal bankruptcy law if bankruptcy proceedings are commenced by or against us prior to or
possibly even after the collateral agent has repossessed and disposed of the collateral. Under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, a secured
creditor, such as the collateral agent for the notes, is prohibited from repossessing its collateral from a debtor in a bankruptcy case,
or from disposing of collateral repossessed from a debtor, without court approval. Moreover, bankruptcy law permits the debtor to
continue to retain and to use collateral, and the proceeds, products, rents or profits of the collateral, even though the debtor is in
default under the applicable debt instruments, provided that the secured creditor is provided “adequate protection.” The meaning of
the term “adequate protection” may vary according to circumstances, but it is intended in general to protect the value of the secured
creditor’s interest in the collateral and may include cash payments or the granting of additional security, if and at such time as the
court in its discretion determines, for any diminution in the value of the collateral as a result of the automatic stay of repossession
or disposition or any use of the collateral by the debtor during the pendency of the bankruptcy case. In view of the broad
discretionary powers of a bankruptcy court, it is impossible to predict how long payments under the notes could be delayed
following commencement of a bankruptcy case, whether or when the collateral agent might be permitted to repossess or dispose of
the collateral, or whether or to what extent holders of the notes would be compensated for any delay in payment or loss of value of
the collateral through the requirements of “adequate protection.” Furthermore, in the event the bankruptcy court determines that all
amounts due on or under the notes exceed the value of the collateral, the holders of the notes would have “undersecured claims” for
the difference. Federal bankruptcy laws generally do not permit the payment or accrual of post-petition interest, costs and
attorneys’ fees for “undersecured claims” during a debtor’s bankruptcy case.

Rights of holders of notes in the collateral may be adversely affected by the failure to perfect liens on certain collateral acquired
in the future.

The liens securing the notes cover certain assets that may be acquired in the future. Applicable law requires that certain property
and rights acquired after the grant of a general security interest or lien can only be perfected at the time such property and rights are
acquired and identified. There can be no assurance that the trustee or the collateral agent will monitor, or that we will inform the
trustee or the collateral agent of, the future acquisition of property and rights that constitute collateral, and that the necessary action
will be taken to properly perfect the lien on such after acquired collateral. The collateral agent for the notes has no obligation to
monitor the acquisition of additional property or rights that constitute collateral or the perfection of any security interests therein.
Such failure may result in the loss of the practical benefits of the lien thereon or of the priority of the lien securing the notes.

Our ability to purchase the notes with cash at your option upon a change of control may be limited.

Holders of notes may require us to purchase all or a portion of their notes for cash upon the occurrence of specific circumstances
involving the events described under “Description of New Notes — Repurchase at the Option of Holders — Change of Control.”
We cannot assure you that, if required, we would have sufficient cash or other financial resources at that time or would be able to
arrange sufficient financing necessary to pay the purchase price for all notes tendered by holders thereof. In addition, our ability to
repurchase notes in the event of a change of control may be prohibited or limited by law, by regulatory authorities, by the other
agreements related to our indebtedness and by indebtedness and agreements that we or our subsidiaries may enter into from time to
time, which may replace, supplement or amend our existing or future indebtedness. Our failure to repurchase tendered notes would
constitute an event of default under the indenture.
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In addition, the required offer to repurchase the notes upon a change of control or the change of control itself may be events of
default under agreements governing our other existing and future indebtedness. These events may permit the lenders under the
other indebtedness to accelerate the indebtedness outstanding thereunder. If we are required to repurchase the notes, we might
require third-party financing. We cannot be sure that we would be able to obtain third party financing on acceptable terms, or at all.
If our other secured indebtedness is accelerated and not repaid, the lenders thereunder may seek to enforce security interests in the
collateral consisting of first priority collateral that secures such indebtedness, thereby limiting our ability to raise cash to purchase
the notes, and reducing the practical benefit of the offer to purchase provisions to the holders of the notes.

Some significant corporate transactions may not constitute a change of control, in which case we would not be obligated to offer
to repurchase the notes.

Upon the occurrence of a change of control, which includes specified change of control events, we will be required to offer to
repurchase all outstanding notes. See “Description of New Notes — Repurchase at the Option of Holders — Change of Control.”
The change of control provisions, however, will not require us to offer to repurchase the notes in the event of certain significant
corporate transactions. For example, various transactions, such as leveraged recapitalizations, refinancings, restructurings or
acquisitions initiated by us, would not necessarily constitute a change of control because they do not necessarily involve a change
in voting power or beneficial ownership of the type described in the definition of change of control in the indenture governing the
notes. Accordingly, note holders may not have the right to require us to repurchase their notes in the event of a significant
transaction that could increase the amount of our indebtedness, adversely affect our capital structure or any credit ratings or
otherwise adversely affect the holders of notes.

In addition, a change of control includes a sale of all or substantially all of our properties and assets. There is no precise established
definition of the phrase “substantially all” under the laws of New York, which govern the indenture and the notes. Accordingly,
your ability to require us to repurchase notes as a result of a sale of less than all of our properties and assets may be uncertain.

Federal and state statutes allow courts, under specific circumstances, to void guarantees and require holders of notes to return
payments received from guarantors.

The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis by all of our wholly owned domestic subsidiaries
that are engaged in the conduct of our cigarette businesses (New Valley and its subsidiaries will not guarantee the notes). Under the
federal bankruptcy law and comparable provisions of state fraudulent transfer laws, a guarantee could be voided, or claims in
respect of a guarantee could be subordinated to all other debts of that guarantor if, among other things, the guarantor, at the time it
incurred the indebtedness evidenced by its guarantee:

• received less than reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration for the incurrence of the guarantee;

• was insolvent or rendered insolvent by reason of the incurrence of the guarantee;

• was engaged in a business or transaction for which the guarantor’s remaining assets constituted unreasonably small capital;
or

• intended to incur, or believed that it would incur, debts beyond its ability to pay those debts as they mature.

In addition, any payment by that guarantor pursuant to its guarantee could be voided and required to be returned to the guarantor, or
to a fund for the benefit of the creditors of the guarantor.

The measures of insolvency for purposes of these fraudulent transfer laws will vary depending upon the law applied in any
proceeding to determine whether a fraudulent transfer has occurred. Generally, however, a guarantor would be considered insolvent
if:

• the sum of its debts, including contingent liabilities, was greater than the fair saleable value of all of its assets;
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• the present fair saleable value of its assets was less than the amount that would be required to pay its probable liability on its
existing debts, including contingent liabilities, as they became absolute and mature; or

• it could not pay its debts as they become due.

The court might also void such guarantee, without regard to the above factors, if it found that the subsidiary entered into its
guarantee with actual or deemed intent to hinder, delay, or defraud its creditors.

A court would likely find that a subsidiary did not receive reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration for its guarantee unless
it benefited directly or indirectly from the issuance of the notes. If a court avoided such guarantee, holders of the notes would no
longer have a claim against such subsidiary or the benefit of the assets of such subsidiary constituting collateral that purportedly
secured such guarantee. In addition, the court might direct holders of the notes to repay any amounts already received from such
subsidiary. If the court were to avoid any guarantee, we cannot assure you that funds would be available to pay the notes from any
other subsidiary or from any other source.

The indenture states that the liability of each subsidiary on its guarantee is limited to the maximum amount that the subsidiary can
incur without risk that the guarantee will be subject to avoidance as a fraudulent conveyance. This limitation may not protect the
guarantees from a fraudulent conveyance claim or, if it does, the guarantees may not be in amounts sufficient, if necessary, to pay
obligations under the notes when due.

If an active trading market does not exist for the notes you may not be able to resell them.

We do not intend to apply for listing of the notes on any securities exchange or for quotation of the notes on any automated dealer
quotation system. The initial purchaser of the Original Notes has informed us that it intended to make a market in the notes.
However, the initial purchaser may cease its market making at any time. A lack of a trading market could adversely affect your
ability to sell the notes and the price at which you may be able to sell the notes. The liquidity of the trading market, if any, and
future trading prices of the notes will depend on many factors, including, among other things, prevailing interest rates, our
operating results, financial performance and prospects, the market for similar securities and the overall securities market, and
whether an active market for the notes is maintained, and may be adversely affected by unfavorable changes in these factors.
Historically, the market for non-investment grade debt has been subject to disruptions that have caused volatility in prices. It is
possible that the market for the notes will be subject to disruptions which may have a negative effect on the holders of the notes,
regardless of our operating results, financial performance or prospects.

Changes in respect of the debt ratings of the notes may materially and adversely affect the availability, the cost and the terms
and conditions of our debt.

The notes are, and any of our future debt instruments may be, publicly rated by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., or Moody’s, and
Standard & Poor’s Rating Services, or S&P, independent rating agencies. These debt ratings may affect our ability to raise debt.
Any future downgrading of the notes or our other debt by Moody’s and S&P may affect the cost and terms and conditions of our
financings and could adversely affect the value and trading of the notes.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Exchange Offer is intended to satisfy our obligations under the registration rights agreement entered into in connection with
the issuance of the Original Notes. We will not receive any cash proceeds from the issuance of the New Notes in the Exchange
Offer. In consideration for issuing the New Notes as contemplated by this prospectus, we will receive the Original Notes in like
principal amount. The Original Notes surrendered and exchanged for the New Notes will be retired and canceled and cannot be
reissued. Accordingly, the issuance of the New Notes will not result in any increase in our indebtedness.
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RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The ratio of earnings to fixed charges for each of the periods indicated is as follows:
       

 
Three Months Ended

March 31,  Year Ended December 31,
 2014  2013  2013  2012  2011  2010  2009

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges   1.16x   0.97x   1.30x   1.32x   2.18x   2.00x   1.19x 

For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings include pre-tax income (loss) from continuing operations
and fixed charges (excluding capitalized interest) and amortization of capitalized interest. Earnings are also adjusted to exclude
equity in gain or loss of non-consolidated real estate businesses. Fixed charges consist of interest expense, capitalized interest
(including amounts charged to income and capitalized during the period), a portion of rental expense (deemed by us to be
representative of the interest factor of rental payments), and amortization of debt discount costs.
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THE EXCHANGE OFFER

Purpose of the Exchange Offer

In connection with the sale of the Original Notes, we entered into a registration rights agreement with Jefferies LLC, the initial
purchaser, under which we agreed to file a registration statement under the Securities Act relating to the Exchange Offer, and to use
all commercially reasonable efforts to cause such registration statement to be declared effective.

We are making the Exchange Offer in reliance on the position of the SEC as set forth in Exxon Capital Holdings Corporation and
similar no-action letters. However, we have not sought our own no-action letter. Based upon these interpretations by the SEC, we
believe that a holder of New Notes who is not our “affiliate” within the meaning of Rule 405 of the Securities Act and who
exchanges Original Notes for New Notes in the Exchange Offer generally may offer the New Notes for resale, sell the New Notes
and otherwise transfer the New Notes without further registration under the Securities Act and without delivery of a prospectus that
satisfies the requirements of Section 10 of the Securities Act. This does not apply, however, to a holder who is our “affiliate” within
the meaning of Rule 405 of the Securities Act. We also believe that a holder may offer, sell or transfer the New Notes only if the
holder acquires the New Notes in the ordinary course of its business and is not participating, does not intend to participate and has
no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in a distribution of the New Notes.

Any holder of the Original Notes using the Exchange Offer to participate in a distribution of New Notes cannot rely on the no-
action letters referred to above. Any broker-dealer who holds Original Notes acquired for its own account as a result of market-
making activities or other trading activities and who receives New Notes in exchange for such Original Notes pursuant to the
Exchange Offer may be a statutory underwriter and must deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act in
connection with any resale of such New Notes.

Each broker-dealer that receives New Notes for its own account in exchange for Original Notes, where such Original Notes were
acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities, must acknowledge that it will
deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of such New Notes. This prospectus, as it may be amended or supplemented
from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales of New Notes received in exchange for Original Notes
where such Original Notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities.
The accompanying letter of transmittal states that by acknowledging and delivering a prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be
considered to admit that it is an “underwriter” within the meaning of the Securities Act. We have agreed that for a period of not less
than 180 days after the expiration date for the Exchange Offer, we will make this prospectus available to broker-dealers for use in
connection with any such resale. See “Plan of Distribution.”

Except as set forth in this prospectus, this prospectus may not be used for an offer to resell, resale or other transfer of New Notes.

The Exchange Offer is not being made to, nor will we accept tenders for exchange from, holders of Original Notes in any
jurisdiction in which the Exchange Offer or the acceptance of it would not be in compliance with the securities or blue sky laws of
such jurisdiction.

Terms of the Exchange

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Exchange Offer, we will accept any and all Original Notes validly tendered
prior to 5:00 p.m., New York time, on the expiration date for the Exchange Offer. The Exchange Offer is not conditioned upon any
minimum aggregate principal amount of Original Notes being tendered for exchange. Promptly after the expiration date (unless
extended as described in this prospectus), we will issue an aggregate principal amount of up to $150.0 million of New Notes and
guarantees related thereto for a like principal amount of outstanding Original Notes and guarantees related thereto tendered and
accepted in connection with the Exchange Offer. The New Notes issued in connection with the Exchange Offer will be delivered on
the earliest practicable date following the expiration date. Holders may tender some or all of their Original Notes in connection
with the Exchange Offer, but only in an amount equal to $2,000 principal amount and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess
thereof. The terms of the New Notes will be identical in all
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material respects to the terms of the Original Notes, except that the New Notes will have been registered under the Securities Act
and will not bear legends restricting their transfer, and will be issued free from any covenant regarding registration, including the
payment of liquidated damages upon a failure to file or have declared effective an Exchange Offer registration statement or to
complete the Exchange Offer by certain dates. The New Notes will evidence the same debt as the Original Notes and will be issued
under the same indenture and entitled to the same benefits under that indenture as the Original Notes being exchanged.
Consequently, both the New Notes and the Original Notes will be treated as a single series of debt securities under the indenture.
As of the date of this prospectus, $150.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the Original Notes is outstanding.

In connection with the issuance of the Original Notes, we arranged for the Original Notes purchased by qualified institutional
buyers and those sold in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act to be issued and transferable in book-entry form through
the facilities of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), acting as depositary. Except as described under “Description of New
Notes — Exchanges of Book-Entry Notes for Certificated Notes,” New Notes will be issued in the form of a global note registered
in the name of DTC or its nominee and each beneficial owner’s interest in it will be transferable in book-entry form through DTC.
See “Description of New Notes — Exchanges of Book-Entry Notes for Certificated Notes.”

Holders of Original Notes do not have any appraisal or dissenters’ rights in connection with the Exchange Offer. Original Notes
that are not tendered for exchange or are tendered but not accepted in connection with the Exchange Offer will remain outstanding
and be entitled to the benefits of the indenture under which they were issued, but certain registration and other rights under the
registration rights agreement will terminate and holders of the Original Notes will generally not be entitled to any registration rights
under the registration rights agreement. See “— Consequences of Failures to Properly Tender Original Notes in the Exchange
Offer.”

We will be considered to have accepted validly tendered Original Notes if and when we have given written notice to the exchange
agent. The exchange agent will act as agent for the tendering holders for the purposes of receiving the New Notes from us.

If any tendered Original Notes are not accepted for exchange because of an invalid tender, the occurrence of certain other events
described in this prospectus or otherwise, we will return the Original Notes, without expense, to the tendering holder promptly after
the expiration date for the Exchange Offer.

Holders who tender Original Notes will not be required to pay brokerage commissions or fees or, subject to the instructions in the
letter of transmittal, transfer taxes on exchange of Original Notes in connection with the Exchange Offer. We will pay all charges
and expenses, other than certain applicable taxes described below, in connection with the Exchange Offer. See “— Fees and
Expenses.”

Expiration Date; Extensions; Amendments

The exchange offer will remain open for at least 20 full business days. The expiration date for the Exchange Offer is 5:00 p.m.,
New York City time, on            , 2014, unless extended by us in our sole discretion, in which case the term “expiration date” shall
mean the latest date and time to which the Exchange Offer is extended.

We reserve the right, in our sole discretion:

• to delay accepting any Original Notes, to extend the Exchange Offer or to terminate the Exchange Offer if, in our
reasonable judgment, any of the conditions described below shall not have been satisfied, by giving written notice of the
delay, extension or termination to the exchange agent, or

• to amend the terms of the Exchange Offer in any manner permitted by the registration rights agreement.

If we amend the Exchange Offer in a manner that we consider material, we will disclose such amendment by means of a prospectus
supplement, and we will extend the Exchange Offer for a period of at least five business days.
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If we determine to delay acceptance of the Original Notes or to extend, amend or terminate the Exchange Offer, we will publicly
announce this determination by making a timely release through an appropriate news agency. In order to extend the exchange offer,
we will make this public announcement of the extension by no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the business day after
the previously scheduled expiration date.

Interest on the New Notes

The New Notes will bear interest at the rate of 7.750% per annum from the date of original issuance of the Original Notes or from
the most recent date on which interest on the Original Notes has been paid, whichever is later. Interest will be payable semi-
annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year.

Conditions to the Exchange Offer

Notwithstanding any other term of the Exchange Offer, we will not be required to accept for exchange, or to exchange any New
Notes for, any Original Notes and may terminate the Exchange Offer as provided in this prospectus before the acceptance of the
Original Notes, if prior to the expiration date:

• any action or proceeding is instituted or threatened in any court or by or before any governmental agency relating to the
Exchange Offer which, in our reasonable judgment, might materially impair the contemplated benefits of the Exchange
Offer to us, or any material adverse development has occurred in any existing action or proceeding relating to us or any of
our subsidiaries;

• any change, or any development involving a prospective change, in our business or financial affairs or any of our
subsidiaries has occurred which, in our reasonable judgment, might materially impair our ability to proceed with the
Exchange Offer or materially impair the contemplated benefits of the Exchange Offer to us;

• any law, statute, rule or regulation is proposed, adopted or enacted that in our reasonable judgment might materially impair
our ability to proceed with the Exchange Offer; or

• any governmental approval has not been obtained, which approval we, in our reasonable discretion, consider necessary for
the completion of the Exchange Offer as contemplated by this prospectus.

The conditions listed above are for our sole benefit and may be asserted by us regardless of the circumstances giving rise to any of
these conditions. We may waive these conditions other than those dependent upon the receipt of necessary governmental approvals
in our reasonable discretion in whole or in part at any time and from time to time prior to the expiration date. The failure by us at
any time to exercise any of the above rights shall not be considered a waiver of such right, and such right shall be considered an
ongoing right that may be asserted at any time and from time to time.

If we determine in our reasonable discretion that any of the conditions are not satisfied, we may:

• refuse to accept any Original Notes and return all tendered Original Notes to the tendering holders;

• extend the Exchange Offer and retain all Original Notes tendered before the expiration of the Exchange Offer, subject,
however, to the rights of holders to withdraw those Original Notes (see “— Withdrawal of Tenders” below); or

• waive unsatisfied conditions relating to the Exchange Offer other than those conditions dependent upon the receipt of
necessary governmental approvals and accept all properly tendered Original Notes that have not been withdrawn.

In addition, we will not accept for exchange any Original Notes tendered, and will not issue New Notes in exchange for any such
Original Notes, if at such time any stop order is threatened or in effect with respect to the registration statement of which this
prospectus constitutes a part or the qualification of the indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.
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Procedures for Tendering

Unless the tender is being made in book-entry form, to tender in the Exchange Offer, a holder must:

• complete, sign and date the letter of transmittal, or a facsimile of it;

• have the signatures guaranteed if required by the letter of transmittal; and

• mail or otherwise deliver the signed letter of transmittal or the signed facsimile, the Original Notes and any other required
documents to the exchange agent prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date.

Any financial institution that is a participant in DTC’s Book-Entry Transfer Facility system may make book-entry delivery of the
Original Notes by causing DTC to transfer the Original Notes into the exchange agent’s account. To validly tender Original Notes
through DTC, the financial institution that is a participant in DTC will electronically transmit its acceptance through the Automated
Tender Offer Program. DTC will then verify the acceptance, execute a book-entry transfer of the tendered Original Notes into the
applicable account of the exchange agent at DTC and then send to the exchange agent confirmation of such book-entry transfer.
The confirmation of such book-entry transfer will include an agent’s message stating that DTC has received an express
acknowledgment from the participant in DTC tendering the Original Notes that the participant has received and agrees to be bound
by the terms of the letter of transmittal and that we may enforce the terms of the letter of transmittal against the participant. A
tender of Original Notes through a book-entry transfer into the exchange agent’s account will only be effective if an agent’s
message or the letter of transmittal (or facsimile) with any required signature guarantees and any other required documents are
transmitted to and received or confirmed by the exchange agent at the address set forth below under the caption “— Exchange
Agent”, prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date unless the guaranteed delivery procedures described below
under the caption “— Guaranteed Delivery Procedures” are complied with. Delivery of documents to DTC in accordance with its
procedures does not constitute delivery to the exchange agent.

The tender by a holder of Original Notes that is not withdrawn prior to the expiration date will constitute an agreement between us
and the holder in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus and in the letter of transmittal.

The method of delivery of Original Notes and the letter of transmittal and all other required documents to the exchange agent is at
the election and risk of the holders. Instead of delivery by mail, we recommend that holders use an overnight or hand delivery
service. In all cases, holders should allow sufficient time to assure delivery to the exchange agent before the expiration date. No
letter of transmittal or Original Notes should be sent to us. Holders may request their respective brokers, dealers, commercial
banks, trust companies or nominees to effect the tenders for such holders.

Any beneficial owner whose Original Notes are registered in the name of a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other
nominee and who wishes to tender should contact the registered holder promptly and instruct such registered holder to tender on
behalf of the beneficial owner. If the beneficial owner wishes to tender on that owner’s own behalf, the owner must, prior to
completing and executing the letter of transmittal and delivery of such owner’s Original Notes, either make appropriate
arrangements to register ownership of the Original Notes in the owner’s name or obtain a properly completed bond power from the
registered holder. The transfer of registered ownership may take considerable time.

Signature on a letter of transmittal or a notice of withdrawal must be guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution within the
meaning of Rule 17Ad-15 under the Exchange Act, unless the Original Notes tendered pursuant thereto are tendered:

• by a registered holder who has not completed the box entitled “Special Issuance Instructions” or “Special Delivery
Instructions” on the letter of transmittal; or

• for the account of an eligible guarantor institution.
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In the event that signatures on a letter of transmittal or a notice of withdrawal, as the case may be, are required to be guaranteed,
such guarantee must be by:

• a member firm of a registered national securities exchange or of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority;

• a commercial bank or trust company having an office or correspondent in the United States; or

• an “eligible guarantor institution” within the meaning of Rule 17Ad-15 under the Exchange Act.

If the letter of transmittal is signed by a person other than the registered holder of any Original Notes, the Original Notes must be
endorsed by the registered holder or accompanied by a properly completed bond power, in each case signed or endorsed in blank by
the registered holder.

If the letter of transmittal or any Original Notes or bond powers are signed or endorsed by trustees, executors, administrators,
guardians, attorneys-in-fact, officers of corporations or others acting in a fiduciary or representative capacity, such persons should
so indicate when signing and, unless waived by us, submit evidence satisfactory to us of their authority to act in that capacity with
the letter of transmittal.

We will determine all questions as to the validity, form, eligibility (including time of receipt) and acceptance and withdrawal of
tendered Original Notes in our sole discretion. We reserve the absolute right to reject any and all Original Notes not properly
tendered or any Original Notes whose acceptance by us would, in the opinion of our counsel, be unlawful. We also reserve the right
to waive any defects, irregularities or conditions of tender as to any particular Original Notes either before or after the expiration
date. Our interpretation of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer (including the instructions in the letter of transmittal)
will be final and binding on all parties. Unless waived, any defects or irregularities in connection with tenders of Original Notes
must be cured within a time period we will determine. Although we intend to request the exchange agent to notify holders of
defects or irregularities relating to tenders of Original Notes, neither we, the exchange agent nor any other person will have any
duty or incur any liability for failure to give such notification. Tenders of Original Notes will not be considered to have been made
until such defects or irregularities have been cured or waived. Any Original Notes received by the exchange agent that are not
properly tendered and as to which the defects or irregularities have not been cured or waived will be returned by the exchange agent
to the tendering holders, unless otherwise provided in the letter of transmittal, promptly following the expiration date.

In addition, we reserve the right, as set forth above under the caption “— Conditions to the Exchange Offer,” to terminate the
Exchange Offer.

By tendering, each holder represents to us, among other things, that:

• it has full power and authority to tender, sell, assign and transfer the Original Notes it is tendering and that we will acquire
good and unencumbered title thereto, free and clear of all liens, restrictions, charges and encumbrances and not subject to
any adverse claim when the same are accepted by us;

• the New Notes acquired in connection with the Exchange Offer are being obtained in the ordinary course of business of the
person receiving the New Notes;

• at the time of commencement of the Exchange Offer it had no arrangement with any person to participate in a distribution
of such New Notes;

• it is not an “affiliate” (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) of ours, or, if it is an affiliate, it will comply with
applicable registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act;

• if the holder is a broker-dealer, that it is not engaged in, and does not intend to engage in, a distribution of the New Notes;
and
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• if the holder is a broker-dealer that will receive New Notes for its own account in exchange for Original Notes that were
acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities, that it has not entered into
any arrangement or understanding with us or an affiliate of ours to distribute the New Notes and that it will deliver a
prospectus in connection with any resale of such New Notes. See “Plan of Distribution.”

Guaranteed Delivery Procedures

A holder who wishes to tender its Original Notes and:

• whose Original Notes are not immediately available;

• who cannot deliver the holder’s Original Notes, the letter of transmittal or any other required documents to the exchange
agent prior to the expiration date; or

• who cannot complete the procedures for book-entry transfer before the expiration date;

may effect a tender if:

• the tender is made through an eligible guarantor institution;

• before the expiration date, the exchange agent receives from the eligible guarantor institution:

(i) a properly completed and duly executed notice of guaranteed delivery by facsimile transmission, mail or hand delivery;

(ii) the name and address of the holder;

(iii)the certificate number(s) of the Original Notes, if any, and the principal amount of Original Notes tendered, stating that
the tender is being made and guaranteeing that, within three New York Stock Exchange trading days after the expiration
date, (a) the certificate(s) representing the Original Notes (or a confirmation of book-entry transfer) and (b) a letter of
transmittal (or facsimile thereof) with respect to such Original Notes, properly completed and duly executed, with any
required signature guarantees, and any other documents required by the letter of transmittal or, in lieu thereof, an agent’s
message from DTC, will be deposited by the eligible guarantor institution with the exchange agent; and

• the exchange agent receives, within three New York Stock Exchange trading days after the expiration date, (i) the
certificate(s) representing all tendered Original Notes (or a confirmation of book-entry transfer) and (ii) a letter of
transmittal (or facsimile thereof) with respect to such Original Notes, properly completed and duly executed, with any
required signature guarantees, and all other documents required by the letter of transmittal or, in lieu thereof, an agent’s
message from DTC.

Withdrawal of Tenders

Except as otherwise provided herein, tenders of Original Notes may be withdrawn at any time prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City
time, on the expiration date.

To withdraw a tender of Original Notes in connection with the Exchange Offer, a written or facsimile transmission notice of
withdrawal must be received by the exchange agent at its address set forth herein prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the
expiration date. Any such notice of withdrawal must:

• specify the name of the person who deposited the Original Notes to be withdrawn;

• identify the Original Notes to be withdrawn (including the certificate number(s), if any, and principal amount of such
Original Notes);

• be signed by the depositor in the same manner as the original signature on the letter of transmittal by which such Original
Notes were tendered (including any required signature guarantees) or be accompanied by documents of transfer sufficient to
have the trustee register the transfer of such Original Notes into the name of the person withdrawing the tender; and

• specify the name in which any such Original Notes are to be registered, if different from that of the depositor.
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If Original Notes have been tendered pursuant to the procedure for book-entry transfer, any notice of withdrawal must specify the
name and number of the account at DTC to be credited with the withdrawn Original Notes or otherwise comply with DTC’s
procedures. We will determine all questions as to the validity, form and eligibility (including time of receipt) of such withdrawal
notices. Any Original Notes so withdrawn will be considered not to have been validly tendered for purposes of the Exchange Offer,
and no New Notes will be issued in exchange for such Original Notes unless the Original Notes withdrawn are validly re-tendered.
Any Original Notes which have been tendered but which are not accepted for exchange or which are withdrawn will be returned to
the holder without cost to such holder promptly after withdrawal, rejection of tender or termination of the Exchange Offer. Properly
withdrawn Original Notes may be re-tendered by following one of the procedures described above under “— Procedures for
Tendering” at any time prior to the expiration date.

Exchange Agent

U.S. Bank National Association has been appointed as exchange agent in connection with the Exchange Offer. Questions and
requests for assistance, as well as requests for additional copies of this prospectus or of the letter of transmittal, should be directed
to the exchange agent at its offices at 60 Livingston Avenue, EP-MN-WS3C, St. Paul, Minnesota 55107-2292. The exchange
agent’s telephone number is (800) 934-6802 and facsimile number is (651) 466-7372.

DELIVERY OF THE LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL OR OTHER REQUIRED DOCUMENTS TO AN ADDRESS
OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH ABOVE OR TRANSMISSION VIA FACSIMILE OTHER THAN SET FORTH ABOVE
DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A VALID DELIVERY OF SUCH DOCUMENT.

Fees and Expenses

We will not make any payment to brokers, dealers or others soliciting acceptances of the Exchange Offer. We will pay certain other
expenses to be incurred in connection with the Exchange Offer, including the fees and expenses of the exchange agent, SEC
registration fees and accounting and legal fees relating to the Exchange Offer.

Holders who tender their Original Notes for exchange generally will not be obligated to pay transfer taxes. If, however:

• New Notes are to be delivered to, or issued in the name of, any person other than the registered holder of the Original Notes
tendered;

• tendered Original Notes are registered in the name of any person other than the person signing the letter of transmittal; or

• a transfer tax is imposed for any reason other than the exchange of Original Notes in connection with the Exchange Offer;

then the amount of any such transfer taxes (whether imposed on the registered holder or any other persons) will be payable by the
tendering holder. If satisfactory evidence of payment of such taxes or exemption from them is not submitted with the letter of
transmittal, the amount of such transfer taxes will be billed directly to the tendering holder.

Accounting Treatment

The New Notes will be recorded at the same carrying value as the Original Notes as reflected in our accounting records on the date
of the exchange. Accordingly, we will not recognize any gain or loss for accounting purposes upon the completion of the Exchange
Offer.

Consequences of Failures to Properly Tender Original Notes in the Exchange Offer

Issuance of the New Notes in exchange for the Original Notes under the Exchange Offer will be made only after timely receipt by
the exchange agent of a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal (or an agent’s message from DTC) and the
certificate(s) representing such Original Notes (or confirmation of book-entry transfer), and all other required documents.
Therefore, holders of the Original Notes desiring to
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tender such Original Notes in exchange for New Notes should allow sufficient time to ensure timely delivery. We are under no duty
to give notification of defects or irregularities of tenders of Original Notes for exchange. Original Notes that are not tendered or that
are tendered but not accepted by us will, following completion of the Exchange Offer, continue to be subject to the existing
restrictions upon transfer thereof under the Securities Act, and, upon completion of the Exchange Offer, certain registration rights
under the registration rights agreement will terminate.

In the event the Exchange Offer is completed, we generally will not be required to register the remaining Original Notes, subject to
limited exceptions. Remaining Original Notes will continue to be subject to the following restrictions on transfer:

• the remaining Original Notes may be resold only if registered pursuant to the Securities Act, if any exemption from
registration is available, or if neither such registration nor such exemption is required by law; and

• the remaining Original Notes will bear a legend restricting transfer in the absence of registration or an exemption.

We do not currently anticipate that we will register the remaining Original Notes under the Securities Act. To the extent that
Original Notes are tendered and accepted in connection with the Exchange Offer, any trading market for remaining Original Notes
could be adversely affected. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to the Notes and the Exchange Offer — If you fail to exchange
your Original Notes, they will continue to be restricted securities and may become less liquid.”

Other

Participation in the Exchange Offer is voluntary and you should carefully consider whether to accept. You are urged to consult your
financial, tax, legal and other advisors in making your own decision on what action to take. We may in the future seek to acquire
untendered Original Notes in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, through subsequent exchange offers or
otherwise. We have no present plans to acquire any Original Notes that are not tendered in the Exchange Offer or to file a shelf
registration statement to permit resales of any untendered Original Notes.
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DESCRIPTION OF NEW NOTES

You can find the definitions of certain terms used in this description under the subheading “Certain Definitions.” In this description,
“the Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer only to Vector Group Ltd. and not to any of its subsidiaries.

The Company issued the Original Notes under an indenture dated as of February 12, 2013, as supplemented by the first
supplemental indenture, dated as of September 10, 2013, and the second supplemental indenture, dated as of April 15, 2014 (as so
supplemented, the “indenture”), among itself, the Guarantors and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee and Collateral Agent,
in a private transaction that is not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The New Notes will be issued under
the indenture and will be identical in all material respects to the Original Notes, except that the New Notes will have been
registered under the Securities Act and will not bear legends restricting their transfer, and will be free of any obligation regarding
registration, including the payment of Liquidated Damages upon failure to file or have declared effective an exchange offer
registration statement or to consummate an exchange offer by certain dates. Unless specifically stated to the contrary, references to
the term “notes” in the following description applies equally to the New Notes, the Original Notes and the Existing Notes. The New
Notes and the Original Notes will be treated as a single series for all purposes under the indenture, including, without limitation,
waivers, amendments, redemptions and offers to purchase. The terms of the notes will include those stated in the indenture and
those made part of the indenture by reference to the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. The Collateral Documents referred to
below under the caption “— Security” define the terms of the documents that secure the notes.

The following description is a summary of the material provisions of the indenture, the Collateral Documents and the Intercreditor
Agreement. It does not restate those agreements in their entirety. We urge you to read the indenture, the Collateral Documents and
the Intercreditor Agreement because they, and not this description, define your rights as holders of the notes. The indenture, the
Collateral Documents and the Intercreditor Agreement are available as set forth below under “— Additional Information.” Certain
defined terms used in this description but not defined below under “— Certain Definitions” have the meanings assigned to them in
the indenture. The registered holder of a note will be treated as the owner of it for all purposes. Only registered holders will have
rights under the indenture.

Brief Description of the Notes and the Note Guarantees

The Notes

The notes:

• are general obligations of the Company;

• are pari passu in right of payment with all of the Company’s existing and future senior Indebtedness;

• are senior in right of payment to all of the Company’s future subordinated Indebtedness, if any;

• are effectively subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future Indebtedness and other liabilities of the
Company’s Subsidiaries that are not Guarantors (other than Indebtedness and liabilities owed to the Company or a
Guarantor);

• are not secured by any of the Company’s assets; and

• are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Guarantors and certain of such guarantees will be secured by certain assets
of some of the Guarantors as provided below.
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The Note Guarantees

The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis by the Guarantors. None of the Company’s
Subsidiaries engaged in the real estate business conducted by the New Valley Subsidiaries will guarantee the notes.

Each guarantee of the notes:

• is a general obligation of the Guarantor;

• is pari passu in right of payment with all other senior Indebtedness of that Guarantor, including a Liggett Guarantor’s
guarantee of Indebtedness under the Liggett Credit Agreement; and

• is senior in right of payment to any future subordinated Indebtedness of that Guarantor.

Each guarantee of the notes by a Liggett Guarantor:

• is secured on a second priority basis, equally and ratably with all existing and future obligations of a Liggett Guarantor
under any Parity Lien Debt, by Liens on certain assets of a Liggett Guarantor, subject in priority to Liens securing the First
Priority Debt under the Liggett Credit Agreement and Permitted Prior Liens; and

• is effectively junior, to the extent of the value of assets securing a Liggett Guarantor’s First Priority Debt obligations under
the Liggett Credit Agreement, which are secured on a first priority basis by the same assets of that Liggett Guarantor that
secure the notes and by certain other assets of that Liggett Guarantor that do not secure the notes.

The guarantee of the Notes by Vector Tobacco is secured on a first priority basis, equally and ratably with all of its existing and
future obligations under any Parity Lien Debt, by Liens on certain of its assets, subject in priority to Permitted Prior Liens. The
guarantee of VGR Holding is secured by a first priority pledge of the Capital Stock of each of Liggett Group and Vector Tobacco.

Pursuant to the indenture, the Company is permitted to incur additional notes under the indenture and the Guarantors are permitted
to guarantee such additional notes as Parity Lien Debt subject to the covenants described below under “Covenants — Incurrence of
Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock” and “Covenants — Liens.”

As a result of the first priority liens securing the obligations of the Liggett Guarantors under the Liggett Credit Agreement, the Note
Guarantees by the Liggett Guarantors are effectively subordinated to the Liggett Guarantors’ obligations under the Liggett Credit
Agreement to the extent of the value of the Collateral securing their first priority lien obligations under the Liggett Credit
Agreement as provided in the Intercreditor Agreement.

As of the date hereof, all of the Company’s Subsidiaries that are not Guarantors are Unrestricted Subsidiaries, including the New
Valley Subsidiaries. Unrestricted Subsidiaries are not subject to the restrictive covenants in the indenture described below.

In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization of any of the Unrestricted Subsidiaries, the Unrestricted Subsidiaries will
pay the holders of their debt and their trade creditors before they will be able to distribute any of their assets to the Company. At
December 31, 2013, the Company’s investment in non-consolidated real estate businesses of the Unrestricted Subsidiaries (which
reflects the real estate business of the New Valley Subsidiaries) was $128.2 million. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the
Company recognized equity income from non-consolidated real estate businesses of the Unrestricted Subsidiaries of $22.9 million.
In addition, the Company’s Unrestricted Subsidiaries owned real estate and related property, which were carried at approximately
$20.9 million at December 31, 2013.

Principal, Maturity and Interest

The Company issued $150.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Original Notes on April 15, 2014. The Company may issue
additional notes under the indenture from time to time. Any issuance of additional notes is subject to all of the covenants in the
indenture, including the covenant described below under the caption “— Certain Covenants — Incurrence of Indebtedness and
Issuance of Preferred Stock.” The notes, and any
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additional notes subsequently issued under the indenture will be treated as a single class for all purposes under the indenture,
including, without limitation, waivers, amendments, redemptions and offers to purchase. The Company will issue notes in
denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof. The notes will mature on February 15, 2021.

Interest on the New Notes will accrue at the rate of 7.750% per annum from the date of original issuance of the Original Notes or
from the most recent date on which interest on the Original Notes has been paid, whichever is later, and will be payable semi-
annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15, commencing on August 15, 2014. We will deem the right to receive any interest
accrued but unpaid on the Original Notes waived by you if we accept your Original Notes for exchange. Interest on overdue
principal and interest and Liquidated Damages, if any, will accrue at a rate that is 1% higher than the then applicable interest rate on
the notes. The Company will make each interest payment to the holders of record on the immediately preceding February 1 and
August 1. Interest on the new notes will be deemed to have accrued from February 15, 2014. Interest will be computed on the basis
of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months.

Methods of Receiving Payments on the Notes

If a holder of notes has given wire transfer instructions to the Company, the Company will pay all principal, interest, premium and
Liquidated Damages, if any, on that holder’s notes in accordance with those instructions. All other payments on the notes will be
made at the office or agency of the paying agent and registrar within the City and State of New York unless the Company elects to
make interest payments by check mailed to the noteholders at their address set forth in the register of holders.

Paying Agent and Registrar for the Notes

The Company has appointed U.S. Bank National Associates, the trustee and Collateral Agent under the indenture, as paying agent
and registrar for the notes. The Company may change the paying agent or registrar without prior notice to the holders of the notes,
and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may act as paying agent or registrar.

Transfer and Exchange

A holder may transfer or exchange notes in accordance with the provisions of the indenture. The registrar and the trustee may
require a holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents in connection with a transfer of
notes. Holders will be required to pay all taxes due on transfer. The Company will not be required to transfer or exchange any note
selected for redemption. Also, the Company will not be required to transfer or exchange any note (1) for a period of 15 days before
a selection of notes to be redeemed or (2)between a record date and the next succeeding interest payment date.

Note Guarantees

The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by each of the Guarantors. These Note Guarantees are joint and several
obligations of the Guarantors. As a result of the first priority liens securing the obligations of the Liggett Guarantors under the
Liggett Credit Agreement as provided in the Intercreditor Agreement, the Note Guarantees by the Liggett Guarantors are
effectively subordinated to the Liggett Guarantors’ obligations under the Liggett Credit Agreement to the extent of the value of the
assets securing the first priority lien obligations under the Liggett Credit Agreement.

The obligations of each Guarantor under its Note Guarantee are limited as necessary to prevent that Note Guarantee from
constituting a fraudulent conveyance under applicable law. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to the Notes and the Exchange
Offer — Federal and state statutes allow courts, under specific circumstances, to void guarantees and require holders of notes to
return payments received from guarantors.”

A Guarantor may not sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets to, or consolidate with or merge with or into
(whether or not such Guarantor is the surviving Person) another Person other than the Company or any Guarantor, unless:

1. immediately after giving effect to that transaction, no Default or Event of Default exists; and
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2. either:

A. the Person acquiring the property in any such sale or disposition or the Person formed by or surviving any such
consolidation or merger assumes all the obligations of that Guarantor under the indenture, its Note Guarantee, the
Collateral Documents and the registration rights agreement, if applicable, pursuant to a supplemental indenture and
appropriate Collateral Documents satisfactory to the trustee; or

B. the Net Proceeds of such sale or other disposition are applied in accordance with the applicable provisions of the
indenture.

The Note Guarantee of a Guarantor will be released:

1. in connection with any sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of that Guarantor (including by way of
merger or consolidation) to a Person that is not (either before or after giving effect to such transaction) the Company or a
Guarantor, if the sale or other disposition does not violate the “Asset Sale” provisions of the indenture;

2. in connection with any sale or other disposition of all of the Capital Stock of that Guarantor to a Person that is not (either
before or after giving effect to such transaction) the Company or a Guarantor, if the sale or other disposition does not violate
the “Asset Sale” provisions of the indenture; or

3. upon legal defeasance or satisfaction and discharge of the indenture as provided below under the captions “— Legal
Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance” and “— Satisfaction and Discharge.”

See “— Repurchase at the Option of Holders — Asset Sales.”

None of the New Valley Subsidiaries guarantee the notes. As a result, the notes are effectively subordinated to all existing and
future liabilities of the New Valley Subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s investment in non-consolidated real
estate businesses of the Unrestricted Subsidiaries (which reflects the real estate business of the Unrestricted Subsidiaries) was
$128.2 million. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recognized equity income from non-consolidated real estate
businesses of the Unrestricted Subsidiaries of $22.9 million. In addition, the Company’s Unrestricted Subsidiaries owned real estate
and related property, which were carried at approximately $20.9 million at December 31, 2013.

Security

The notes are not secured by any assets of the Company.

Only the Liggett Guarantors, Vector Tobacco and VGR Holding provide certain security for their Note Guarantees. The obligations
of the Liggett Guarantors under their Note Guarantees and the performance of all other obligations of the Liggett Guarantors under
the indenture are secured equally and ratably by second priority Liens on the Collateral of the Liggett Guarantors granted to the
Collateral Agent for the benefit of the holders of the Parity Lien Obligations. These Liens are junior in priority to the Liens
securing the first priority lien obligations of the Liggett Guarantors under the Liggett Credit Agreement to the extent of the Liens
on the assets securing First Priority Debt. The obligations of Vector Tobacco under its Note Guarantee are secured equally and
ratably by first priority Liens on the Collateral of Vector Tobacco granted to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the holders of
the Parity Lien Obligations. The obligations of VGR Holding under its Note Guarantee are secured equally and ratably by first
priority liens on the Pledged Securities. Security interests securing the Note Guarantees are subject in priority to Permitted Prior
Liens.

The Collateral securing the applicable Note Guarantees do not include the following:

• real property, other than the Mebane Facility and any real property that has a Fair Market Value in excess of $5.0 million;

• equipment subject to purchase money or other financing;

• investment property or securities, including securities of affiliates, other than the Pledged Securities;

• cash and deposit accounts;
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• foreign intellectual property and all intent-to-use trademark applications;

• aircraft, aircraft engines and motor vehicles; and

• leasehold interests in real property,

as such terms are defined under the UCC, collectively referred to as the “Excluded Assets.”

The Liens on collateral of the Liggett Guarantors securing the obligations of the Liggett Guarantors under the Liggett Credit
Agreement include assets that are not included in the Collateral securing the Note Guarantees, including deposit accounts and
investment property. The value of these Excluded Assets could be significant, and the notes effectively rank junior to indebtedness
secured by liens on, and to the extent of, these Excluded Assets. Cash deposited in bank accounts of the Liggett Guarantors is
automatically applied to the repayment of outstanding revolving borrowings under the Liggett Credit Agreement.

Intercreditor Agreement

In connection with the issuance of the Existing Notes, the Liggett Guarantors entered into the Intercreditor Agreement with the
lender under the Liggett Credit Agreement, the Collateral Agent and the trustee. The Intercreditor Agreement applies to the New
Notes. The Intercreditor Agreement sets forth the terms of the relationship between the holders of First Priority Liens and the
holders of Parity Liens.

Certain terms used under this caption “— Intercreditor Agreement” have the meanings set forth below under “— Certain
Definitions used in the Intercreditor Agreement.” Capitalized terms used under this caption but not defined below have the
meanings set forth in the Intercreditor Agreement.

First Priority Liens; Note Guarantees Effectively Subordinated to First Priority Liens

The obligations under the Liggett Credit Agreement are secured by a Lien on the ABL Collateral. Under the Intercreditor
Agreement, this Lien, to the extent it secures Maximum Priority ABL Debt, is senior in right, priority, operation, effect and in all
other respects to any Lien thereon that secures the Note Guarantees of the Liggett Guarantors. Such Lien is referred to herein as the
First Priority Lien. By their acceptance of the notes, the holders of the notes were deemed to have authorized the Collateral Agent
to enter into the Intercreditor Agreement with the ABL Lender. As a result, obligations under the indenture that are secured by a
Lien on the ABL Collateral, and that are evidenced by certain of the Note Guarantees, are effectively subordinated to the
obligations secured by the First Priority Lien to the extent of the value of the ABL Collateral.

Relative Priorities

The Intercreditor Agreement provides that notwithstanding the date, manner or order of grant, attachment or perfection of any
Liens granted to the ABL Lender or the ABL Secured Parties or the Collateral Agent or the Noteholder Secured Parties and
notwithstanding any provision of the UCC, or any applicable law or any provisions of the ABL Documents or the Noteholder
Documents or any other circumstance whatsoever:

The Collateral Agent, for itself and on behalf of the other Noteholder Secured Parties, has agreed that: (1) any Lien on the ABL
Collateral securing the First Priority Debt now or hereafter held by or for the benefit or on behalf of any ABL Secured Party or any
agent or trustee therefor shall be senior in right, priority, operation, effect and in all other respects to any Lien on the ABL
Collateral securing the Noteholder Debt now or hereafter held by or for the benefit or on behalf of any Noteholder Secured Party or
any agent or trustee therefor; and (2) any Lien on the ABL Collateral securing any of the Noteholder Debt now or hereafter held by
or for the benefit or on behalf of any Noteholder Secured Party or any agent or trustee therefor regardless of how acquired, whether
by grant, statute, operation of law, subrogation or otherwise, shall be junior and subordinate in all respects to all Liens on the ABL
Collateral securing any First Priority Debt.

The ABL Lender, for itself and on behalf of the other ABL Secured Parties, has agreed that: (1) any Lien on the ABL Collateral
securing the Noteholder Debt now or hereafter held by or for the benefit or on behalf of any Noteholder Secured Party or any agent
or trustee therefor shall be senior in right, priority, operation, effect and in all other respects to any Lien on the ABL Collateral
securing the principal amount of Excess ABL Debt now or hereafter held by or for the benefit or on behalf of any ABL Secured
Party or any agent or trustee therefor; and (2) any Lien on the ABL Collateral securing any Excess ABL Debt now or hereafter held
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by or for the benefit or on behalf of any ABL Secured Party or any agent or trustee therefor regardless of how acquired, whether by
grant, statute, operation of law, subrogation or otherwise, shall be junior and subordinate in all respects to all Liens on the ABL
Collateral securing any Noteholder Debt.

Prohibition on Contesting Liens

The Intercreditor Agreement also provides that each of the ABL Lender, for itself and on behalf of the other ABL Secured Parties,
and the Collateral Agent, for itself and on behalf of the Noteholder Secured Parties, has agreed that they will not, and has waived
any right to, contest or support any other Person in contesting, in any proceeding (including any Insolvency or Liquidation
Proceeding), the priority, perfection, validity or enforceability of a Lien held by or for the benefit or on behalf of any ABL Secured
Party in any ABL Collateral or by or on behalf of any Noteholder Secured Party in any ABL Collateral; provided that nothing in
the Intercreditor Agreement will be construed to prevent or impair the rights of any ABL Secured Party or Noteholder Secured
Party to enforce the Intercreditor Agreement, including, without limitation the priority of Liens described above under “— Relative
Priorities.”

Additional Liens

None of the ABL Loan Parties may grant any additional Liens on any assets to secure the Noteholder Debt unless it has granted, or
substantially concurrently therewith shall grant, a lien on such asset to secure the ABL Debt or grant any additional Liens on any
assets to secure the ABL Debt unless it has granted, or substantially concurrently therewith shall grant, a Lien on such asset to
secure the Noteholder Debt, all of which Liens shall be subject to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement. Further, the parties to
the Intercreditor Agreement have agreed that, after the Discharge of Priority Debt and so long as the Discharge of Priority
Noteholder Debt has not occurred, none of the ABL Loan Parties shall grant any additional Liens on any asset to secure any Excess
ABL Debt unless it has granted, or substantially concurrently therewith shall grant, a Lien on such asset to secure the Noteholder
Debt.

Exercise of Rights and Remedies; Standstill

In addition, the Intercreditor Agreement provides that, until the Discharge of Priority Debt, the Collateral Agent, for itself and on
behalf of the other Noteholder Secured Parties, has agreed that it (i) will not enforce rights or exercise remedies (including any right
of setoff) with respect to the ABL Collateral (including the enforcement of any right under any lockbox agreement, account control
agreement, landlord waiver or bailee’s letter or any similar agreement or arrangement to which the Collateral Agent or any other
Noteholder Secured Party is a party), or to commence or seek to commence any action or proceeding with respect to such rights or
remedies (including any foreclosure action or proceeding or any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding); provided, however, that
(A) the Collateral Agent and the Noteholder Secured Parties may take Permitted Actions, and (B) the Collateral Agent may
exercise any or all of such rights or remedies after a period of 180 days has elapsed since the date on which any ABL Secured Party
has commenced a Lien Enforcement Action and prior to or at the time of such exercise, the Collateral Agent shall have (1) declared
the existence of an Event of Default, (2) demanded the repayment of all the principal amount of the Noteholder Debt and (3)
notified the ABL Lender of such declaration of an Event of Default and demand (the “Standstill Period”); provided, further, that,
notwithstanding the expiration of the Standstill Period or anything herein to the contrary, in no event shall the Collateral Agent or
any other Noteholder Secured Party enforce or exercise any rights or remedies with respect to any ABL Collateral, or commence or
petition for any such action or proceeding (including any foreclosure action or proceeding or any Insolvency or Liquidation
Proceeding), at any time during which the ABL Lender or any other ABL Secured Party shall have commenced and shall be
pursuing diligently a Lien Enforcement Action.
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Release of Liens

The Intercreditor Agreement also provides that:

1. prior to Discharge of Priority Debt, if (i) in connection with any disposition of any ABL Collateral (A) permitted under the
terms of the ABL Documents (whether or not an event of default or equivalent event thereunder, and as defined therein, has
occurred and is continuing) or (B) consented to or approved by ABL Lender, but in the case of (A) or (B) only if permitted
under the terms of the Noteholder Documents or (ii) in connection with the exercise of the ABL Lender’s remedies in
respect of the ABL Collateral (provided that after giving effect to the release and application of proceeds, ABL Debt (other
than Excess ABL Debt) secured by the first priority Liens on the remaining ABL Collateral remains outstanding), the ABL
Lender, for itself or on behalf of any of the other ABL Secured Parties, releases any of its Liens on any part of the ABL
Collateral, then effective upon the consummation of such sale, lease, license, exchange, transfer or other disposition:

A. the Liens, if any, of the Collateral Agent, for itself or for the benefit of the Noteholder Secured Parties, on such ABL
Collateral shall be automatically, unconditionally and simultaneously released to the same extent as the release of ABL
Lender’s Liens,

B. the Collateral Agent, for itself or on behalf of the Noteholder Secured Parties, shall promptly upon the request of ABL
Lender execute and deliver such release documents and confirmations of the authorization to file UCC amendments and
terminations provided for herein, in each case as ABL Lender may require in connection with such sale or other
disposition by ABL Lender, ABL Lender’s agents or any Liggett Guarantor with the consent of ABL Lender to evidence
and effectuate such termination and release; provided, that, any such release or UCC amendment or termination by
Collateral Agent shall not extend to or otherwise affect any of the rights, if any, of Collateral Agent and Noteholder
Secured Parties to the proceeds from any such sale or other disposition of ABL Collateral, and

C. the Collateral Agent, for itself or on behalf of the other Noteholder Secured Parties, shall be deemed to have authorized
ABL Lender to file UCC amendments and terminations covering the ABL Collateral so sold or otherwise disposed of as
to UCC financing statements between any Liggett Guarantor and Collateral Agent or any other Noteholder Secured Party
to evidence such release and termination.

2. after Discharge of Priority Debt but prior to Discharge of Priority Noteholder Debt, if (i) in connection with any sale, lease,
license, exchange, transfer or other disposition of any ABL Collateral (A) permitted under the terms of the Noteholder
Documents (whether or not an event of default or equivalent event thereunder, and as defined therein, has occurred and is
continuing) or (B) consented to or approved by Noteholder Secured Parties, but in the case of (A) and (B), only if permitted
under the terms of the ABL Documents, or (ii) in connection with the exercise of the Collateral Agent’s or any Noteholder
Secured Party’s remedies in respect of the ABL Collateral (provided that after giving effect to the release and application of
proceeds, Noteholder Debt secured by the Liens on the remaining ABL Collateral remain outstanding), the Collateral Agent,
for itself or on behalf of any of the other Noteholder Secured Parties, releases any of its Liens on any part of the ABL
Collateral, then effective upon the consummation of such sale, lease, license, exchange, transfer or other disposition:

A. the Liens, if any, of the ABL Lender, for itself or for the benefit of the ABL Secured Parties, on such ABL Collateral
shall be automatically, unconditionally and simultaneously released to the same extent as the release of the Collateral
Agent’s Liens,

B. the ABL Lender, for itself or on behalf of the ABL Secured Parties, shall promptly upon the request of the Collateral
Agent execute and deliver such release documents and confirmations of the authorization to file UCC amendments and
terminations provided for herein, in each case as the Collateral Agent may require in connection with such sale or other
disposition by the Collateral Agent or any Noteholder Secured Party, or any of their agents or any Liggett Guarantor with
the consent of Noteholder Secured Parties to evidence and effectuate such
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termination and release; provided, that, any such release or UCC amendment or termination by ABL Lender shall not
extend to or otherwise affect any of the rights, if any, of ABL Lender and ABL Secured Parties to the proceeds from any
such sale or other disposition of ABL Collateral, and

C. the ABL Lender, for itself or on behalf of the other ABL Secured Parties, shall be deemed to have authorized the
Collateral Agent to file UCC amendments and terminations covering the ABL Collateral so sold or otherwise disposed
of as to UCC financing statements between any Liggett Guarantor and ABL Lender or any other ABL Secured Party to
evidence such release and termination.

3. the Collateral Agent, for itself and on behalf of the other Noteholder Secured Parties, has irrevocably constituted and
appointed the ABL Lender and any officer or agent of the ABL Lender, with full power of substitution, as its true and lawful
attorney-in-fact with full irrevocable power and authority in the place and stead of the Collateral Agent or such holder, from
time to time in the ABL Lender’s discretion for the purpose of releasing Liens in accordance with provision 1 of “— Release
of Liens” above, to take any and all appropriate action and to execute any and all documents and instruments which may be
necessary or desirable to accomplish the purposes of provision 1 of “— Release of Liens” above, including any termination
statements, endorsements or other instruments of transfer or release. The ABL Lender, for itself and on behalf of the other
ABL Secured Parties, has irrevocably constituted and appointed the Collateral Agent and any officer or agent of any holder
of notes, with full power of substitution, as its true and lawful attorney-in-fact with full irrevocable power and authority in
the place and stead of the ABL Lender or any ABL Secured Party, for the purpose of carrying out the terms of provision 2 of
“— Release of Liens” above, to take any and all appropriate action and to execute any and all documents and instruments
which may be necessary or desirable to accomplish the purposes of provision 2 of “— Release of Liens” above, including
any termination statements, endorsements or other instruments of transfer or release.

Application of Proceeds

The Intercreditor Agreement also provides that so long as the Discharge of ABL Debt has not occurred, the ABL Collateral or
proceeds thereof received in connection with the sale or other disposition of, or collection on, such ABL Collateral upon the
exercise of remedies, shall be applied in the following order of priority:

first, to the First Priority Debt (including for cash collateral as required under the ABL Documents), and in such order as specified
in the relevant ABL Documents until the Discharge of Priority Debt has occurred;

second, to the Noteholder Debt in such order as specified in the relevant Noteholder Documents until the Discharge of Priority
Noteholder Debt has occurred; and

third, to the Excess ABL Debt until the Discharge of ABL Debt has occurred.

Turnover

The Intercreditor Agreement also provides that so long as the Discharge of Priority Debt has not occurred, whether or not any
Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding has been commenced by or against any Liggett Guarantor, the Collateral Agent has agreed,
for itself and on behalf of the other Noteholder Secured Parties, that any ABL Collateral or proceeds from the enforcement of
remedies with respect to the ABL Collateral (including any right of set-off) with respect to the ABL Collateral, and including in
connection with any insurance policy claim or any condemnation award (or deed in lieu of condemnation) with respect to ABL
Collateral, shall be segregated and held in trust and promptly transferred or paid over to the ABL Lender for the benefit of the ABL
Secured Parties in the same form as received, with any necessary endorsements or assignments or as a court of competent
jurisdiction may otherwise direct. After the Discharge of Priority Debt has occurred but before the Discharge of Priority Noteholder
Debt has occurred, whether or not any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding has been commenced by or against any Liggett
Guarantor, the ABL Lender has agreed, for itself and on behalf of the other ABL Secured Parties, that any ABL Collateral or
proceeds from the enforcement of remedies with respect to the ABL Collateral or payment with respect thereto received by the
ABL Lender or any other ABL Secured Party (including any right of set-off) with
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respect to the ABL Collateral, and including in connection with any insurance policy claim or any condemnation award (or deed in
lieu of condemnation) with respect to ABL Collateral, shall be segregated and held in trust and promptly transferred or paid over to
the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Noteholder Secured Parties in the same form as received, with any necessary
endorsements or assignments or as a court of competent jurisdiction may otherwise direct. The ABL Lender or the Collateral
Agent, as applicable, are authorized to make any such endorsements or assignments as agent for the other. This authorization is
coupled with an interest and is irrevocable.

Insolvency or Liquidation Proceedings

The Intercreditor Agreement is applicable both before and after the institution of any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding
involving any Liggett Guarantor, including, without limitation, the filing of any petition by or against any Liggett Guarantor under
the Bankruptcy Code or under any other Bankruptcy Law and all converted or subsequent cases in respect thereof, and all
references in “— Insolvency or Liquidation Proceedings” to any Liggett Guarantor shall be deemed to apply to the trustee for any
such Liggett Guarantor or such Liggett Guarantor as debtor-in-possession. The relative rights of the ABL Secured Parties and the
Noteholder Secured Parties in or to any distributions from or in respect of any ABL Collateral or proceeds of ABL Collateral shall
continue after the institution of any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding involving any Liggett Guarantor, including, without
limitation, the filing of any petition by or against any Liggett Guarantor under the Bankruptcy Code or under any other Bankruptcy
Law and all converted cases and subsequent cases, on the same basis as prior to the date of such institution, subject to (i) any court
order approving the financing of, or use of cash collateral by, any Liggett Guarantor as debtor-in-possession, or (ii) any other court
order affecting the rights and interests of the parties to the Intercreditor Agreement, in either case so long as such court order is not
in conflict with the Intercreditor Agreement. The Intercreditor Agreement constitutes a “Subordination Agreement” for the
purposes of Section 510(a) of the Bankruptcy Code and is enforceable in any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding in accordance
with its terms.

Bankruptcy Financing

The Intercreditor Agreement also provides that if any Liggett Guarantor becomes subject to any Insolvency or Liquidation
Proceeding, until the Discharge of Priority Debt has occurred, the Collateral Agent, for itself and on behalf of the other Noteholder
Secured Parties, has agreed that:

1. each Noteholder Secured Party will raise no objection to, nor support any other Person objecting to, and will be deemed to
have consented to, the use of any ABL Collateral constituting cash collateral under Section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code, or
any comparable provision of any other Bankruptcy Law or any post-petition financing, provided by any ABL Secured Party
or any Qualified Financier under Section 364 of the Bankruptcy Code, or any comparable provision of any other Bankruptcy
Law (a “DIP Financing”), will not request or accept adequate protection or any other relief in connection with the use of
such cash collateral or such DIP Financing except as set forth below and will subordinate (and will be deemed hereunder to
have subordinated) the Liens granted to Noteholder Secured Parties to such DIP Financing on the same terms as such Liens
are subordinated to the Liens granted to ABL Lender in the Intercreditor Agreement (and such subordination will not alter in
any manner the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement), to any adequate protection provided to the ABL Secured Parties and
to any “carve out” agreed to by the ABL Lender; provided that:

A. the ABL Lender does not oppose or object to such use of cash collateral or DIP Financing,

B. the aggregate principal amount of such DIP Financing, together with the ABL Debt as of such date, does not exceed the
principal component of Maximum Priority ABL Debt, and the DIP Financing is treated as ABL Debt under the
Intercreditor Agreement,

C. the Liens granted to the ABL Secured Parties or Qualified Financier in connection with such DIP Financing are subject
to the Intercreditor Agreement and considered to be Liens of ABL Lender for purposes of the Intercreditor Agreement,

D. the Collateral Agent retains a Lien on the ABL Collateral (including proceeds thereof) with the same priority as existed
prior to such Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding (except to the extent of any “carve out” agreed to by the ABL
Lender),
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E. the Collateral Agent receives replacement Liens on all assets, including post-petition assets, of any Liggett Guarantor in
which the ABL Lender obtains a replacement Lien, or which secure the DIP Financing, with the same priority relative to
the Liens of ABL Lender as existed prior to such Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding, and

F. the Noteholder Secured Parties may oppose or object to such use of cash collateral or DIP Financing on the same bases
as an unsecured creditor, so long as such opposition or objection is not based on the Noteholder Secured Parties’ status
as secured creditors; and

2. no Noteholder Secured Party shall, directly or indirectly, provide, or seek to provide, DIP Financing secured by Liens equal
or senior in priority to the Liens on the ABL Collateral of ABL Lender, without the prior written consent of ABL Lender.

Relief from the Automatic Stay.  The Collateral Agent, for itself and on behalf of the other Noteholder Secured Parties, has agreed
that, so long as the Discharge of Priority Debt has not occurred, no Noteholder Secured Party shall, without the prior written
consent of the ABL Lender, seek or request relief from or modification of the automatic stay or any other stay in any Insolvency or
Liquidation Proceeding in respect of any part of the ABL Collateral, any proceeds thereof or any Lien securing any of the
Noteholder Debt. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Intercreditor Agreement, no Liggett Guarantor will
waive or shall be deemed to have waived any rights under Section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code.

Adequate Protection.  The Collateral Agent, on behalf of itself and the other Noteholder Secured Parties, has agreed that none of
them shall object, contest, or support any other Person objecting to or contesting, (i) any request by the ABL Lender or any of the
other ABL Secured Parties for adequate protection of the First Priority Debt or any adequate protection provided to the ABL
Lender or other ABL Secured Parties with respect to the First Priority Debt or (ii) any objection by the ABL Lender or any of the
other ABL Secured Parties to any motion, relief, action or proceeding based on a claim of a lack of adequate protection for the First
Priority Debt or (iii) the payment of interest, fees, expenses or other amounts to the ABL Lender or any other ABL Secured Party
with respect to the First Priority Debt under Section 506(b) or 506(c) of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise.

The Collateral Agent, on behalf of itself and the other Noteholder Secured Parties, has agreed that none of them shall seek or accept
adequate protection with respect to the Noteholder Debt secured by Liens on the ABL Collateral without the prior written consent
of the ABL Lender; except, that, the Collateral Agent, for itself or on behalf of the other Noteholder Secured Parties, or the
Noteholder Secured Parties shall be permitted (i) to obtain adequate protection in the form of the benefit of additional or
replacement Liens on the ABL Collateral (including proceeds thereof arising after the commencement of any Insolvency or
Liquidation Proceeding), or additional or replacement ABL Collateral to secure the Noteholder Debt, in connection with any DIP
Financing or use of cash collateral as provided for in “— Bankruptcy Financing” above, or in connection with any such adequate
protection obtained by ABL Lender and the other ABL Secured Parties, as long as in each case, the ABL Lender is also granted
such additional or replacement Liens or additional or replacement ABL Collateral and such Liens of Collateral Agent or any other
Noteholder Secured Party are subordinated to the Liens securing the ABL Debt to the same extent as the Liens of Collateral Agent
and the other Noteholder Secured Parties on the ABL Collateral are subordinated to the Liens of ABL Lender and the other ABL
Secured Parties under the Intercreditor Agreement and (ii) to obtain adequate protection in the form of reports, notices, inspection
rights and similar forms of adequate protection to the extent granted to the ABL Lender.

Reorganization Securities.  If, in any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding, debt obligations of any reorganized Liggett Guarantor
secured by Liens upon any property of such reorganized Liggett Guarantor are distributed, pursuant to a plan of reorganization, on
account of both the ABL Debt and the Noteholder Debt, then, to the extent the debt obligations distributed on account of the ABL
Debt and on account of the Noteholder Debt are secured by Liens upon the same assets or property, the provisions of the
Intercreditor Agreement will survive the distribution of such debt obligations pursuant to such plan and will apply with like effect
to the Liens securing such debt obligations.
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Separate Classes.  The ABL Lender, the ABL Loan Parties and the Collateral Agent have irrevocably acknowledged and agreed
that (i) the claims and interests of the ABL Secured Parties and the Noteholder Secured Parties will not be “substantially similar”
within the meaning of Section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code, or any comparable provision of any other Bankruptcy Law, (ii) the
grants of the Liens to secure the ABL Debt and the grants of the Liens to secure the Noteholder Debt will constitute two separate
and distinct grants of Liens, (iii) the ABL Secured Parties’ rights in the ABL Collateral will be fundamentally different from the
Noteholder Secured Parties’ rights in the ABL Collateral and (iv) as a result of the foregoing, among other things, the ABL Debt
and the Noteholder Debt shall be separately classified in any plan of reorganization proposed or adopted in any Insolvency or
Liquidation Proceeding.

Asset Dispositions.  Until the Discharge of Priority Debt has occurred, the Collateral Agent, for itself and on behalf of the other
Noteholder Secured Parties, has agreed that, in the event of any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding, the Noteholder Secured
Parties will not object or oppose (or support any Person in objecting or opposing) a motion to any sale, lease, license, exchange,
transfer or other disposition of any ABL Collateral free and clear of the Liens of Collateral Agent and the other Noteholder Secured
Parties or other claims under Section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code, or any comparable provision of any Bankruptcy Law and shall
be deemed to have consented to any such any sale, lease, license, exchange, transfer or other disposition of any ABL Collateral
under Section 363(f) of the Bankruptcy Code that has been consented to by the ABL Lender; provided that the proceeds of such
sale, lease, license, exchange, transfer or other disposition of any ABL Collateral to be applied to the ABL Debt or the Noteholder
Debt are applied in accordance with “— Application of Proceeds” above. Nothing in the Intercreditor Agreement shall prevent the
Collateral Agent or the Noteholder Secured Parties from taking Permitted Actions or action permitted under the Intercreditor
Agreement to unsecured creditors.

Preference Issues.  If, in any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding or otherwise, all or part of any payment with respect to the First
Priority Debt previously made shall be rescinded for any reason whatsoever, then the First Priority Debt shall be reinstated to the
extent of the amount so rescinded and, if theretofore terminated, the Intercreditor Agreement shall be reinstated in full force and
effect and such prior termination shall not diminish, release, discharge, impair or otherwise affect the Lien priorities and the relative
rights and obligations of the ABL Secured Parties and the Noteholder Secured Parties provided for therein.

If, in any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding or otherwise, all or part of any payment with respect to the Noteholder Debt
previously made shall be rescinded for any reason whatsoever and the Discharge of Priority Debt shall, subject to (for the
avoidance of doubt) the paragraph above, have occurred, then the Noteholder Debt shall be reinstated to the extent of the amount so
rescinded and, if theretofore terminated, the Intercreditor Agreement shall be reinstated in full force and effect and such prior
termination shall not diminish, release, discharge, impair or otherwise affect the Lien priorities and the relative rights and
obligations of the Noteholder Secured Parties and any Person that holds ABL Excess Debt provided for in the Intercreditor
Agreement solely with respect to any ABL Excess Claims and for the avoidance of doubt, not with respect to any First Priority
Debt.

Certain Waivers as to Section 1111(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.  The Collateral Agent, for itself and on behalf of the other
Noteholder Secured Parties, has waived any claim any Noteholder Secured Party may hereafter have against any ABL Secured
Party arising out of the election by any ABL Secured Party of the application of Section 1111(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, or any
comparable provision of any other Bankruptcy Law. The ABL Lender, for itself and on behalf of the other ABL Secured Parties,
has waived any claim any ABL Secured Party may hereafter have against any Noteholder Secured Party arising out of the election
by any Noteholder Secured Party of the application of Section 1111(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code or any comparable provision of
any other Bankruptcy Law.

Postponement of Subrogation.  The Collateral Agent has agreed that no payment or distribution to any ABL Secured Party pursuant
to the provisions of the Intercreditor Agreement shall entitle any Noteholder Secured Party to exercise any rights of subrogation in
respect thereof until the Discharge of Priority Debt shall have occurred. Following the Discharge of Priority Debt, the Intercreditor
Agreement provides that the ABL Lender will execute such documents, agreements, and instruments as the Collateral Agent or any
Noteholder Secured Party may reasonably request to evidence the transfer by subrogation to any the Collateral Agent, for the
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benefit of the Noteholder Secured Parties, of an interest in the First Priority Debt resulting from payments or distributions to such
ABL Secured Party by such Person, so long as all reasonable costs and expenses (including all reasonable legal fees and
disbursements) incurred in connection therewith by such ABL Secured Party are paid by such Person upon request for payment
thereof. Noteholder Secured Parties have waived any and all rights to have any ABL Collateral or any part thereof granted to or
held by ABL Lender marshaled upon any foreclosure or other disposition of such ABL Collateral by ABL Lender or any Liggett
Guarantor with the consent of ABL Lender and ABL Secured Parties have waived any and all rights to have any ABL Collateral or
any part thereof granted to or held by Collateral Agent or any other Noteholder Secured Party marshaled upon any foreclosure or
other disposition of such ABL Collateral by Collateral Agent or any Noteholder Secured Party or any Liggett Guarantor with the
consent of Noteholder Secured Parties, in each case subject to the other terms of the Intercreditor Agreement.

Purchase Option

Exercise of Option.  The Intercreditor Agreement also provides that on or after the occurrence and during the continuance of an
ABL Event of Default and either the acceleration of all of the ABL Debt or the receipt by Collateral Agent of written notice from
ABL Lender of its intention to commence a Lien Enforcement Action as provided in “— Purchase Option — Notice from ABL
Lender Prior to Lien Enforcement Action” below, the Noteholder Secured Parties shall have the option at any time within ninety
(90) days of such acceleration or written notice, upon five (5) business days’ prior written notice by Collateral Agent to ABL
Lender, to purchase all (but not less than all) of the ABL Debt from the ABL Secured Parties. Such notice from Collateral Agent to
ABL Lender shall be irrevocable.

Purchase and Sale.  On the date specified by Collateral Agent in the notice referred to in “— Purchase Option — Exercise of
Option” above (which shall not be less than five (5) business days, nor more than twenty (20) days, after the receipt by ABL
Lender of the notice from Collateral Agent of its election to exercise such option), ABL Secured Parties shall, subject to any
required approval of any court or other regulatory or governmental authority then in effect (the time to obtain any such approval
shall extend the proposed date of sale and purchase), if any, sell to Noteholder Secured Parties, and Noteholder Secured Parties
shall purchase from ABL Secured Parties, all of the ABL Debt. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the
Intercreditor Agreement, in connection with any such purchase and sale, ABL Secured Parties shall retain all rights under the ABL
Documents to be indemnified or held harmless by the ABL Loan Parties in accordance with the terms thereof.

Payment of Purchase Price.  Upon the date of such purchase and sale, Noteholder Secured Parties shall (i) pay to ABL Lender for
the account of the ABL Secured Parties as the purchase price therefor the full amount of all of the ABL Debt then outstanding and
unpaid (including principal, interest, fees and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and legal expenses), (ii) furnish cash
collateral to ABL Lender in such amounts as ABL Lender determines is reasonably necessary to secure ABL Secured Parties in
connection with any issued and outstanding letters of credit issued under the ABL Documents (but not in any event in an amount
greater than one hundred five (105%) percent of the aggregate undrawn face amount of such letters of credit) (ABL Lender will
agree to refund this cash collateral to the Noteholder Secured Parties to the extent any letter of credit expires or is terminated or any
amount is reimbursed from other sources), and (iii) agree to reimburse ABL Secured Parties for any loss, cost, damage or expense
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees and legal expenses) in connection with any commissions, fees, costs or expenses related to
any issued and outstanding letters of credit as described above and any checks or other payments provisionally credited to the ABL
Debt, and/or as to which ABL Secured Parties have not yet received final payment.

Such purchase price and cash collateral shall be remitted by wire transfer in federal funds to such bank account of ABL Lender as
ABL Lender may designate in writing to Collateral Agent for such purpose. Interest shall be calculated to but excluding the
business day on which such purchase and sale shall occur if the amounts so paid by Noteholder Secured Parties to the bank account
designated by ABL Lender are received in such bank account prior to 12:00 noon, New York City time and interest shall be
calculated to and including such business day if the amounts so paid by Noteholder Secured Parties to the bank account designated
by ABL Lender are received in such bank account later than 12:00 noon, New York City time.
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Representations Upon Purchase and Sale.  Such purchase shall be expressly made without representation or warranty of any kind
by ABL Secured Parties as to the ABL Debt, the ABL Collateral or otherwise and without recourse to ABL Secured Parties, except
that each ABL Secured Party shall represent and warrant, severally, as to it: (i) the amount of the ABL Debt being purchased from
it are as reflected in the books and records of such ABL Secured Party (but without representation or warranty as to the
collectibility, validity or enforceability thereof), (ii) that such ABL Secured Party owns the ABL Debt being sold by it free and
clear of any liens or encumbrances and (iii) such ABL Secured Party has the right to assign the ABL Debt being sold by it and the
assignment is duly authorized. Upon the purchase by Noteholder Secured Parties of the ABL Debt, Noteholder Secured Parties
agree to indemnify and hold ABL Secured Parties harmless from and against all loss, cost, damage or expense (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees and legal expenses) suffered or incurred by ABL Secured Parties arising from or in any way relating to
acts or omissions of Collateral Agent or any of the other Noteholder Secured Parties after the purchase. Subject to the foregoing,
ABL Secured Parties shall execute and deliver such instruments of transfer and other documents as shall be necessary or desirable
to fully vest title to the ABL Debt in the Noteholder Secured Parties (or their designee) and to effectively transfer all Liens securing
the ABL Debt to the Noteholder Secured Parties (or their designee).

Notice from ABL Lender Prior to Lien Enforcement Action.  ABL Lender has agreed that it will give Collateral Agent ten (10)
business days prior written notice of its intention to commence a Lien Enforcement Action. In the event that during such ten (10)
business day period, Collateral Agent shall send to ABL Lender the irrevocable notice of the intention of the Noteholder Secured
Parties to exercise the purchase option given by ABL Secured Parties to Noteholder Secured Parties under “— Purchase Option,”
ABL Secured Parties shall not commence any foreclosure or other action to sell or otherwise realize upon the ABL Collateral,
provided, that, the purchase and sale with respect to the ABL Debt provided for herein shall have closed within thirty (30) business
days thereafter and ABL Secured Parties shall have received final payment in full of the ABL Debt as provided for herein within
such thirty (30) business day period.

Certain Definitions used in the Intercreditor Agreement

“ABL Documents” shall mean, collectively, the Liggett Credit Agreement and all agreements, documents and instruments at any
time executed and/or delivered by any Liggett Guarantor to, with or in favor of any ABL Secured Party in connection therewith, as
all of the foregoing now exist or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated, refinanced,
replaced or restructured (in whole or in part and including any agreements with, to or in favor of any other lender or group of
lenders that at any time refinances, replaces or succeeds to all or any portion of the ABL Debt) in accordance with the terms of the
Intercreditor Agreement.

“ABL Debt” shall mean all “Obligations” as such term is defined in the Liggett Credit Agreement, including, without limitation,
obligations, liabilities and indebtedness of every kind, nature and description owing by any Liggett Guarantor to any ABL Secured
Party, including principal, interest, charges, fees, premiums, indemnities and expenses, however evidenced, whether as principal,
surety, endorser, guarantor or otherwise, arising under any of the ABL Documents, whether now existing or hereafter arising,
whether arising before, during or after the initial or any renewal term of the ABL Documents or after the commencement of any
case with respect to any Liggett Guarantor under the Bankruptcy Code or any other Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding (and
including, without limitation, any principal, interest, fees, costs, expenses and other amounts, which would accrue and become due
but for the commencement of such case, whether or not such amounts are allowed or allowable in whole or in part in such case or
similar proceeding), whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, joint or several, due or not due, primary or secondary,
liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured.

“ABL Event of Default” shall mean any “Event of Default” as defined in the Liggett Credit Agreement.

“ABL Lender” shall mean, collectively, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association and any other lender or group of lenders that at any
time refinances, replaces or succeeds to all or any portion of the ABL Debt or is otherwise party to the ABL Documents as a lender
in accordance with the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement.

“ABL Loan Parties” shall mean, collectively, (i) Liggett Group LLC, (ii) 100 Maple LLC and (iii) their respective successors and
permitted assigns.
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“ABL Secured Parties” shall mean, collectively, (i) the ABL Lender, (ii) the issuing bank or banks of letters of credit or similar
instruments under the Liggett Credit Agreement, (iii) each other person to whom any of the ABL Debt (including ABL Debt
constituting Bank Product Obligations) is owed and (iv) the successors, replacements and assigns of each of the foregoing;
sometimes being referred to herein individually as a “ABL Secured Party”.

“Bank Product Obligations” shall mean Cash Management Obligations and Hedging Obligations.

“Cash Management Obligations” shall mean, with respect to any Liggett Guarantor, the obligations of such Liggett Guarantor in
connection with (i) credit cards or (ii) cash management or related services, including (1) the automated clearinghouse transfer of
funds or overdrafts or (2) controlled disbursement services.

“DIP Financing” shall have the meaning set forth above in “— Bankruptcy Financing.”

“Discharge of ABL Debt” shall mean (i) the termination or expiration of the commitments of ABL Lender and the financing
arrangements provided by ABL Lender to the ABL Loan Parties under the ABL Documents, (ii) except to the extent otherwise
provided above in “— Application of Proceeds” and “— Turnover,” the payment in full in cash of the ABL Debt (other than (1) the
ABL Debt described in clause (c) of this definition, (2) contingent indemnification obligations as to which no claim has been made
and (3) obligations under agreements with ABL Secured Parties which continue notwithstanding the termination of the
commitments and repayment of the ABL Debt described herein), and (ii) payment in full in cash of cash collateral, or at ABL
Lender’s option, the delivery to ABL Lender of a letter of credit payable to ABL Lender, in either case as required under the terms
of the Liggett Credit Agreement, in respect of letters of credit issued under the ABL Documents and Bank Product Obligations.

“Discharge of Priority Noteholder Debt” shall mean, except to the extent otherwise provided above in “— Application of
Proceeds” and “— Turnover,” the final payment in full in cash of the Noteholder Debt.

“Discharge of Priority Debt” shall mean, except to the extent otherwise provided above in “— Application of Proceeds” and “—
Turnover,” the final payment in full in cash of the First Priority Debt (other than as described in the definition of Discharge of ABL
Debt).

“Excess ABL Debt” means ABL Debt which does not constitute First Priority Debt.

“First Priority Debt” means ABL Debt to the extent it constitutes Maximum Priority ABL Debt.

“Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding” shall mean (i) any voluntary or involuntary case or proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law
with respect to any Liggett Guarantor, (ii) any other voluntary or involuntary insolvency, reorganization or bankruptcy case or
proceeding, or any receivership, liquidation, reorganization or other similar case or proceeding with respect to any Liggett
Guarantor or with respect to any of their respective assets, (iii) any proceeding seeking the appointment of any trustee, receiver,
liquidator, custodian or other insolvency official with similar powers with respect to such Person or any or all of its assets or
properties, (iv) any liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or winding up of any Liggett Guarantor whether voluntary or
involuntary and whether or not involving insolvency or bankruptcy or (v) any assignment for the benefit of creditors or any other
marshalling of assets and liabilities of any Liggett Guarantor.

“Lien Enforcement Action” shall mean (i) any action by any ABL Secured Party or Noteholder Secured Party to foreclose on the
Lien of such Person in all or a material portion of the ABL Collateral or exercise any right of repossession, levy, attachment, setoff
or liquidation against all or a material portion of the ABL Collateral, (ii) any action by any ABL Secured Party or Noteholder
Secured Party to take possession of, sell or otherwise realize (judicially or non judicially) upon all or a material portion of the ABL
Collateral (including, without limitation, by setoff), (iii) any action by any ABL Secured Party or Noteholder Secured Party to
facilitate the possession of, sale of or realization upon all or a material portion of the ABL Collateral including the solicitation of
bids from third parties to conduct the liquidation of all or any material portion of the ABL Collateral, the engagement or retention
of sales brokers, marketing agents, investment bankers, accountants, auctioneers or other third parties for the purpose of valuing,
marketing, promoting or selling all or any material portion of the ABL Collateral, (iv) the commencement by any ABL Secured
Party or Noteholder Secured Party of any legal proceedings against or with respect to all or a material portion of the ABL Collateral
to facilitate the actions described in (i) through (iii) above, or (v) any action to seek or request
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relief from or modification of the automatic stay or any other stay in any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding in respect of all or a
material portion of the ABL Collateral, or any proceeds thereof. For the purposes of this definition, (1) the notification of account
debtors to make payments to ABL Lender shall constitute a Lien Enforcement Action if and only if such action is coupled with an
action to take possession of all or a material portion of the ABL Collateral or the commencement of any legal proceedings or
actions against or with respect to the ABL Loan Parties of all or a material portion of the ABL Collateral, and (2) a material portion
of the ABL Collateral shall mean ABL Collateral having a value in excess of $10,000,000.

“Maximum Priority ABL Debt” shall mean, as of any date of determination, (i) principal of the ABL Debt (including undrawn
amounts under any letters of credit issued under the ABL Documents) up to $65,000,000 in the aggregate at any one time
outstanding, plus (ii) any interest on such amount (and including, without limitation, any interest which would accrue and become
due but for the commencement of Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding, whether or not such amounts are allowed or allowable in
whole or in part in such case or similar proceeding), plus (iii) the Maximum Priority Cash Management Obligations, plus (iv) the
Maximum Priority Hedging Obligations, plus (v) any fees, costs, expenses and indemnities payable under any of the ABL
Documents (and including, without limitation, any fees, costs, expenses and indemnities which would accrue and become due but
for the commencement of Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding, whether or not such amounts are allowed or allowable in whole or
in part in such case or similar proceeding) minus (vi) the amount of all permanent reductions in the commitments under the ABL
Documents and minus (vii) the amount of all permanent repayments of ABL Debt to the extent such repayments result in a
reduction of the commitments under the ABL Documents.

“Maximum Priority Cash Management Obligations” shall mean, as of any date of determination, the amount of the ABL Debt
constituting Cash Management Obligations outstanding on such date, up to $5,000,000 in the aggregate at any one time
outstanding.

“Maximum Priority Hedging Obligations” shall mean, as of any date of determination, the amount of the ABL Debt constituting
Hedging Obligations outstanding on such date, up to $5,000,000 in the aggregate at any one time outstanding.

“Noteholder Debt” shall mean all Obligations, including, without limitation, obligations, liabilities and indebtedness of every kind,
nature and description owing by the Company or any of the Guarantors to any Noteholder Secured Party, including principal,
interest, charges, fees, premiums, indemnities and expenses, however evidenced, whether as principal, surety, endorser, guarantor
or otherwise, arising under any of the Noteholder Documents, whether now existing or hereafter arising, whether arising before,
during or after the initial or any renewal term of the Noteholder Documents or after the commencement of any case with respect to
the Company or any Guarantors under the Bankruptcy Code or any other Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding (and including,
without limitation, any principal, interest, fees, costs, expenses and other amounts, which would accrue and become due but for the
commencement of such case, whether or not such amounts are allowed or allowable in whole or in part in such case or similar
proceeding), whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, joint or several, due or not due, primary or secondary, liquidated or
unliquidated, secured or unsecured.

“Noteholder Secured Parties” shall mean, collectively, (i) the trustee, solely in its capacity as trustee under the indenture and the
other Noteholder Documents, (ii) each holder of any note or notes, solely in its capacity as such holder, and each other person to
whom any of the Noteholder Debt is transferred or owed, solely in its capacity as such, (iii) the Collateral Agent, and (iv) the
successors, replacements and assigns of each of the foregoing; sometimes being referred to above in “— Intercreditor Agreement”
individually, as a “Noteholder Secured Party.”

“Permitted Actions” shall mean any of the following: (i) in any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding, filing a proof of claim or
statement of interest with respect to the Noteholder Debt or Excess ABL Debt, as the case may be; (ii) taking any action to preserve
or protect the validity, enforceability, perfection or priority of the Liens securing the Noteholder Debt or the Excess ABL Debt, as
the case may be, provided that no such action is, or could reasonably be expected to be, (1) as to any action by any Noteholder
Secured Party, adverse to the Liens securing the First Priority Debt or the rights of the ABL Lender or any other ABL Secured
Party to exercise remedies in respect thereof to the extent not expressly prohibited by this Agreement, (2) as to any
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action by any ABL Secured Party, adverse to the Liens securing the Noteholder Debt or the rights of the Collateral Agent or any
other Noteholder Secured Party to exercise remedies in respect thereof to the extent not expressly prohibited by the Intercreditor
Agreement, or (3) otherwise inconsistent with the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement, including the automatic release of Liens
provided in “— Release of Liens”; (iii) filing any responsive or defensive pleadings in opposition to any motion, claim, adversary
proceeding or other pleading made by any Person objecting to or otherwise seeking the disallowance of the claims of the
Noteholder Secured Parties or the claims of the ABL Secured Parties with respect to Excess ABL Debt, including any claims
secured by the ABL Collateral or otherwise making any agreements or filing any motions pertaining to the Noteholder Debt or
Excess ABL Debt, in each case, to the extent not inconsistent with the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement; (iv) exercising rights
and remedies as unsecured creditors, as further provided in the Intercreditor Agreement; and (v) the enforcement by the Collateral
Agent and the Noteholder Secured Parties of any of their rights and exercise any of their remedies with respect to the ABL
Collateral after the termination of the Standstill Period (as defined in “— Exercise of Rights and Remedies; Standstill”) or the
enforcement by the ABL Lender or the ABL Secured Parties of any of their rights and exercise of any of their remedies with
respect to the ABL Collateral after Discharge of Priority Noteholder Debt.

“Qualified Financier” shall mean (i) a commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States, or any state thereof, and
having total assets in excess of $500,000,000, (ii) a commercial bank organized under the laws of any other country which is a
member of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development or a political subdivision of any such country and which
has total assets in excess of $500,000,000; provided that such bank is acting through a branch or agency located in the United
States, and (iii) a commercial finance company, insurance company or other financial institution that is engaged in making,
purchasing or otherwise investing in commercial loans in the ordinary course of its business and having total assets in excess of
$500,000,000.

“Uniform Commercial Code” or “UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code as from time to time in effect in the State of New
York.

Collateral Documents

The Guarantors and the Collateral Agent have entered into one or more Collateral Documents granting in favor of the Collateral
Agent for the benefit of the holders of the notes Liens on the Collateral securing the Note Guarantees.

Whether prior to or after the First Priority Debt has been paid in full, assets included in the Collateral may be released from the
Liens securing the Note Guarantees under any one or more of the following circumstances:

1. the sale, lease, sublease, license, sublicense, conveyance or other disposition of products, services, inventory, or accounts
receivable and related assets (including participations therein) in the ordinary course of business, including leases with
respect to facilities that are temporarily not in use or pending their disposition, and any sale or other disposition of damaged,
worn-out or obsolete assets in the ordinary course of business or any other property that is uneconomic or no longer useful to
the conduct of the business of the Company or the Guarantors, which such transactions are expressly permitted under the
indenture;

2. as to any Collateral that is sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of by such Guarantor to a Person that is not (either before
or after such sale, transfer or disposition) the Company or a Guarantor in a transaction or other circumstance that complies
with the provisions of the indenture described below under “Certain Covenants — Asset Sales” and is permitted by the
Noteholder Documents, and, if the First Priority Debt has not been paid in full, the ABL Documents (as defined above under
“— Intercreditor Agreement”); provided that such Liens will not be released if such sale or disposition is subject to the
covenant described below under “Certain Covenants — Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Assets”;

3. if any Guarantor is released from its Note Guarantee, that Guarantor’s assets will also be released from the Liens securing
the Note Guarantee;
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4. with the consent of the holders of the requisite percentage of notes in accordance with the provisions of the indenture
described below under “— Amendment, Supplement and Waiver”; or

5. if required in connection with certain foreclosure actions by the ABL Lender in respect of First Priority Debt in accordance
with the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement.

The Liens on all Collateral that secure the Note Guarantees also may be released:

1. upon a Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance of the notes as described below under “— Legal Defeasance and
Covenant Defeasance”;

2. upon satisfaction and discharge of the indenture described below under “— Satisfaction and Discharge”; or

3. upon payment in full and discharge of all notes outstanding under the indenture and all Obligations that are outstanding, due
and payable under the indenture at the time the notes are paid in full and discharged.

Optional Redemption

At any time prior to February 15, 2016, the Company may redeem all or a part of the notes upon not less than 30 nor more than 60
days’ notice, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of notes to be redeemed plus the Applicable Premium as
of, and accrued and unpaid interest and Liquidated Damages, if any, to, the applicable redemption date, subject to the rights of
holders of notes on the relevant record date to receive interest on the relevant interest payment date.

At any time prior to February 15, 2016, the Company may on any one or more occasions redeem up to 35% of the aggregate
principal amount of notes issued under the indenture at a redemption price of 107.750% of the principal amount, plus accrued and
unpaid interest and Liquidated Damages, if any, to the redemption date, with the net cash proceeds of a sale of common Equity
Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Company; provided that:

1. at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of notes originally issued under the indenture (excluding notes held by the
Company and its Subsidiaries) remains outstanding immediately after the occurrence of such redemption; and

2. the redemption occurs within 90 days of the date of the closing of such sale of Equity Interests.

Except pursuant to the preceding paragraphs, the notes will not be redeemable at the Company’s option prior to February 15, 2016.

On or after February 15, 2016, the Company may redeem all or a part of the notes upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’
notice, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount) set forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest and
Liquidated Damages, if any, on the notes redeemed, to the applicable redemption date, if redeemed during the twelve-month period
beginning on February 15 of the years indicated below, subject to the rights of holders of notes on the relevant record date to
receive interest on the relevant interest payment date:

 
Year  Percentage
2016   105.813% 
2017   103.875% 
2018   101.938% 
2019 and thereafter   100.000% 

Unless the Company defaults in the payment of the redemption price, interest will cease to accrue on the notes or portions thereof
called for redemption on the applicable redemption date.

Mandatory Redemption; Open Market Purchases

The Company is not required to make mandatory redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the notes. The Company
may at any time and from time to time purchase notes in the open market or otherwise provided any such purchase does not
otherwise violate the provisions of the indenture.
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Repurchase at the Option of Holders

Change of Control

If a Change of Control occurs, each holder of notes will have the right to require the Company to repurchase all or any part (equal
to $2,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000 in excess thereof) of that holder’s notes pursuant to a Change of Control Offer on the
terms set forth in the indenture. In the Change of Control Offer, the Company will offer a Change of Control Payment in cash equal
to 101% of the aggregate principal amount of notes repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest and Liquidated Damages, if any,
on the notes repurchased to the date of purchase, subject to the rights of holders of notes on the relevant record date to receive
interest due on the relevant interest payment date. Within 30 days following any Change of Control, the Company will mail a notice
to each holder describing the transaction or transactions that constitute the Change of Control and offering to repurchase notes on
the Change of Control Payment Date specified in the notice, which date will be no earlier than 30 days and no later than 60 days
from the date such notice is mailed, pursuant to the procedures required by the indenture and described in such notice. The
Company will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and regulations
thereunder to the extent those laws and regulations are applicable in connection with the repurchase of the notes as a result of a
Change of Control. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the Change of Control
provisions of the indenture, the Company will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and will not be deemed to
have breached its obligations under the Change of Control provisions of the indenture by virtue of such compliance.

On the Change of Control Payment Date, the Company will, to the extent lawful:

1. accept for payment all notes or portions of notes properly tendered pursuant to the Change of Control Offer;

2. deposit with the paying agent an amount equal to the Change of Control Payment in respect of all notes or portions of notes
properly tendered; and

3. deliver or cause to be delivered to the trustee the notes properly accepted together with an officers’ certificate stating the
aggregate principal amount of notes or portions of notes being purchased by the Company.

The paying agent will promptly mail to each holder of notes properly tendered the Change of Control Payment for such notes, and
the trustee will promptly authenticate and mail (or cause to be transferred by book entry) to each holder a new note equal in
principal amount to any unpurchased portion of the notes surrendered, if any. The Company will publicly announce the results of
the Change of Control Offer on or as soon as practicable after the Change of Control Payment Date.

The provisions described above that require the Company to make a Change of Control Offer following a Change of Control will
be applicable whether or not any other provisions of the indenture are applicable. Except as described above with respect to a
Change of Control, the indenture does not contain provisions that permit the holders of the notes to require that the Company
repurchase or redeem the notes in the event of a takeover, recapitalization or similar transaction.

The Company will not be required to make a Change of Control Offer upon a Change of Control if (1) a third party makes the
Change of Control Offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in the indenture
applicable to a Change of Control Offer made by the Company and purchases all notes properly tendered and not withdrawn under
the Change of Control Offer, or (2) notice of redemption has been given pursuant to the indenture as described above under the
caption “— Optional Redemption,” unless and until there is a default in payment of the applicable redemption price. A Change of
Control Offer may be made in advance of a Change of Control, conditional upon such Change of Control, if a definitive agreement
is in place for the Change of Control at the time of the Change of Control Offer. Notes repurchased pursuant to a Change of Control
Offer will be retired and cancelled.

The definition of Change of Control as used in the indenture includes a phrase relating to the direct or indirect sale, lease, transfer,
conveyance or other disposition of “all or substantially all” of the properties or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as
a whole. Although there is a limited body of case law interpreting
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the phrase “substantially all,” there is no precise established definition of the phrase under applicable law. Accordingly, the ability
of a holder of notes to require the Company to repurchase its notes as a result of a sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other
disposition of less than all of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole to another Person or group may be
uncertain.

The Change of Control provisions described above may deter certain mergers, tender offers and other takeover attempts involving
the Company by increasing the capital required to effectuate such transactions.

Asset Sales

Other than as set forth below, neither the Company nor any Guarantor will consummate an Asset Sale unless:

1. The Company or the Guarantor, as the case may be, receives consideration at the time of the Asset Sale at least equal to the
Fair Market Value of the assets or Equity Interests issued or sold or otherwise disposed of; and

2. at least 75% of the consideration received in the Asset Sale by the Company or such Guarantor is in the form of cash. For
purposes of this provision, each of the following will be deemed to be cash:

A. any liabilities, as shown on the Company’s most recent consolidated balance sheet, of the Company or any Guarantor
(other than contingent liabilities and liabilities that are by their terms subordinated to the notes or any Note Guarantee)
that are assumed by the transferee of any such assets pursuant to a customary novation agreement that releases the
Company or such Guarantor from further liability;

B. any securities, notes or other obligations received by the Company or any such Guarantor from such transferee that are,
subject to ordinary settlement periods, converted by the Company or such Guarantor into cash within 90 days of such
Asset Sale, to the extent of the cash received in that conversion; and

C. any stock or assets of the kind referred to in clauses 2 or 4 of the next paragraph of this covenant.

Within 365 days after the receipt of any Net Proceeds from an Asset Sale, other than a Sale of Collateral, the Company (or the
applicable Guarantor, as the case may be) may apply such Net Proceeds at its option:

1. to repay Indebtedness and other Obligations under the Liggett Credit Agreement and correspondingly reduce commitments
with respect thereto;

2. to acquire all or substantially all of the assets of, or any Capital Stock of, another business, if, after giving effect to any such
acquisition of Capital Stock, the business is or becomes a Guarantor;

3. to make a capital expenditure; or

4. to acquire other assets that are not classified as current assets under GAAP and that are used or useful in the conduct of the
Company’s or any Guarantor’s business.

Notwithstanding the above, the Company may consummate any Asset Sale with respect to assets other than Equity Interests in, or
assets of, any Guarantor without complying with the provisions of this covenant.

With respect to an Asset Sale that constitutes a Sale of Collateral, within 365 days after the receipt of any Net Proceeds from an
Asset Sale that constitutes a Sale of Collateral, the Guarantor that owned those assets, as the case may be, may apply those Net
Proceeds to purchase other long-term assets that would constitute Collateral or to repay First Priority Debt and, if such First Priority
Debt is revolving credit Indebtedness, to correspondingly reduce commitments with respect thereto.

Pending the final application of any Net Proceeds, the Company may temporarily reduce revolving credit borrowings or otherwise
invest the Net Proceeds in any manner that is not prohibited by the indenture.

Any Net Proceeds from Asset Sales that are not applied or invested as provided in the second paragraph of this covenant will
constitute “Excess Proceeds.” When the aggregate amount of Excess Proceeds exceeds $10.0 million, within five days thereof, the
Company will make an Asset Sale Offer to all holders of Parity Lien Debt and all holders of other Indebtedness that is pari passu
with the notes containing provisions similar
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to those set forth in the indenture with respect to offers to purchase or redeem with the proceeds of sales of assets to purchase the
maximum principal amount of Parity Lien Debt and such other pari passu Indebtedness that may be purchased out of the Excess
Proceeds. The offer price in any Asset Sale Offer will be equal to percentages corresponding to the applicable optional redemption
price in effect on the repurchase date, and for periods prior to February 15, 2016, the first optional redemption price of the principal
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest and Liquidated Damages, if any, to the date of purchase, and will be payable in cash. If
any Excess Proceeds remain after consummation of an Asset Sale Offer, the Company may use those Excess Proceeds for any
purpose not otherwise prohibited by the indenture. If the aggregate principal amount of Parity Lien Debt and other pari passu
Indebtedness tendered into such Asset Sale Offer exceeds the amount of Excess Proceeds, the trustee will select the Parity Lien
Debt and other pari passu Indebtedness to be purchased on a pro rata basis. Upon completion of each Asset Sale Offer, the amount
of Excess Proceeds will be reset at zero.

The Company will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and
regulations thereunder to the extent those laws and regulations are applicable in connection with each repurchase of notes pursuant
to an Asset Sale Offer. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the Asset Sale provisions
of the indenture, the Company will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and will not be deemed to have
breached its obligations under the Asset Sale provisions of the indenture by virtue of such compliance.

The Liggett Credit Agreement and the agreements governing the Company’s other Indebtedness contain, and future agreements
may contain, prohibitions of certain events, including events that would constitute a Change of Control or an Asset Sale. The
exercise by the holders of notes of their right to require the Company to repurchase the notes upon a Change of Control or an Asset
Sale could cause a default under these other agreements, even if the Change of Control or Asset Sale itself does not, due to the
financial effect of such repurchases on the Company. In the event a Change of Control or Asset Sale occurs at a time when the
Company is unable to the purchase notes due to such conditions or financial effects, the Company could attempt to refinance the
borrowings that contain such conditions or cause or contribute to such financial effects or obtain a waiver or consent with respect to
such conditions. If the Company does not obtain such a waiver or consent or repay those borrowings, the Company will remain
prohibited from purchasing notes. In that case, the Company’s failure to purchase tendered notes would constitute an Event of
Default under the indenture which could, in turn, constitute a default under the other Indebtedness. Finally, the Company’s ability
to pay cash to the holders of notes upon a repurchase may be limited by the Company’s then existing financial resources. See “Risk
Factors — Risks Related to the Notes and the Exchange Offer — Our ability to purchase the notes with cash at your option upon a
change of control may be limited.”

Selection and Notice

If less than all of the notes are to be redeemed at any time, the trustee will select notes for redemption on a pro rata or by lot basis
unless otherwise required by law, DTC’s procedures or applicable stock exchange requirements.

No notes of $2,000 or less can be redeemed in part. Notices of redemption will be mailed by first class mail at least 30 but not more
than 60 days before the redemption date to each holder of notes to be redeemed at its registered address, except that redemption
notices may be mailed more than 60 days prior to a redemption date if the notice is issued in connection with a defeasance of the
notes or a satisfaction and discharge of the indenture. Notices of redemption may not be conditional.

If any note is to be redeemed in part only, the notice of redemption that relates to that note will state the portion of the principal
amount of that note that is to be redeemed. A new note in principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the original note
will be issued in the name of the holder of notes upon cancellation of the original note. Notes called for redemption become due on
the date fixed for redemption. On and after the redemption date, interest ceases to accrue on notes or portions of notes called for
redemption.
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Certain Covenants

Restricted Payments

Neither the Company nor any Guarantor will, directly or indirectly:

1. declare or pay any dividend or make any other payment or distribution on account of the Company’s or such Guarantor’s
Equity Interests (including, without limitation, any payment in connection with any merger or consolidation involving the
Company or any Guarantor) or to the direct or indirect holders of the Company’s or any such Guarantor’s Equity Interests in
their capacity as such (other than dividends or distributions payable in Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) of the
Company and other than dividends or any other payments or distributions payable to the Company or a Guarantor);

2. purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire or retire for value (including, without limitation, in connection with any merger or
consolidation involving the Company) any Equity Interests of the Company;

3. make any payment on or with respect to, or purchase, redeem, defease or otherwise acquire or retire for value any
Indebtedness of the Company or any Guarantor that is contractually subordinated to the notes or to any Note Guarantee
(excluding any intercompany Indebtedness between or among the Company and any of the Guarantors), except a payment of
interest or principal at the Stated Maturity thereof; or

4. make any Restricted Investment (all such payments and other actions set forth in these clauses 1 through 4 above being
collectively referred to as “Restricted Payments”),

unless at the time of such Restricted Payment, the Company’s Consolidated EBITDA for the most recently ended four full fiscal
quarters for which internal financial statements are available is no less than $75.0 million, provided that the Company shall not be
permitted to make any distribution or dividend of any Equity Interests in, or non-cash assets of, any Guarantor.

The preceding provisions will not prohibit:

1. the payment of any dividend or other distribution or the consummation of any irrevocable redemption within 60 days after
the date of declaration of the dividend or other distribution or giving of the redemption notice, as the case may be, if at the
date of declaration or notice, the dividend or other distribution or redemption payment would have complied with the
provisions of the indenture;

2. so long as no Default has occurred and is continuing or would be caused thereby, the making of any Restricted Payment in
exchange for, or out of the net cash proceeds of the substantially concurrent sale (other than to a Subsidiary of the Company)
of, Equity Interests of the Company (other than Disqualified Stock) or from the substantially concurrent contribution of
common equity capital to the Company;

3. so long as no Default has occurred and is continuing or would be caused thereby, the repurchase, redemption, defeasance or
other acquisition or retirement for value of Indebtedness of the Company or any Guarantor that is contractually subordinated
to the notes or to any Note Guarantee with the net cash proceeds from a substantially concurrent incurrence of Permitted
Refinancing Indebtedness;

4. the payment of any dividend (or, in the case of any partnership or limited liability company, any similar distribution) by a
Guarantor to the holders of its Equity Interests on a pro rata basis;

5. the repurchase of Equity Interests deemed to occur upon the exercise of stock options, warrants or other convertible or
exchangeable securities to the extent such Equity Interests represent a portion of the exercise price of those stock options,
warrants or other convertible or exchangeable securities;
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6. so long as no Default has occurred and is continuing or would be caused thereby, the declaration and payment of regularly
scheduled or accrued dividends to holders of any class or series of Disqualified Stock of the Company or any Guarantor
issued on or after the date of the indenture in accordance with the Leverage Ratio and Secured Leverage Ratio tests
described below under the caption “— Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock”; and

7. the distribution of the Equity Interests of Eve to the Company in order to contribute such Equity Interests to Vector Tobacco,
provided that Eve shall remain a Guarantor.

The amount of all Restricted Payments (other than cash) will be the Fair Market Value on the date of the Restricted Payment of the
asset(s) or securities proposed to be transferred or issued by the Company or such Guarantor, as the case may be, pursuant to the
Restricted Payment. The Fair Market Value of any assets or securities that are required to be valued by this covenant will be
determined by the Board of Directors of the Company whose resolution with respect thereto will be delivered to the trustee. The
Board of Directors’ determination must be based upon an opinion or appraisal issued by an accounting, appraisal or investment
banking firm of national standing if the Fair Market Value exceeds $10.0 million.

Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock

Neither the Company nor any Guarantor will, directly or indirectly, create, incur, issue, assume, guarantee or otherwise become
directly or indirectly liable, contingently or otherwise, with respect to (collectively, “incur”) any Indebtedness (including Acquired
Debt), and the Company will not issue any Disqualified Stock and none of the Guarantors will issue any shares of preferred stock;
provided, however, that the Company may incur Indebtedness (including Acquired Debt) or issue Disqualified Stock, and the
Guarantors may incur Indebtedness (including Acquired Debt) or issue preferred stock, if the Leverage Ratio and the Secured
Leverage Ratio for the Company’s most recently ended four full fiscal quarters for which internal financial statements are available
immediately preceding the date on which such additional Indebtedness is incurred or such Disqualified Stock or preferred stock is
issued, as the case may be, would have been no greater than 3.0 to 1.0 in respect of the Leverage Ratio and 1.5 to 1.0 in respect of
the Secured Leverage Ratio, determined on a pro forma basis (including a pro forma application of the net proceeds therefrom), as
if the additional Indebtedness had been incurred or the Disqualified Stock or preferred stock had been issued, as the case may be, at
the beginning of such four quarter period.

The first paragraph of this covenant will not prohibit the incurrence of any of the following items of Indebtedness (collectively,
“Permitted Debt”):

1. the incurrence by the Company and any of the Guarantors of additional Indebtedness and letters of credit under Credit
Facilities in an aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding under this clause 1 (with letters of credit being
deemed to have a principal amount equal to the maximum potential liability of the Company and the Guarantors thereunder)
not to exceed $60.0 million less the aggregate amount of all Net Proceeds of Asset Sales applied by the Company or any of
the Guarantors since the date of the indenture to repay any term Indebtedness under a Credit Facility or to repay any
revolving credit Indebtedness under a Credit Facility and effect a corresponding commitment reduction thereunder pursuant
to the covenant described above under the caption “— Repurchase at the Option of Holders — Asset Sales”;

2. the incurrence by the Company and the Guarantors of the Existing Indebtedness;

3. the incurrence by the Company and the Guarantors of Indebtedness represented by the Original Notes and the related Note
Guarantees issued on the date of the indenture and the New Notes and the related Note Guarantees to be issued pursuant to
this prospectus;

4. the incurrence by the Company or any of the Guarantors of Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness in exchange for, or the net
proceeds of which are used to renew, refund, refinance, replace, defease or discharge any Indebtedness (other than
intercompany Indebtedness) that was permitted by the indenture to be incurred under the first paragraph of this covenant or
clauses 2, 3 and 4 of this paragraph;
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5. the incurrence by the Company or any of the Guarantors of intercompany Indebtedness between or among the Company and
any of the Guarantors; provided, however, that:

A. any subsequent issuance or transfer of Equity Interests that results in any such Indebtedness being held by a Person other
than the Company or a Guarantor and

B. any sale or other transfer of any such Indebtedness to a Person that is not either the Company or a Guarantor,

will be deemed, in each case, to constitute an incurrence of such Indebtedness by the Company or such Guarantor, as the
case may be, that was not permitted by this clause 5;

6. the issuance by any of the Guarantors to the Company or to any of the Guarantors of shares of preferred stock; provided,
however, that:

A. any subsequent issuance or transfer of Equity Interests that results in any such preferred stock being held by a Person
other than the Company or a Guarantor; and

B. any sale or other transfer of any such preferred stock to a Person that is not either the Company or a Guarantor,

will be deemed, in each case, to constitute an issuance of such preferred stock by such Guarantor that was not permitted by
this clause 6;

7. the guarantee by the Company or any of the Guarantors of Indebtedness of the Company or a Guarantor that was permitted
to be incurred by another provision of this covenant; provided that if the Indebtedness being guaranteed is subordinated to or
pari passu with the notes, then the Guarantee shall be subordinated or pari passu, as applicable, to the same extent as the
Indebtedness guaranteed;

8. the incurrence by the Company or any of the Guarantors of Indebtedness in respect of workers’ compensation claims, self-
insurance obligations, bankers’ acceptances, performance and surety bonds, appeal or other similar bonds in the ordinary
course of business, and in any such case any reimbursement obligations in connection therewith;

9. the incurrence by the Company or any of the Guarantors of Indebtedness arising from the honoring by a bank or other
financial institution of a check, draft or similar instrument inadvertently drawn against insufficient funds, so long as such
Indebtedness is covered within five business days;

10. the incurrence by the Company or any of the Guarantors of Indebtedness represented by Capital Lease Obligations, purchase
money obligations or other obligations, in each case incurred for the purpose of financing all or any part of the purchase
price, cost or value of any equipment used in the business of the Company or any of the Guarantors, in an aggregate
principal amount, including all Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness incurred to renew, refund, refinance, replace, defease or
discharge any Indebtedness incurred pursuant to this clause 10, not to exceed $10.0 million at any time outstanding;

11. the incurrence by the Company or any of the Guarantors of Hedging Obligations;

12. indebtedness of the Company or any of the Guarantors to the extent the net proceeds thereof are promptly deposited to
defease or satisfy and discharge all outstanding notes in full as described below under “— Legal Defeasance and Covenant
Defeasance” and “— Satisfaction and Discharge”;

13. obligations of the Company and any of the Guarantors arising from agreements of the Company or a Guarantor providing
for indemnification, adjustment of purchase price or similar obligations, in each case incurred or assumed in connection with
the disposition of any business, assets or a Subsidiary of the Company in accordance with the terms of the indenture, other
than Guarantees by the Company or any Guarantor of Indebtedness incurred by any Person acquiring all or any portion of
such business, assets or a Subsidiary of the Company for the purpose of financing such acquisition; provided, however, that
the maximum aggregate liability in respect of all such obligations shall not exceed the gross proceeds, including the fair
market value as determined in good faith by the Board
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of Directors of the Company of non-cash proceeds (the fair market value of such non-cash proceeds being measured at the
time received and without giving effect to any subsequent changes in value), actually received by the Company and the
Guarantors in connection with such disposition; or

14. obligations of the Company and any of the Guarantors arising from the entering into, maintaining or disposing of, Core
Investments, including, without limitation, purchasing of any Core Investment on margin, any capital call obligations, make-
well arrangements, hedging obligations of any nature or any obligations regarding a short position in any of such Core
Investments.

The Company will not incur, and will not permit any Guarantor to incur, any Indebtedness (including Permitted Debt) that is
contractually subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness of the Company or such Guarantor unless such
Indebtedness is also contractually subordinated in right of payment to the notes and the applicable Note Guarantee on substantially
identical terms; provided, however, that no Indebtedness will be deemed to be contractually subordinated in right of payment to any
other Indebtedness of the Company solely by virtue of being unsecured or by virtue of being secured on a first or junior Lien basis.

For purposes of determining compliance with this “Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock” covenant, in the
event that an item of Indebtedness meets the criteria of more than one of the categories of Permitted Debt described in clauses 1
through 14 above, or is entitled to be incurred pursuant to the first paragraph of this covenant, the Company will be permitted to
classify such item of Indebtedness on the date of its incurrence, or later reclassify all or a portion of such item of Indebtedness, in
any manner that complies with this covenant. Indebtedness under Credit Facilities outstanding on the date on which notes are first
issued and authenticated under the indenture will initially be deemed to have been incurred on such date in reliance on the
exception provided by clause 1 of the definition of Permitted Debt. Indebtedness permitted by this covenant need not be permitted
by reference to one provision permitting such Indebtedness but may be permitted in part by one such provision and in part by one
or more other provisions of this covenant permitting such Indebtedness. The accrual of interest, the accretion or amortization of
original issue discount, the payment of interest on any Indebtedness in the form of additional Indebtedness with the same terms, the
reclassification of preferred stock as Indebtedness due to a change in accounting principles, and the payment of dividends on
Disqualified Stock in the form of additional shares of the same class of Disqualified Stock will not be deemed to be an incurrence
of Indebtedness or an issuance of Disqualified Stock for purposes of this covenant. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
covenant, the maximum amount of Indebtedness that the Company or any Guarantor may incur pursuant to this covenant shall not
be deemed to be exceeded solely as a result of fluctuations in exchange rates or currency values.

The amount of any Indebtedness outstanding as of any date will be:

1. the accreted value of the Indebtedness, in the case of any Indebtedness issued with original issue discount;

2. the principal amount of the Indebtedness, in the case of any other Indebtedness; and

3. in respect of Indebtedness of another Person secured by a Lien on the assets of the specified Person, the lesser of:

A. the Fair Market Value of such assets at the date of determination; and

B. the amount of the Indebtedness of the other Person.

Liens

Neither the Company nor any Guarantor will, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien of any kind on
any asset now owned or hereafter acquired, except Permitted Liens.
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Dividend and Other Payment Restrictions Affecting Subsidiaries

Neither the Company nor any Guarantor will, directly or indirectly, create or permit to exist or become effective any consensual
encumbrance or restriction on the ability of any Guarantor to:

1. pay dividends or make any other distributions on its Capital Stock to the Company or any Guarantor, or with respect to any
other interest or participation in, or measured by, its profits, or pay any Indebtedness owed to the Company or any
Guarantor;

2. make loans or advances to the Company or any of the Guarantors; or

3. sell, lease or transfer any of its properties or assets to the Company or any Guarantor.

However, the preceding restrictions will not apply to encumbrances or restrictions existing under or by reason of:

1. agreements governing Existing Indebtedness and Credit Facilities as in effect on the date of the indenture and any
amendments, restatements, modifications, renewals, supplements, refundings, replacements or refinancings of those
agreements; provided that the amendments, restatements, modifications, renewals, supplements, refundings, replacements or
refinancings are not materially more restrictive, taken as a whole, with respect to such dividend and other payment
restrictions than those contained in those agreements on the date of the indenture;

2. the indenture, the notes, the Note Guarantees and the Collateral Documents;

3. applicable law, rule, regulation or order;

4. any instrument governing Indebtedness or Capital Stock of a Person acquired by the Company or any of the Guarantors as in
effect at the time of such acquisition (except to the extent such Indebtedness or Capital Stock was incurred in connection
with or in contemplation of such acquisition), which encumbrance or restriction is not applicable to any Person, or the
properties or assets of any Person, other than the Person, or the property or assets of the Person, so acquired; provided that,
in the case of Indebtedness, such Indebtedness was permitted by the terms of the indenture to be incurred;

5. customary non-assignment provisions in contracts, leases and licenses entered into in the ordinary course of business or that
restrict the subletting, assignment or transfer of any property or asset that is subject to a lease, license or similar contract;

6. purchase money obligations for property acquired in the ordinary course of business and Capital Lease Obligations that
impose restrictions on the property purchased or leased of the nature described in clause 3 of the preceding paragraph;

7. any agreement for the sale or other disposition of a Guarantor that restricts distributions by that Guarantor pending the sale
or other disposition;

8. Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness; provided that the encumbrances and restrictions contained in the agreements governing
such Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness are not materially more restrictive, taken as a whole, than those contained in the
agreements governing the Indebtedness being refinanced as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the
Company;

9. Liens permitted to be incurred under the provisions of the covenant described above under the caption “— Liens” that limit
the right of the debtor to dispose of the assets subject to such Liens;

10. provisions limiting the disposition or distribution of assets or property in joint venture agreements, asset sale agreements,
sale-leaseback agreements, stock sale agreements and other similar agreements entered into with the approval of the
Company’s Board of Directors, which limitation is applicable only to the assets that are the subject of such agreements;

11. restrictions on cash or other deposits or net worth imposed by customers under contracts entered into in the ordinary course
of business;
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12. provisions limiting the disposition or distribution of assets in joint venture agreements entered into (i) in the ordinary course
of business or (ii) with the approval of the Company’s or the Guarantor’s Board of Directors or chief financial officer, which
limitation or prohibition is applicable only to the assets that are the subject of such agreements;

13. net worth provisions in leases and other agreements entered into by the Company or any Guarantor in the ordinary course of
business; or

14. agreements governing Indebtedness permitted to be incurred pursuant to the covenant described under “— Incurrence of
Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock”; provided, that the Board of Directors of the Company determines in good
faith (such determination to be evidenced by a resolution of the Board of Directors) that such encumbrances and restrictions
are not materially more restrictive, taken as a whole, than those in agreements in the Liggett Credit Agreement (as in effect
on the date of the indenture) and would not reasonably be expected to impair the ability of the Company to make payments
of interest and scheduled payments of principal on the notes, in each case as and when due, or to impair any Guarantor’s
ability to honor its Note Guarantee.

Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Assets

The Company will not, directly or indirectly: (1) consolidate or merge with or into another Person (whether or not the Company is
the surviving corporation); or (2) sell, assign, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the properties or
assets of the Company and the Guarantors taken as a whole, in one or more related transactions, to another Person, unless:

1. either: (a) the Company is the surviving corporation; or (b) the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or
merger (if other than the Company) or to which such sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition has been
made is (i) a corporation organized or existing under the laws of the United States, any state of the United States or the
District of Columbia or (ii) a limited partnership or limited liability company organized or existing under the laws of the
United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia that has a wholly owned Subsidiary that is a corporation
organized or existing under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia, which corporation
becomes a co-issuer of the notes pursuant to a supplemental indenture duly and validly executed by the trustee;

2. the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger (if other than the Company) or the Person to which such
sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition has been made assumes all the obligations of the Company under
the notes, the indenture, the registration rights agreement and the Collateral Documents pursuant to agreements reasonably
satisfactory to the trustee;

3. immediately after such transaction, no Default or Event of Default exists; and

4. the Company or the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger (if other than the Company), or to
which such sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition has been made would, on the date of such transaction
after giving pro forma effect thereto and any related financing transactions as if the same had occurred at the beginning of
the applicable four-quarter period, be permitted to incur at least $1.00 of additional Indebtedness pursuant to the Leverage
Ratio and Secured Leverage Ratio tests set forth in the first paragraph of the covenant described above under the caption “—
Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock.”

In addition, the Company will not, directly or indirectly, lease all or substantially all of the properties and assets of it and the
Guarantors taken as a whole, in one or more related transactions, to any other Person.

This “Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Assets” covenant will not apply to:

1. a merger of the Company with an Affiliate solely for the purpose of reincorporating the Company in another jurisdiction; or
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2. any consolidation or merger, or any sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, lease or other disposition of assets between or
among the Company and any of the Guarantors that are not any of the Liggett Guarantors.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not consolidate or merge with or into any of the Liggett Guarantors, nor sell,
assign, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of the Company and the
Guarantors taken as a whole, in one or more transactions, to any of the Liggett Guarantors.

Transactions with Affiliates

Except as set forth in the last paragraph of this covenant below, neither the Company nor any Guarantor will make any payment to,
or sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its properties or assets to, or purchase any property or assets from, or enter into
or make or amend any transaction, contract, agreement, understanding, loan, advance or guarantee with, or for the benefit of, any
Affiliate of the Company (each, an “Affiliate Transaction”), unless:

1. the Affiliate Transaction is on terms that are no less favorable to the Company or the relevant Guarantor than those that
would have been obtained in a comparable transaction by the Company or such Guarantor with an unrelated Person; and

2. the Company delivers to the trustee:

A. with respect to any Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions involving aggregate consideration in
excess of $3.0 million, a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company set forth in an officers’ certificate
certifying that such Affiliate Transaction complies with this covenant and that such Affiliate Transaction has been
approved by a majority of the disinterested members, if any, of the Board of Directors of the Company; and

B. with respect to any Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions involving aggregate consideration in
excess of $10.0 million, an opinion as to the fairness to the Company or such Guarantor of such Affiliate Transaction
from a financial point of view issued by an accounting, appraisal or investment banking firm of national standing.

The following items will not be deemed to be Affiliate Transactions and, therefore, will not be subject to the provisions of the prior
paragraph:

1. any consulting or employment agreement or arrangement, employee benefit plan, officer indemnification agreement or any
similar arrangement entered into by the Company or any of the Guarantors and payments pursuant thereto;

2. transactions between or among the Company and/or the Guarantors;

3. transactions with a Person (other than an Unrestricted Subsidiary of the Company) that is an Affiliate of the Company solely
because the Company owns, directly or through a Guarantor, an Equity Interest in, or controls, such Person;

4. payment of reasonable directors’ fees (including the issuance of restricted stock) to directors of the Company and other
reasonable compensation, benefits and indemnities paid or provided by the Company to the directors of the Company in
their capacities as directors;

5. any sale, grant, award or issuance of Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Company, including the exercise
of options and warrants, to Affiliates, officers, directors or employees of the Company;

6. Restricted Payments that do not violate the provisions of the indenture described above under the caption “— Restricted
Payments”;

7. loans or advances to employees in the ordinary course of business not to exceed $1.0 million in the aggregate at any one
time outstanding;
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8. Permitted Investments; and

9. Accelerated Note Conversions.

If on the date of any Affiliate Transaction (other than an Affiliate Transaction between any of the Liggett Guarantors and any
Affiliate of the Company other than the Company or another Guarantor) the Company’s Consolidated EBITDA for the most
recently ended four full fiscal quarters for which internal financial statements are available is no less than $75.0 million, the
provisions of this covenant shall not apply to the consummation of such Affiliate Transaction.

Additional Note Guarantees

If the Company or any of the Guarantors acquires or creates another Domestic Subsidiary after the date of the indenture (i) engaged
directly or indirectly in the cigarette businesses or (ii) that is or becomes a borrower, obligor or guarantor under the Liggett Credit
Agreement, then that newly acquired or created Domestic Subsidiary will become a Guarantor and execute a supplemental
indenture and, in the case of (ii), Collateral Documents consistent with those entered into by the Liggett Guarantors and deliver an
opinion of counsel satisfactory to the trustee within 10 business days of the date on which it was acquired or created.

Unrestricted Subsidiaries

In no event may the business operated by Liggett Group LLC on the date of the indenture be transferred to or held by an
Unrestricted Subsidiary.

Limitation on Sale and Leaseback Transactions

Neither the Company nor any Guarantor will enter into any sale and leaseback transaction; provided that the Company or a
Guarantor may enter into a sale and leaseback transaction if:

1. the Company or that Guarantor, as applicable, could have (a) incurred Indebtedness in an amount equal to the Attributable
Debt relating to such sale and leaseback transaction under the Leverage Ratio and Secured Leverage Ratio tests in the first
paragraph of the covenant described above under the caption “— Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred
Stock” and (b) incurred a Lien to secure such Indebtedness pursuant to the covenant described above under the caption “—
Liens”;

2. the gross cash proceeds of that sale and leaseback transaction are at least equal to the Fair Market Value, as determined in
good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company and set forth in an officers’ certificate delivered to the trustee, of the
property that is the subject of that sale and leaseback transaction; and

3. the transfer of assets in that sale and leaseback transaction is permitted by, and the Company applies the proceeds of such
transaction in compliance with, the covenant described above under the caption “— Repurchase at the Option of
Holders — Asset Sales.”

Payments for Consent

Neither the Company nor any Guarantor will, directly or indirectly, pay or cause to be paid any consideration to or for the benefit of
any holder of notes for or as an inducement to any consent, waiver or amendment of any of the terms or provisions of the indenture,
the Collateral Documents or the notes unless such consideration is offered to be paid and is paid to all holders of the notes that
consent, waive or agree to amend in the time frame set forth in the solicitation documents relating to such consent, waiver or
agreement.

Reports

Whether or not required by the rules and regulations of the SEC, so long as any notes are outstanding, the Company will furnish to
the holders of notes or cause the trustee to furnish to the holders of notes, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
regulations:

1. all quarterly and annual reports that would be required to be filed with the SEC on Forms 10-Q and 10-K if the Company
were required to file such reports; and

2. all current reports that would be required to be filed with the SEC on Form 8-K if the Company were required to file such
reports.
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All such reports will be prepared in all material respects in accordance with all of the rules and regulations applicable to such
reports. Each annual report on Form 10-K will include a report on the Company’s consolidated financial statements by the
Company’s certified independent accountants. In addition, the Company will file a copy of each of the reports referred to in clauses
1 and 2 above with the SEC for public availability within the time periods specified in the rules and regulations applicable to such
reports (unless the SEC will not accept such a filing) and will post the reports on its website within those time periods.

If, at any time, the Company is no longer subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act for any reason, the
Company will nevertheless continue filing the reports specified in the preceding paragraphs of this covenant with the SEC within
the time periods specified above unless the SEC will not accept such a filing. The Company will not take any action for the purpose
of causing the SEC not to accept any such filings. If, notwithstanding the foregoing, the SEC will not accept the Company’s filings
for any reason, the Company will post the reports referred to in the preceding paragraphs on its website within the time periods that
would apply if the Company were required to file those reports with the SEC.

To the extent required by the SEC, the quarterly and annual financial information required by the preceding paragraphs will include
a reasonably detailed presentation, either on the face of the financial statements or in the footnotes thereto, and in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, of the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company and the Guarantors separate from the financial condition and results of operations of the Unrestricted Subsidiaries of
the Company.

In addition, the Company and the Guarantors agree that, for so long as any notes remain outstanding, if at any time they are not
required to file with the SEC the reports required by the preceding paragraphs, they will furnish to the holders of notes and to
securities analysts and prospective investors, upon their request, the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)
(4) under the Securities Act.

Events of Default and Remedies

Each of the following is an “Event of Default”:

1. default for 30 days in the payment when due of interest on, or Liquidated Damages, if any, with respect to, the notes;

2. default in the payment when due (at maturity, upon redemption or otherwise) of the principal of, or premium, if any, on, the
notes, or default in the payment when due of a Change of Control Payment;

3. failure by the Company or any of the Guarantors for 30 days after notice to the Company by the trustee or the holders of at
least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding voting as a single class to comply with the provisions
described under the captions “— Repurchase at the Option of Holders — Asset Sales,” “— Certain Covenants — Restricted
Payments” and “— Certain Covenants — Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock”;

4. failure by the Company or any of the Guarantors for 60 days after notice to the Company by the trustee or the holders of at
least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding voting as a single class to comply with any of the
other agreements in the indenture or the Collateral Documents;

5. default under any mortgage, indenture or instrument under which there may be issued or by which there may be secured or
evidenced any Indebtedness for money borrowed by the Company or any of the Guarantors (or the payment of which is
guaranteed by the Company or any of the Guarantors), whether such Indebtedness or Guarantee now exists, or is created
after the date of the indenture, if that default:

A. is caused by a failure to pay principal of, or interest or premium, if any, on, such Indebtedness prior to the expiration of
the grace period provided in such Indebtedness on the date of such default (a “Payment Default”); or

B. results in the acceleration of such Indebtedness prior to its express maturity,

and, in each case, the principal amount of any such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such
Indebtedness under which there has been a Payment Default or the maturity of
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which has been so accelerated, aggregates $10 million or more and such acceleration is not annulled within 30 days thereof
or such payment default continues for 30 days;

6. failure by the Company or any of the Guarantors to pay final non-appealable judgments entered by a court or courts of
competent jurisdiction aggregating in excess of $10 million (net of any amounts as to which a reputable and solvent third
party insurer has accepted full coverage), which judgments are not paid, discharged, bonded or stayed for a period of 60
days;

7. breach by the Company or any of the Guarantors of any material representation or warranty or agreement in the Collateral
Documents, and such failure shall continue for a period of 60 days after written notice to the Company by the trustee, the
Collateral Agent or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding voting as a single
class;

8. the repudiation by the Company or any of the Guarantors of any of its obligations under the Collateral Documents or the
unenforceability of the Collateral Documents against the Company or any of the Guarantors for any reason;

9. except as permitted by the indenture, any Note Guarantee is held in any judicial proceeding to be unenforceable or invalid or
ceases for any reason to be in full force and effect, or any Guarantor, or any Person acting on behalf of any Guarantor, denies
or disaffirms its obligations under its Note Guarantee; and

10. certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency described in the indenture with respect to the Company or any of the Guarantors
that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Guarantors that, taken together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary.

In the case of an Event of Default arising from certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency, with respect to the Company, any
Guarantor of the Company that is a Significant Subsidiary or any group of Guarantors that, taken together, would constitute a
Significant Subsidiary, all outstanding notes will become due and payable immediately without further action or notice. If any other
Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then
outstanding notes may declare all the notes to be due and payable immediately.

Subject to certain limitations, holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes may direct the
trustee in its exercise of any trust or power. The trustee may withhold from holders of the notes notice of any continuing Default or
Event of Default if it determines that withholding notice is in their interest, except a Default or Event of Default relating to the
payment of principal, interest or premium or Liquidated Damages, if any.

Subject to the provisions of the indenture relating to the duties of the trustee, in case an Event of Default occurs and is continuing,
the trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers under the indenture at the request or direction of any
holders of notes unless such holders have offered to the trustee reasonable indemnity or security against any loss, liability or
expense. Except to enforce the right to receive payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest or Liquidated Damages, if any,
when due, no holder of a note may pursue any remedy with respect to the indenture or the notes unless:

1. such holder has previously given the trustee notice that an Event of Default is continuing;

2. holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes have requested the trustee to pursue the
remedy;

3. such holders have offered the trustee security or indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the trustee against any loss, liability or
expense;

4. the trustee has not complied with such request within 60 days after the receipt of the request and the offer of security or
indemnity; and

5. holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes have not given the trustee a direction
inconsistent with such request within such 60-day period.
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The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes by notice to the trustee may, on behalf of the
holders of all of the notes, rescind an acceleration or waive any existing Default or Event of Default and its consequences under the
indenture except a continuing Default or Event of Default in the payment of interest or premium or Liquidated Damages, if any, on,
or the principal of, the notes.

In the case of any Event of Default occurring by reason of any willful action (or inaction) taken (or not taken) by or on behalf of the
Company with the intention of avoiding payment of the premium that the Company would have had to pay if the Company then
had elected to redeem the notes pursuant to the optional redemption provisions of the indenture, an equivalent premium will also
become and be immediately due and payable to the extent permitted by law upon the acceleration of the notes. If an Event of
Default occurs prior to February 15, 2016, by reason of any willful action (or inaction) taken (or not taken) by or on behalf of the
Company with the intention of avoiding the prohibition on redemption of the notes prior to February 15, 2016, then an additional
premium specified in the indenture will also become and be immediately due and payable to the extent permitted by law upon the
acceleration of the notes.

The Company is required to deliver to the trustee annually a statement regarding compliance with the indenture. Upon becoming
aware of any Default or Event of Default, the Company is required to deliver to the trustee a statement specifying such Default or
Event of Default.

No Personal Liability of Directors, Officers, Employees and Stockholders

No director, officer, employee, incorporator or stockholder of the Company or any Guarantor, as such, will have any liability for
any obligations of the Company or the Guarantors under the notes, the indenture, the Note Guarantees, the Collateral Documents or
for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or their creation. Each holder of notes by accepting a note
waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for issuance of the notes. The waiver may
not be effective to waive liabilities under the federal securities laws.

Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance

The Company may at any time, at the option of its Board of Directors evidenced by a resolution set forth in an officers’ certificate,
elect to have all of its obligations discharged with respect to the outstanding notes and all obligations of the Guarantors discharged
with respect to their Note Guarantees (“Legal Defeasance”) except for:

1. the rights of holders of outstanding notes to receive payments in respect of the principal of, or interest or premium and
Liquidated Damages, if any, on, such notes when such payments are due from the trust referred to below;

2. the Company’s obligations with respect to the notes concerning issuing temporary notes, registration of notes, mutilated,
destroyed, lost or stolen notes and the maintenance of an office or agency for payment and money for security payments
held in trust;

3. the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the trustee, and the Company’s and the Guarantors’ obligations in
connection therewith; and

4. the Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance provisions of the indenture.

In addition, the Company may, at its option and at any time, elect to have the obligations of the Company and the Guarantors
released with respect to certain covenants (including its obligation to make Change of Control Offers and Asset Sale Offers) that
are described in the indenture (“Covenant Defeasance”) and thereafter any omission to comply with those covenants will not
constitute a Default or Event of Default with respect to the notes. In the event Covenant Defeasance occurs, certain events (not
including non-payment, bankruptcy, receivership, rehabilitation and insolvency events) described under “— Events of Default and
Remedies” will no longer constitute an Event of Default with respect to the notes.
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In order to exercise either Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance:

1. the Company must irrevocably deposit with the trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the holders of the notes, cash in U.S.
dollars, non-callable Government Securities, or a combination of cash in U.S. dollars and non-callable Government
Securities, in amounts as will be sufficient, in the opinion of a nationally recognized investment bank, appraisal firm or firm
of independent public accountants, to pay the principal of, or interest and premium and Liquidated Damages, if any, on, the
outstanding notes on the stated date for payment thereof or on the applicable redemption date, as the case may be, and the
Company must specify whether the notes are being defeased to such stated date for payment or to a particular redemption
date;

2. in the case of Legal Defeasance, the Company must deliver to the trustee an opinion of counsel reasonably acceptable to the
trustee confirming that (a) the Company has received from, or there has been published by, the Internal Revenue Service a
ruling or (b) since the date of the indenture, there has been a change in the applicable federal income tax law, in either case
to the effect that, and based thereon such opinion of counsel will confirm that, the holders of the outstanding notes will not
recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such Legal Defeasance and will be subject to
federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such
Legal Defeasance had not occurred;

3. in the case of Covenant Defeasance, the Company must deliver to the trustee an opinion of counsel reasonably acceptable to
the trustee confirming that the holders of the outstanding notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax
purposes as a result of such Covenant Defeasance and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amounts, in the
same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Covenant Defeasance had not occurred;

4. no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing on the date of such deposit (other than a Default or Event of
Default resulting from the borrowing of funds to be applied to such deposit) and the deposit will not result in a breach or
violation of, or constitute a default under, any other instrument to which the Company or any Guarantor is a party or by
which the Company or any Guarantor is bound;

5. such Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance will not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, any
material agreement or instrument (other than the indenture) to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by
which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound;

6. the Company must deliver to the trustee an officers’ certificate stating that the deposit was not made by the Company with
the intent of preferring the holders of notes over the other creditors of the Company with the intent of defeating, hindering,
delaying or defrauding any creditors of the Company or others; and

7. the Company must deliver to the trustee an officers’ certificate and an opinion of counsel, each stating that all conditions
precedent relating to the Legal Defeasance or the Covenant Defeasance have been complied with.

Collateral Release Mechanisms

The Collateral will be released from the Liens securing the Note Guarantees, as provided under the caption “— Security,” upon a
Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance in accordance with the provisions described above.

Compliance with Trust Indenture Act

The indenture provides that the Company will comply with the provisions of TIA §314.

To the extent applicable, the Company will cause TIA §313(b), relating to reports, and TIA §314(d), relating to the release of
property or securities subject to the Lien of the Collateral Documents, to be complied with. Any certificate or opinion required by
TIA §314(d) may be made by an officer of the Company except in cases where TIA §314(d) requires that such certificate or
opinion be made by an independent Person, which
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Person will be an independent engineer, appraiser or other expert selected by or reasonably satisfactory to the trustee.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this paragraph, the Company will not be required to comply with all or any portion of
TIA §314(d) if it determines, in good faith based on advice of counsel, that under the terms of TIA §314(d) and/or any
interpretation or guidance as to the meaning thereof of the SEC and its staff, including “no action” letters or exemptive orders, all
or any portion of TIA §314(d) is inapplicable to one or a series of released Collateral.

Further Assurances; Insurance

The indenture and the Collateral Documents provide that the Company and each of the Guarantors providing security for their Note
Guarantees will do or cause to be done all acts and things that may be reasonably required, or that the Collateral Agent from time to
time may reasonably request, to assure and confirm that the Collateral Agent holds, for the benefit of the holders of Parity Lien
Obligations, duly created and enforceable and perfected Parity Liens upon the Collateral (including any categories of property or
assets that are included as Collateral under the Collateral Documents or otherwise become Collateral after the notes are issued), in
each case, as contemplated by, and with the Lien priority required under, the Intercreditor Agreement and the Collateral
Documents.

Upon the reasonable request of the Collateral Agent or the trustee at any time and from time to time, the Company and each of the
applicable Guarantors will promptly execute, acknowledge and deliver such security documents, instruments, certificates, notices
and other documents, and take such other actions as shall be reasonably required, or that the Collateral Agent may reasonably
request, to create, perfect, protect, assure or enforce the Liens and benefits intended to be conferred, in each case as contemplated
by the Collateral Documents for the benefit of the holders of Parity Lien Obligations, including any real property acquired by
Pledgors in the future that has a Fair Market Value in excess of $5.0 million.

1. The Company and the applicable Guarantors will:

2. keep their properties adequately insured at all times by financially sound and reputable insurers;

3. maintain such other insurance, to such extent and against such risks (and with such deductibles, retentions and exclusions),
including fire and other risks insured against by extended coverage and coverage for acts of terrorism, as is customary with
companies in the same or similar businesses operating in the same or similar locations, including public liability insurance
against claims for personal injury or death or property damage occurring upon, in, about or in connection with the use of any
properties owned, occupied or controlled by them;

4. maintain such other insurance as may be required by law;

5. maintain title insurance on all real property Collateral insuring the Collateral Agent’s Parity Lien on that property, subject
only to Permitted Prior Liens and other exceptions to title approved by the Collateral Agent; and

6. maintain such other insurance as may be required by the Collateral Documents.

Upon the request of the Collateral Agent, the Company and the Guarantors will furnish to the Collateral Agent full information as
to their property and liability insurance carriers. Holders of Parity Lien Obligations, as a class, will be named as additional insureds,
with a waiver of subrogation, on all insurance policies of the applicable Guarantors and the Collateral Agent will be named as loss
payee, with 30 days’ notice of cancellation or material change, on all property and casualty insurance policies of the applicable
Guarantors.

Amendment, Supplement and Waiver

Except as provided in the next two succeeding paragraphs, and subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, the indenture, the Collateral
Documents, the Intercreditor Agreement, the notes or the Note Guarantees may be amended or supplemented with the consent of
the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding (including, without limitation,
consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, notes), and any existing Default or Event
of Default or compliance with any provision of the indenture, the Collateral Documents, the Intercreditor Agreement or the notes or
the Note Guarantees, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, may be waived with the consent of the holders of a
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majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes (including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection
with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, notes). None of the indenture, the notes or the Collateral Documents may
be amended, modified or supplemented in any way that would contravene the provisions of the Intercreditor Agreement.

Without the consent of each holder of notes affected, or, in the case of clauses 8 and 9 below only, with the consent of at least 95%
in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding, an amendment, supplement or waiver may not (with respect to any
notes held by a non-consenting holder):

1. reduce the principal amount of notes whose holders must consent to an amendment, supplement or waiver;

2. reduce the principal of or change the fixed maturity of any note or alter the provisions with respect to the redemption of the
notes (other than provisions relating to the covenants described above under the caption “— Repurchase at the Option of
Holders”);

3. reduce the rate of or change the time for payment of interest, including default interest, on any note;

4. waive a Default or Event of Default in the payment of principal of, or interest or premium, or Liquidated Damages, if any,
on, the notes (except a rescission of acceleration of the notes by the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal
amount of the then outstanding notes and a waiver of the payment default that resulted from such acceleration);

5. make any note payable in money other than that stated in the notes;

6. make any change in the provisions of the indenture relating to waivers of past Defaults or the rights of holders of notes to
receive payments of principal of, or interest or premium or Liquidated Damages, if any, on, the notes;

7. waive a redemption payment with respect to any note (other than a payment required by one of the covenants described
above under the caption “— Repurchase at the Option of Holders”);

8. release all or substantially all of the Collateral from the Liens securing the Note Guarantees;

9. release any Guarantor from any of its obligations under its Guarantee or the indenture if the assets or properties of that
Guarantor constitute all or substantially all of the Collateral, except in accordance with the terms of the indenture and the
Intercreditor Agreement; or

10. make any change in the preceding amendment and waiver provisions.

Notwithstanding the preceding and subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, without the consent of any holder of notes, the
Company, the Guarantors and the trustee may amend or supplement the indenture, the Collateral Documents, the Intercreditor
Agreement, the notes or the Note Guarantees:

1. to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency;

2. to provide for uncertificated notes in addition to or in place of certificated notes;

3. to provide for the assumption of the Company’s or a Guarantor’s obligations to holders of notes and Note Guarantees in the
case of a merger or consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s or such Guarantor’s assets, as
applicable;

4. to make any change that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the holders of notes or that does not adversely
affect the legal rights under the indenture of any such holder;

5. to comply with requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the indenture under the Trust
Indenture Act;

6. to conform the text of the indenture, the Note Guarantees, the Collateral Documents or the notes to any provision of this
Description of New Notes to the extent that such provision in this Description of New Notes was intended to be a verbatim
recitation of a provision of the indenture, the Note Guarantees, the Collateral Documents or the notes;
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7. to provide for the issuance of additional notes in accordance with the limitations set forth in the indenture as of the date of
the indenture;

8. to allow any Guarantor to execute a supplemental indenture and/or a Note Guarantee with respect to the notes; or

9. to make, complete or confirm any grant of Collateral permitted or required by the indenture or any of the Collateral
Documents or any release of Collateral that becomes effective as set forth in the indenture or any of the Collateral
Documents.

Satisfaction and Discharge

The indenture will be discharged and will cease to be of further effect as to all notes issued thereunder, when:

1. either:

A. all notes that have been authenticated, except lost, stolen or destroyed notes that have been replaced or paid and notes for
whose payment money has been irrevocably deposited in trust and thereafter repaid to the Company, have been delivered
to the trustee for cancellation; or

B. all notes that have not been delivered to the trustee for cancellation have become due and payable by reason of the
mailing of a notice of redemption or otherwise or will become due and payable within one year and the Company or any
Guarantor has irrevocably deposited or caused to be deposited with the trustee as trust funds in trust solely for the benefit
of the holders, cash in U.S. dollars, non-callable Government Securities, or a combination of cash in U.S. dollars and
non-callable Government Securities, in amounts as will be sufficient, without consideration of any reinvestment of
interest, to pay and discharge the entire Indebtedness on the notes not delivered to the trustee for cancellation for
principal, premium and Liquidated Damages, if any, and accrued interest to the date of maturity or redemption;

2. no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing on the date of the deposit (other than a Default or Event of
Default resulting from the borrowing of funds to be applied to such deposit) and the deposit will not result in a breach or
violation of, or constitute a default under, any other instrument to which the Company or any Guarantor is a party or by
which the Company or any Guarantor is bound;

3. the Company or any Guarantor has paid or caused to be paid all sums payable by it under the indenture; and

4. the Company has delivered irrevocable instructions to the trustee under the indenture to apply the deposited money toward
the payment of the notes at maturity or on the redemption date, as the case may be.

In addition, the Company must deliver an officers’ certificate and an opinion of counsel to the trustee stating that all conditions
precedent to satisfaction and discharge have been satisfied.

The Collateral will be released from the Liens securing Note Guarantees in accordance with the provisions set forth above under
the caption “— Collateral Documents.”

Concerning the Trustee

If the trustee becomes a creditor of the Company or any Guarantor, the indenture limits the right of the trustee to obtain payment of
claims in certain cases, or to realize on certain property received in respect of any such claim as security or otherwise. The trustee
will be permitted to engage in other transactions; however, if it acquires any conflicting interest it must eliminate such conflict
within 90 days, apply to the SEC for permission to continue as trustee (if the indenture has been qualified under the Trust Indenture
Act) or resign.

The holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding notes will have the right to direct the time, method
and place of conducting any proceeding for exercising any remedy available to the trustee, subject to certain exceptions. The
indenture provides that in case an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the trustee will be required, in the exercise of its
power, to use the degree of care of a prudent man in the conduct of his own affairs. Subject to such provisions, the trustee will be
under no obligation to

60

 



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

exercise any of its rights or powers under the indenture at the request of any holder of notes, unless such holder has offered to the
trustee security and indemnity satisfactory to it against any loss, liability or expense.

Additional Information

Anyone who receives this prospectus may obtain a copy of the indenture, the Intercreditor Agreement and the Collateral
Documents without charge by writing to Vector Group Ltd., 4400 Biscayne Boulevard, 10th floor, Miami, Florida 33137, Attention:
Investor Relations.

Book-Entry, Delivery and Form

The New Notes will be represented by one or more notes in registered, global form without interest coupons (collectively, the
“Global Notes” and each individually, a “Global Note”). The Global Notes will be deposited upon issuance with the trustee as
custodian for DTC, in New York, New York, and registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, in each case for credit to an
account of a direct or indirect participant in DTC as described below.

Except as set forth below, the Global Notes may be transferred, in whole and not in part, only to another nominee of DTC or to a
successor of DTC or its nominee. Beneficial interests in the Global Notes may not be exchanged for definitive notes in registered
certificated form (“Certificated Notes”) except in the limited circumstances described below. See “— Exchange of Global Notes for
Certificated Notes.” Except in the limited circumstances described below, owners of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will
not be entitled to receive physical delivery of notes in certificated form.

Depository Procedures

The following description of the operations and procedures of DTC, Euroclear System (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking,
S.A. (“Clearstream”) are provided solely as a matter of convenience. These operations and procedures are solely within the control
of the respective settlement systems and are subject to changes by them. The Company takes no responsibility for these operations
and procedures and urges investors to contact the system or their participants directly to discuss these matters.

DTC has advised the Company that DTC is a limited-purpose trust company created to hold securities for its participating
organizations (collectively, the “Participants”) and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of transactions in those securities
between the Participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of its participants. The Participants include securities
brokers and dealers (including the initial purchaser), banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations.
Access to DTC’s system is also available to other entities such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or
maintain a custodial relationship with a Participant, either directly or indirectly (collectively, the “Indirect Participants”). Persons
who are not Participants may beneficially own securities held by or on behalf of DTC only through the Participants or the Indirect
Participants. The ownership interests in, and transfers of ownership interests in, each security held by or on behalf of DTC are
recorded on the records of the Participants and Indirect Participants.

DTC has also advised the Company that, pursuant to procedures established by it, ownership of interests in the Global Notes will
be shown on, and the transfer of ownership of these interests will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC (with
respect to Participants) or by the Participants and the Indirect Participants (with respect to other owners of beneficial interest in the
Global Notes).

As long as DTC, or its nominee, is the registered holder of a Global Note, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be
considered the sole owner and holder of the notes represented by such Global Note for all purposes under the indenture and
the notes. Except in the limited circumstances described below under “— Exchanges of Book-Entry Notes for Certificated Notes,”
owners of beneficial interests in a Global Note will not be entitled to have portions of such Global Note registered in their names,
will not receive or be entitled to receive physical delivery of notes in definitive form and will not be considered the owners or
holders of the Global Note (or any notes presented thereby) under the indenture or the notes. In addition, no beneficial owner of an
interest in a Global Note will be able to transfer that interest except in accordance with DTC’s applicable procedures (in addition to
those under the indenture referred to herein). In the event that

61

 



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

owners of beneficial interests in a Global Note become entitled to receive notes in definitive form, such notes will be issued only in
registered form in denominations of U.S. $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof.

All interests in a Global Note, including those held through Euroclear or Clearstream, may be subject to the procedures and
requirements of DTC. Those interests held through Euroclear or Clearstream may also be subject to the procedures and
requirements of such systems. The laws of some states require that certain Persons take physical delivery in definitive form of
securities that they own. Consequently, the ability to transfer beneficial interests in a Global Note to such Persons may be limited to
that extent. Because DTC can act only on behalf of the Participants, which in turn act on behalf of the Indirect Participants, the
ability of a Person having beneficial interests in a Global Note to pledge such interests to Persons that do not participate in the DTC
system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interests, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate evidencing such
interests.

Payments in respect of the principal of and interest on Global Notes will be made to DTC or its nominee as the registered owner
thereof. None of the Company, the guarantors, the trustee or any of their respective agents will have any responsibility or liability
for:

1. any aspect of DTC’s records or any Participant’s or Indirect Participant’s records relating to or payments made on account of
beneficial ownership interest in the Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of DTC’s records or any
Participant’s or Indirect Participant’s records relating to the beneficial ownership interests in the Global Notes; or

2. any other matter relating to the actions and practices of DTC or any of its Participants or Indirect Participants.

Beneficial interests in the Global Notes will trade in DTC’s Same-Day Funds Settlement System, and secondary market trading
activity in such interests will therefore settle in immediately available funds. DTC has advised the Company that its current
practice, upon receipt of any payment in respect of securities such as the notes (including principal and interest), is to credit the
accounts of the relevant Participants with the payment on the payment date unless DTC has reason to believe that it will not receive
payment on such payment date. Each relevant Participant is credited with an amount proportionate to its beneficial ownership of an
interest in the principal amount of the relevant security as shown on the records of DTC. Payments by the Participants and the
Indirect Participants to the beneficial owners of the notes will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices and
will be the responsibility of the Participants or the Indirect Participants and will not be the responsibility of DTC, the trustee or the
Company. Neither the Company nor the trustee will be liable for any delay by DTC or any of the Participants or the Indirect
Participants in identifying the beneficial owners of the notes, and the Company and the trustee may conclusively rely on and will be
protected in relying on instructions from DTC or its nominee for all purposes.

Transfers between the Participants will be effected in accordance with DTC’s procedures, and will be settled in same-day funds,
and transfers between participants in Euroclear and Clearstream will be effected in accordance with their respective rules and
operating procedures.

Crossmarket transfers between the Participants, on the one hand, and Euroclear or Clearstream participants, on the other hand, will
be effected through DTC in accordance with DTC’s rules on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, by their
respective depositaries; however, such crossmarket transactions will require delivery of instructions to Euroclear or Clearstream, as
the case may be, by the counterparty in such system in accordance with the rules and procedures and within the established
deadlines (Brussels time) of such system. Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, will, if the transaction meets its settlement
requirements, deliver instructions to its respective depositary to take action to effect final settlement on its behalf by delivering or
receiving interests in the relevant Global Note in DTC, and making or receiving payment in accordance with normal procedures for
same-day funds settlement applicable to DTC. Euroclear participants and Clearstream participants may not deliver instructions
directly to the depositories for Euroclear or Clearstream.

DTC has advised the Company that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of notes (including the presentation of
notes for exchange as described below) only at the direction of one or more
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Participants to whose account DTC has credited the interests in the Global Notes and only in respect of such portion of the
aggregate principal amount at maturity of the notes as to which such Participant or Participants has or have given such direction.
However, if there is an Event of Default under the notes, DTC reserves the right to exchange the Global Notes for legended notes in
certificated form, and to distribute such notes to its Participants.

Although DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream have agreed to the foregoing procedures to facilitate transfers of interests in the Global
Notes among participants in DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, they are under no obligation to perform or to continue to perform
such procedures, and may discontinue such procedures at any time. None of the Company, the trustee and any of their respective
agents will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, or their respective participants or
indirect participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

Exchange of Global Notes for Certificated Notes

A beneficial interest in a Global Note may not be exchanged for a Note in certificated form unless the transferor of such beneficial
interest delivers to the registrar either (i) a written order from a participant or an indirect participant, given to DTC in accordance
with its customary procedures, directing DTC to credit or cause to be credited a beneficial interest in another Global Note in an
amount equal to the beneficial interest to be transferred or exchanged and instructions regarding the participant account to be
credited with such increase or (ii) a written order from a participant or an indirect participant, given to DTC in accordance with its
customary procedures, directing DTC to cause to be issued a certificated note in an amount equal to the beneficial interest to be
transferred or exchanged and instructions given by DTC to the registrar regarding the person in whose name such certificated note
shall be registered to effect such transfer or exchange. In all cases, certificated notes delivered in exchange for any Global Note or
beneficial interests therein will be registered in the names and issued in denominations as the holder of such beneficial interest shall
instruct the registrar through instructions from the DTC and the participant or indirect participant.

Same Day Settlement and Payment

The Company will make payments in respect of the notes represented by the Global Notes (including principal, premium, if any,
interest and Liquidated Damages, if any) by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by DTC or its
nominee. The Company will make all payments of principal, interest and premium, if any, and Liquidated Damages, if any, with
respect to Certificated Notes by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the holders of the
Certificated Notes or, if no such account is specified, by mailing a check to each such holder’s registered address. The notes
represented by the Global Notes are expected to be eligible to trade in DTC’s Same-Day Funds Settlement System, and any
permitted secondary market trading activity in such notes will, therefore, be required by DTC to be settled in immediately available
funds. The Company expects that secondary trading in any Certificated Notes will also be settled in immediately available funds.

Because of time zone differences, the securities account of a Euroclear or Clearstream participant purchasing an interest in a Global
Note from a Participant will be credited, and any such crediting will be reported to the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream
participant, during the securities settlement processing day (which must be a business day for Euroclear and Clearstream)
immediately following the settlement date of DTC. DTC has advised the Company that cash received in Euroclear or Clearstream
as a result of sales of interests in a Global Note by or through a Euroclear or Clearstream Participant to a participant will be
received with value on the settlement date of DTC but will be available in the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream cash account only
as of the business day for Euroclear or Clearstream following DTC’s settlement date.

Certain Definitions

Set forth below are certain defined terms used in the indenture. Reference is made to the indenture for a full disclosure of all
defined terms used therein, as well as any other capitalized terms used herein for which no definition is provided.

“100 Maple LLC” means 100 Maple LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“ABL Lender” has the meaning set forth in the Intercreditor Agreement.
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“Accelerated Note Conversion” means the conversion in advance of the scheduled conversion by their terms of any convertible
debt securities issued by the Company that are held by Affiliates of the Company, in exchange for the payment by the Company to
such Affiliates of accrued interest and additional Equity Interests in the Company (other than Disqualified Stock).

“Acquired Debt” means, with respect to any specified Person:

1. Indebtedness of any other Person existing at the time such other Person is merged with or into or became a Guarantor of
such specified Person, whether or not such Indebtedness is incurred in connection with, or in contemplation of, such other
Person merging with or into, or becoming a Guarantor of, such specified Person; and

2. Indebtedness secured by a Lien encumbering any asset acquired by such specified Person.

“Affiliate” of any specified Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or
indirect common control with such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, “control,” as used with respect to any Person,
means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of such
Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise; provided that beneficial ownership of 10%
or more of the Voting Stock of a Person will be deemed to be control. For purposes of this definition, the terms “controlling,”
“controlled by” and “under common control with” have correlative meanings.

“Applicable Premium” means with respect to any note on any redemption date, as determined by the Company, the greater of:

1. 1.0% of the principal amount of the note; or

2. the excess of:

A. the present value at such redemption date of (i) the redemption price of the note at February 15, 2016 (such redemption
price being set forth in the table appearing above under the caption “— Optional Redemption”) plus (ii) all required
interest payments due on the note through February 15, 2016 (excluding accrued but unpaid interest to the redemption
date), computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate as of such redemption date plus 50 basis points; over

B. the principal amount of the note.

Calculation of the Applicable Premium will be made by the Company or on behalf of the Company by such Person as the Company
shall designate, provided, however, that such calculation shall not be a duty or obligation of the trustee or Collateral Agent.

“Asset Sale” means:

1. the sale, lease, conveyance or other disposition of any assets or rights; provided that the sale, lease, conveyance or other
disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and the Guarantors taken as a whole will be governed by
the provisions of the indenture described above under the caption “— Repurchase at the Option of Holders — Change of
Control” and/or the provisions described above under the caption “— Certain Covenants — Merger, Consolidation or Sale
of Assets” and not by the provisions of the Asset Sale covenant; and

2. the issuance or sale of Equity Interests in any of the Guarantors.

Notwithstanding the preceding, none of the following items will be deemed to be an Asset Sale:

1. any single transaction or series of related transactions that involves assets having a Fair Market Value of less than $3.0
million;

2. a transfer of assets between or among the Company and the Guarantors;

3. an issuance of Equity Interests by a Guarantor to the Company or to another Guarantor;

64

 



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

4. the sale, lease, sublease, license, sublicense, conveyance or other disposition of products, services, inventory, or accounts
receivable and related assets (including participations therein) in the ordinary course of business, including leases with
respect to facilities that are temporarily not in use or pending their disposition, and any sale or other disposition of damaged,
worn-out or obsolete assets in the ordinary course of business or any other property that is uneconomic or no longer useful to
the conduct of the business of the Company or the Guarantors;

5. the sale or other disposition of cash or Cash Equivalents or Investments that are Permitted Investments;

6. a Restricted Payment that does not violate the covenant described above under the caption “— Certain
Covenants — Restricted Payments” or a Permitted Investment.

7. the licensing of intellectual property to third Persons on customary terms as determined in good faith by the Board of
Directors of the Company;

8. to the extent allowable under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, any exchange of like property (excluding
any boot thereon) for use in the business of the Company or its Subsidiaries;

9. transfers of property subject to casualty or condemnation proceedings; and

10. the granting of Permitted Liens.

“Asset Sale Offer” has the meaning assigned to that term in the indenture governing the notes.

“Attributable Debt” in respect of a sale and leaseback transaction means, at the time of determination, the present value of the
obligation of the lessee for net rental payments during the remaining term of the lease included in such sale and leaseback
transaction including any period for which such lease has been extended or may, at the option of the lessor, be extended. Such
present value shall be calculated using a discount rate equal to the rate of interest implicit in such transaction, determined in
accordance with GAAP; provided, however, that if such sale and leaseback transaction results in a Capital Lease Obligation, the
amount of Indebtedness represented thereby will be determined in accordance with the definition of “Capital Lease Obligation.”

“beneficial owner” has the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 13d-3 and Rule 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that in
calculating the beneficial ownership of any particular “person” (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), such
“person” will be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all securities that such “person” has the right to acquire by conversion or
exercise of other securities, whether such right is currently exercisable or is exercisable only after the passage of time. The terms
“Beneficially Owns” and “Beneficially Owned” have a corresponding meaning.

1. “Board of Directors” means:

2. with respect to a corporation, the board of directors of the corporation or any committee thereof duly authorized to act on
behalf of such board;

3. with respect to a partnership, the board of directors of the general partner of the partnership;

4. with respect to a limited liability company, the managing member or members or any controlling committee of managing
members thereof; and

5. with respect to any other Person, the board or committee of such Person serving a similar function.

“Capital Lease Obligation” means, at the time any determination is to be made, the amount of the liability in respect of a capital
lease that would at that time be required to be capitalized on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, and the Stated
Maturity thereof shall be the date of the last payment of rent or any other amount due under such lease prior to the first date upon
which such lease may be prepaid by the lessee without payment of a penalty.
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“Capital Stock” means:

1. in the case of a corporation, corporate stock;

2. in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents
(however designated) of corporate stock;

3. in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership interests (whether general or limited) or membership
interests; and

4. any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or
distributions of assets of, the issuing Person, but excluding from all of the foregoing any debt securities convertible into
Capital Stock, whether or not such debt securities include any right of participation with Capital Stock.

“Cash Equivalents” means:

1. United States dollars and, solely for purposes of the definition of “Permitted Investments,” any national currency of any
other country in which the Company or its Guarantors do business;

2. securities issued or directly and fully guaranteed or insured by the United States government or any agency or
instrumentality of the United States government (provided that the full faith and credit of the United States is pledged in
support of those securities) having maturities of not more than one year from the date of acquisition;

3. certificates of deposit, time deposits and eurodollar time deposits with maturities of one year or less from the date of
acquisition, bankers’ acceptances with maturities not exceeding one year and overnight bank deposits, in each case, with any
domestic commercial bank or commercial banking institution that is a member of the Federal Reserve System having capital
and surplus in excess of $500.0 million and a Thomson Bank Watch Rating of “B” or better;

4. repurchase obligations with a term of not more than seven days for underlying securities of the types described in clauses 2
and 3 above or 7 below entered into with any financial institution meeting the qualifications specified in clause 3 above or 7
below;

5. commercial paper having one of the two highest ratings obtainable from Moody’s or S&P and, in each case, maturing within
one year after the date of acquisition;

6. money market funds at least 95% of the assets of which constitute Cash Equivalents of the kinds described in clauses 1
through 5 of this definition; and

7. marketable general obligations issued by any state of the United States or any political subdivision of any such state or any
public instrumentality thereof maturing within one year of the date of acquisition and at the time of acquisition having one of
the two highest ratings obtainable from S&P or Moody’s.

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of any of the following:

1. any sale, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or
substantially all of the Company’s property or assets to any person or group of related persons (other than to any of the
Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries) as defined in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act, including any group
acting for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of securities within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(1) under
the Exchange Act, other than any sale, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition in which (x) persons who, directly or
indirectly, are beneficial owners (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of the Company’s voting stock
immediately prior to such transaction, beneficially own, directly or indirectly, immediately after such transaction at least a
majority of the total voting power of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation or entity purchasing such properties or
assets in such sale, lease, conveyance or other disposition and (y) persons who, directly or indirectly, are beneficial owners
of the Company’s voting stock immediately prior to such transaction, beneficially own, directly or indirectly, immediately
after such transaction shares of common stock
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of the corporation or entity purchasing such properties or assets in such sale, lease, conveyance or other disposition in a
proportion that does not, on the whole, materially differ from such ownership immediately prior to the transaction;

2. the adoption of a plan relating to the liquidation or dissolution of the Company;

3. if any “person” or “group” (as these terms are used for purposes of Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) other than
the Company, its subsidiaries, and the Company’s or its subsidiaries’ employee benefit plans becomes the “beneficial
owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the aggregate
ordinary voting power represented by the Company’s issued and outstanding stock; or

4. the Company consolidates with, or merges with or into, another person or any person consolidates with, or merges with or
into, the Company, other than any consolidation or merger in which (x) persons who, directly or indirectly, are beneficial
owners (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of the Company’s voting stock immediately prior to such
transaction, beneficially own, directly or indirectly, immediately after such transaction at least a majority of the voting power
of the outstanding voting stock of the continuing or surviving corporation or entity and (y) persons who, directly or
indirectly, are beneficial owners of the Company’s voting stock immediately prior to such transaction beneficially own,
directly or indirectly, immediately after such transaction shares of common stock of the continuing or surviving corporation
or entity in a proportion that does not, on the whole, materially differ from such ownership immediately prior to the
transaction.

“Change of Control Offer” has the meaning assigned to that term in the indenture governing the notes.

“Change of Control Payment” has the meaning assigned to that term in the indenture governing the notes.

“Change of Control Payment Date” has the meaning assigned to that term in the indenture governing the notes.

“Collateral” means the Pledged Securities and the properties and assets at any time owned or acquired by any of the Pledgors as
provided in the Collateral Documents and the indenture other than the Excluded Assets and except:

1. any properties and assets in which the Collateral Agent is required to release its Liens pursuant to the provisions described
above under the caption “— Intercreditor Agreement — Release of Liens”; and

2. any properties and assets that no longer secure the Note Guarantees or any Obligations in respect thereof pursuant to the
provisions described above under the caption “— Collateral Documents,”

provided that, if such Liens are required to be released as a result of the sale, transfer or other disposition of any properties or assets
of any of the Guarantors, such assets or properties will cease to be excluded from the Collateral if any of the Guarantors thereafter
acquires or reacquires such assets or properties.

“Collateral Agent” means U.S. Bank National Association, in its capacity as collateral agent under the indenture, the Intercreditor
Agreement and the Collateral Documents, together with its successors in such capacity.

“Collateral Documents” means all security agreements, pledge agreements, collateral assignments, mortgages, deeds of trust,
collateral agency agreements or other grants or transfers for security executed and delivered by any Guarantor creating (or
purporting to create) a Parity Lien upon Collateral in favor of the Collateral Agent, in each case, as amended, modified, renewed,
restated or replaced, in whole or in part, from time to time.

“Consolidated EBITDA” means for any period the Consolidated Net Income of the Company for such period, after giving pro
forma effect to any Investment or acquisition or disposition of a business permitted under the indenture as if such acquisition or
disposition occurred on the first day of the relevant period, in accordance with Regulation S-X, plus, without duplication:

1. provision for taxes based on income or profits or capital, including, without limitation, state, city and county income,
franchise and similar taxes, foreign withholding taxes and foreign unreimbursed
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value added taxes of the Company and the Guarantors for such period, to the extent that such provision for taxes was
deducted in computing such Consolidated Net Income; plus

2. the Fixed Charges of the Company and the Guarantors (including amortization of deferred financing fees and changes in fair
value of derivatives embedded within convertible debt) for such period, to the extent that such Fixed Charges were deducted
in computing such Consolidated Net Income; plus

3. depreciation, amortization (including amortization of intangibles but excluding amortization of prepaid cash expenses that
were paid in a prior period) and other non-cash expenses (excluding any such non-cash expense to the extent that it
represents an accrual of or reserve for cash expenses in any future period or amortization of a prepaid cash expense that was
paid in a prior period) of the Company and the Guarantors for such period to the extent that such depreciation, amortization
and other non-cash expenses were deducted in computing such Consolidated Net Income; plus

4. any other non-cash charges (including impairment charges, write-offs of assets and the impact of purchase accounting but
excluding any such charge that represents an accrual or reserve for a cash expenditure for a future period), to the extent that
such non-cash charges were deducted in computing such Consolidated Net Income; plus

5. any one-time, non-recurring expenses or charges related to any Equity Offering, Permitted Investment, acquisition,
recapitalization or incurrence of Indebtedness permitted to be incurred under the indenture (including a refinancing thereof),
whether or not consummated, in each case to the extent such expenses or charges were deducted in computing Consolidated
Net Income; minus

6. non-cash items increasing such Consolidated Net Income for such period, other than (a) the accrual of revenue in the
ordinary course of business and (b) reversals of prior accruals or reserves for non-cash items previously excluded from the
definition of Consolidated EBITDA pursuant to clause 3 above, in each case, on a consolidated basis and determined in
accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Net Income” means for any period the aggregate of the Net Income of the Company and the Guarantors for such
period, on a consolidated basis, determined in accordance with GAAP; provided that:

1. the Net Income (but not loss) of any Person that is not a Guarantor or that is accounted for by the equity method of
accounting will be included only to the extent of the amount of dividends or similar distributions paid in cash to the
Company or a Guarantor;

2. the Net Income of any Guarantor will be excluded to the extent that the declaration or payment of dividends or similar
distributions by that Guarantor of that Net Income is not at the date of determination permitted without any prior
governmental approval (that has not been obtained) or, directly or indirectly, by operation of the terms of its charter or any
agreement or instrument, judgment, decree, order, statute, rule or governmental regulation applicable to that Guarantor or its
stockholders (except to the extent of the amount of dividends or similar distributions paid in cash to the Company or a
Guarantor during such period);

3. the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles will be excluded;

4. any restructuring charge or reserve to the extent that such expenses or charges were deducted in computing such
Consolidated Net Income, including any restructuring costs incurred in connection with acquisitions after the date of
issuance of the notes and costs related to the closure and/or consolidation of facilities or work force reduction and severance
and relocation costs incurred in connection therewith, will be excluded;

5. any unrealized gains and losses due solely to fluctuations in currency values, the value of Investment Securities or the value
of Long Term Investments, and the related tax effects according to GAAP will be excluded;

6. non-cash compensation recorded from grants of stock appreciation or similar rights, stock options, restricted stock or other
rights will be excluded;

7. after-tax gains and losses attributable to discontinued operations will be excluded;
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8. the after-tax effect of extraordinary, non-recurring or unusual gains or losses (less all fees and expenses relating thereto) or
expenses, severance costs and curtailments or modifications or terminations to pension and post-retirement benefit plans will
be excluded;

9. any impairment charge or asset write-off, in each case pursuant to GAAP and the amortization of intangibles arising
pursuant to GAAP will be excluded; and

10. any deferred financing costs written off and premiums paid in connection with any early extinguishment of Indebtedness
will be excluded.

“Core Investments” means investments, whether as a long or short position, in equity, debt or derivative securities, including,
without limitation, puts, options, warrants or calls, of any Person, including hedge funds, private equity funds or other investment
entities, in the ordinary course of the Company’s or any Guarantor’s business, but excluding any investment in (i) any Unrestricted
Subsidiary of the Company, or (ii) any joint venture to which the Company, any Guarantor or any Unrestricted Subsidiary is a
party.

“Credit Facilities” means, one or more debt facilities (including, without limitation, the Liggett Credit Agreement) or commercial
paper facilities, in each case, with banks or other institutional lenders providing for revolving credit loans, term loans, receivables
financing (including through the sale of receivables to such lenders or to special purpose entities formed to borrow from such
lenders against such receivables) or letters of credit, in each case, as amended, restated, modified, renewed, refunded, replaced
(whether upon or after termination or otherwise) or refinanced (including by means of sales of debt securities to institutional
investors) in whole or in part from time to time.

“Default” means any event that is, or with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both would be, an Event of Default.

“Disqualified Stock” means any Capital Stock that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible, or for
which it is exchangeable, in each case, at the option of the holder of the Capital Stock), or upon the happening of any event,
matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or redeemable at the option of the holder
of the Capital Stock, in whole or in part, on or prior to the date that is 91 days after the date on which the notes mature.
Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, any Capital Stock that would constitute Disqualified Stock solely because the holders of
the Capital Stock have the right to require the Company to repurchase such Capital Stock upon the occurrence of a change of
control or an asset sale will not constitute Disqualified Stock if the terms of such Capital Stock provide that the Company may not
repurchase or redeem any such Capital Stock pursuant to such provisions unless such repurchase or redemption complies with the
covenant described above under the caption “— Certain Covenants — Restricted Payments.” The amount of Disqualified Stock
deemed to be outstanding at any time for purposes of the indenture will be the maximum amount that the Company and the
Guarantors may become obligated to pay upon the maturity of, or pursuant to any mandatory redemption provisions of, such
Disqualified Stock, exclusive of accrued dividends.

“Domestic Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Company that was formed under the laws of the United States or any state of
the United States or the District of Columbia or that guarantees or otherwise provides direct credit support for any Indebtedness of
the Company.

“Equity Interests” means Capital Stock and all warrants, options or other rights to acquire Capital Stock (but excluding any debt
security that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, Capital Stock).

“Equity Offering” means any public or private sale of common stock or Preferred Stock of the Company (excluding Disqualified
Stock) or contribution to the capital of the Company, other than:

1. public offerings with respect to any such Person’s common stock registered on Form S-8; and

2. issuances to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company.

“Eve” means Eve Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“Existing Indebtedness” means Indebtedness of the Company and the Guarantors (other than Indebtedness under the Liggett Credit
Agreement) in existence on the date of the indenture, until such amounts are repaid.
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“Fair Market Value” means the value that would be paid by a willing buyer to an unaffiliated willing seller in a transaction not
involving distress or necessity of either party, determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company (unless otherwise
provided in the indenture).

“First Priority Debt” has the meaning set forth in the Intercreditor Agreement as in effect on the date of the indenture.

“First Priority Lien” means a Lien to the extent it secures First Priority Debt.

“Fixed Charges” means, with respect to the Company and the Guarantors for any period, the sum, without duplication, of:

1. the consolidated interest expense of the Company and the Guarantors for such period, whether paid or accrued, including,
without limitation, amortization of debt issuance costs, beneficial conversion features, derivatives embedded within
convertible debt and original issue discount, non-cash interest payments, the interest component of any deferred payment
obligations, the interest component of all payments associated with Capital Lease Obligations, imputed interest with respect
to Attributable Debt, commissions, discounts and other fees and charges incurred in respect of letter of credit or bankers’
acceptance financings, and net of the effect of all payments made or received pursuant to Hedging Obligations in respect of
interest rates; plus

2. the consolidated interest expense of the Company and the Guarantors that was capitalized during such period; plus

3. any interest on Indebtedness of another Person that is guaranteed by the Company or any of the Guarantors or secured by a
Lien on assets of the Company or any of the Guarantors, whether or not such Guarantee or Lien is called upon; plus

4. the product of (a) all dividends, whether paid or accrued and whether or not in cash, on any series of preferred stock of the
Company or any of the Guarantors, other than dividends on Equity Interests payable solely in Equity Interests of the
Company (other than Disqualified Stock) or to the Company or a Guarantor, times (b) a fraction, the numerator of which is
one and the denominator of which is one minus the then current combined federal, state and local statutory tax rate of such
Person, expressed as a decimal, in each case, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles
Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board or in such other statements by such other entity as have been approved by a significant segment of the accounting
profession, which are in effect on the date of the indenture.

“Government Securities” means direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the United States of America, and the payment
for which the United States pledges its full faith and credit.

“Guarantee” means a guarantee other than by endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of
business, direct or indirect, in any manner including, without limitation, by way of a pledge of assets or through letters of credit or
reimbursement agreements in respect thereof, of all or any part of any Indebtedness (whether arising by virtue of partnership
arrangements, or by agreements to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take or pay or to maintain
financial statement conditions or otherwise).

“Guarantors” means each of:

1. the Liggett Guarantors;

2. the Domestic Subsidiaries of the Company on the date of the indenture, other than the New Valley Subsidiaries; and

3. any other Subsidiary of the Company that executes a Note Guarantee in accordance with the provisions of the indenture,
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and their respective successors and assigns, in each case, until the Note Guarantee of such Person has been released in accordance
with the provisions of the indenture.

“Hedging Obligations” means, with respect to any specified Person, the obligations of such Person under:

1. interest rate swap agreements (whether from fixed to floating or from floating to fixed), interest rate cap agreements and
interest rate collar agreements;

2. other agreements or arrangements designed to manage interest rates or interest rate risk; and

3. other agreements or arrangements designed to protect such Person against fluctuations in currency exchange rates or
commodity prices.

“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any specified Person, any indebtedness of such Person (excluding accrued expenses and
trade payables), whether or not contingent:

1. in respect of borrowed money;

2. evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar instruments or letters of credit (or reimbursement agreements in respect
thereof);

3. in respect of banker’s acceptances;

4. representing Capital Lease Obligations or Attributable Debt in respect of sale and leaseback transactions;

5. representing the balance deferred and unpaid of the purchase price of any property or services due more than six months
after such property is acquired or such services are completed, except any such balance that constitutes an accrued expense
or trade payable arising in the ordinary course of business and not overdue by more than 90 days; or

6. representing any Hedging Obligations,

if and to the extent any of the preceding items (other than letters of credit, Attributable Debt and Hedging Obligations) would
appear as a liability upon a balance sheet of the specified Person prepared in accordance with GAAP. In addition, the term
“Indebtedness” includes all Indebtedness of others secured by a Lien on any asset of the specified Person (whether or not such
Indebtedness is assumed by the specified Person) and, to the extent not otherwise included, the Guarantee by the specified Person
of any Indebtedness of any other Person.

“Intercreditor Agreement” means that certain Intercreditor and Lien Subordination Agreement by and among Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as ABL Lender, U.S. Bank National Association, as Collateral Agent, Liggett Group LLC, as Borrower, and
100 Maple LLC, as Loan Party, dated as of February 12, 2013.

“Investments” means, with respect to any Person, all direct or indirect investments by such Person in other Persons (including
Affiliates) in the forms of loans (including Guarantees or other obligations), advances or capital contributions (excluding
commission, travel and similar advances to officers and employees made in the ordinary course of business), purchases or other
acquisitions for consideration of Indebtedness, Equity Interests or other securities, together with all items that are or would be
classified as investments on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP. Except as otherwise provided in the indenture, the
amount of an Investment will be determined at the time the Investment is made and without giving effect to subsequent changes in
value.

“Investment Securities” means investment securities classified as such under GAAP.

“Leverage Ratio” means the ratio of (i) the sum of (A) the aggregate outstanding amount of Indebtedness of the Company and the
Guarantors as of the last day of the most recently ended fiscal quarter for which financial statements are internally available as of
the date of calculation on a combined consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, less cash, cash equivalents, the Fair Market
Value of Investment Securities and the Fair Market Value of Long Term Investments of the Company and the Guarantors, plus (B)
the aggregate outstanding amount of Indebtedness incurred in connection with margining of Core Investments (to the extent not
included in Indebtedness under clause (i) (A) above), plus (C) the aggregate liquidation preference of all
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outstanding Disqualified Stock of the Company as of the last day of such fiscal quarter to (ii) the aggregate Consolidated EBITDA
of the Company for the last four full fiscal quarters for which financial statements are internally available ending on or prior to the
date of determination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that Douglas Elliman Realty, LLC, or any successor thereto, is
classified on the Company’s or any Guarantor’s balance sheet as a Long Term Investment, then the book value, rather than the Fair
Market Value, of such Long Term Investment will be used for purposes of the foregoing calculation.

“Lien” means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect
of such asset, whether or not filed, recorded or otherwise perfected under applicable law, including any conditional sale or other
title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof, any option or other agreement to sell or give a security interest in and any
filing of or agreement to give any financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code (or equivalent statutes) of any
jurisdiction.

“Liggett Credit Agreement” means that certain Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of February
21, 2012, by and between Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, successor by merger to Wachovia Bank, National Association,
Liggett Group LLC, as Borrower, and 100 Maple LLC providing for revolving credit borrowings and term loans, including any
related notes, Guarantees, collateral documents, instruments and agreements executed in connection therewith, and, in each case, as
amended, restated, modified, renewed, refunded, replaced (whether upon or after termination or otherwise) or refinanced (including
by means of sales of debt securities to institutional investors) in whole or in part from time to time.

“Liggett Group LLC” means Liggett Group LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“Liggett Guarantors” means each of Liggett Group LLC and 100 Maple LLC.

“Liquidated Damages” means all liquidated damages then owing pursuant to the registration rights agreement.

“Long Term Investments” means long term investments classified as such under GAAP.

“Mebane Facility” means that certain real property located in Mebane, North Carolina and owned by 100 Maple LLC.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.

“Net Income” means, with respect to any specified Person, the net income (loss) of such Person, determined in accordance with
GAAP and before any reduction in respect of preferred stock dividends, excluding, however:

1. any gain or loss, together with all fees and expenses related thereto and any related provision for taxes on such gain or loss,
realized in connection with: (a) any Asset Sale; or (b) the disposition of any securities or Investments by such Person or any
of the Guarantors or the extinguishment of any Indebtedness of such Person or any of the Guarantors; and

2. any extraordinary gain or loss, together with any related provision for taxes on such extraordinary gain or loss.

“Net Proceeds” means the aggregate cash proceeds received by the Company or any of the Guarantors in respect of any Asset Sale
(including, without limitation, any cash received upon the sale or other disposition of any non-cash consideration received in any
Asset Sale), net of the direct costs relating to such Asset Sale, including, without limitation, legal, accounting and investment
banking fees, and sales commissions, and any relocation expenses incurred as a result of the Asset Sale, taxes paid or payable as a
result of the Asset Sale, in each case, after taking into account any available tax credits or deductions and any tax sharing
arrangements, and amounts required to be applied to the repayment of Indebtedness, other than Indebtedness under a Credit
Facility, secured by a Lien on the asset or assets that were the subject of such Asset Sale and any reserve for adjustment in respect
of the sale price of such asset or assets established in accordance with GAAP.

“New Valley Subsidiaries” means New Valley LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and its Subsidiaries.
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“Note Guarantee” means the Guarantee by each Guarantor of the Company’s obligations under the indenture and the notes,
executed pursuant to the provisions of the indenture.

“Obligations” means any principal (including reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit whether or not drawn),
interest (including, to the extent legally permitted, all interest accrued thereon after the commencement of any insolvency or
liquidation proceeding at the rate, including any applicable post-default rate, even if such interest is not enforceable, allowable or
allowed as a claim in such proceeding), premium (if any), fees, indemnifications, reimbursements, expenses and other liabilities
payable under the documentation governing any Indebtedness.

“Parity Lien” means a Lien granted under a Collateral Document to the Collateral Agent, at any time, upon any property of any
Guarantor providing security to secure Parity Lien Obligations.

“Parity Lien Debt” means:

1. the notes issued on the date of the indenture (including any related exchange notes); and

2. any other Indebtedness of the Company pursuant to additional notes issued and permitted to be incurred under the indenture.

“Parity Lien Obligations” means Parity Lien Debt and all other Obligations in respect thereof.

“Permitted Investments” means:

1. any Investment in the Company or in a Guarantor;

2. any Investment in Cash Equivalents;

3. any Investment by the Company or any Guarantor in a Person, if as a result of such Investment:

A. such Person becomes a Guarantor; or

B. such Person is merged, consolidated or amalgamated with or into, or transfers or conveys substantially all of its assets to,
or is liquidated into, the Company or a Guarantor;

4. any Investment made as a result of the receipt of non-cash consideration from an Asset Sale that was made pursuant to and
in compliance with the covenant described above under the caption “— Repurchase at the Option of Holders — Asset
Sales”;

5. any acquisition of assets or Capital Stock solely in exchange for the issuance of Equity Interests (other than Disqualified
Stock) of the Company;

6. any Investments received in compromise or resolution of (A) obligations of trade creditors or customers that were incurred
in the ordinary course of business of the Company or any Guarantor, including pursuant to any plan of reorganization or
similar arrangement upon the bankruptcy or insolvency of any trade creditor or customer; or (B) litigation, arbitration or
other disputes with Persons who are not Affiliates;

7. loans or advances to employees made in the ordinary course of business of the Company or any Guarantor in an aggregate
principal amount not to exceed $1.0 million at any one time outstanding;

8. repurchases of the notes;

9. any Investment by the Company or any Guarantor in Core Investments;

10. Investments represented by Hedging Obligations;

11. Investments consisting of purchases and acquisitions of inventory, supplies, material or equipment in the ordinary course of
business or consistent with past practice;

12. other Investments in any Person having an aggregate Fair Market Value (measured on the date each such Investment was
made and without giving effect to subsequent changes in value), when taken together with all other Investments made
pursuant to this clause 12 that are at the time outstanding, not to exceed $10.0 million.
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“Permitted Liens” means:

1. Liens in favor of the ABL Lender securing First Priority Debt;

2. Liens held by the Collateral Agent equally and ratably securing the notes to be issued on the date of the indenture and all
future Parity Lien Debt and other Parity Lien Obligations;

3. Liens in favor of the Company or the Guarantors;

4. Liens on property of a Person existing at the time such Person is merged with or into or consolidated with the Company or
any Guarantor; provided that such Liens were in existence prior to the contemplation of such merger or consolidation and do
not extend to any assets other than those of the Person merged into or consolidated with the Company or the Guarantor;

5. Liens on property (including Capital Stock) existing at the time of acquisition of the property by the Company or any
Guarantor; provided that such Liens were in existence prior to, and not incurred in contemplation of, such acquisition;

6. Liens to secure the performance of statutory obligations (including obligations under worker’s compensation, unemployment
insurance or similar legislation), surety or appeal bonds, performance bonds or other obligations of a like nature incurred in
the ordinary course of business, as well as obligations under the trade contracts and leases (exclusive of obligations for the
payment of borrowed money) and cash deposits in connection with acquisitions otherwise permitted under the indenture;

7. Liens existing on the date of the indenture;

8. Liens for taxes, assessments or governmental charges or claims that are not yet delinquent or that are being contested in
good faith by appropriate proceedings promptly instituted and diligently concluded; provided that any reserve or other
appropriate provision as is required in conformity with GAAP has been made therefor;

9. Liens imposed by law, such as carriers’, warehousemen’s, landlords’ and mechanics’ Liens, in each case, incurred in the
ordinary course of business;

10. survey exceptions, easements or reservations of, or rights of others for, licenses, rights-of-way, sewers, electric lines,
telegraph and telephone lines and other similar purposes, or zoning or other restrictions as to the use of real property that
were not incurred in connection with Indebtedness and that do not in the aggregate materially adversely affect the value of
said properties or materially impair their use in the operation of the business of such Person;

11. Liens created for the benefit of (or to secure) the notes (or the Note Guarantees);

12. Liens to secure any Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness permitted to be incurred under the indenture; provided, however,
that:

A. the new Lien shall be limited to all or part of the same property and assets that secured or, under the written agreements
pursuant to which the original Lien arose, could secure the original Lien (plus improvements and accessions to, such
property or proceeds or distributions thereof); and

B. the Indebtedness secured by the new Lien is not increased to any amount greater than the sum of (x) the outstanding
principal amount, or, if greater, committed amount, of the Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness and (y) an amount
necessary to pay any fees and expenses, including premiums, related to such renewal, refunding, refinancing,
replacement, defeasance or discharge;

13. Liens to secure Indebtedness (including Capital Lease Obligations) permitted by clause 10 of the second paragraph of the
covenant entitled “— Certain Covenants — Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock” covering only the
assets acquired with or financed by such Indebtedness;
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14. Liens arising by reason of any judgment, decree or order not giving rise to an Event of Default so long as such Lien is
adequately bonded and any appropriate legal proceedings which may have been duly initiated for the review of such
judgment shall not have been finally terminated or the period within such proceedings may be initiated shall not have
expired; and

15. Liens to secure obligations permitted by clause 14 of the second paragraph of the covenant entitled “— Certain
Covenants — Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Preferred Stock,” provided that such liens do not comprise any of
the Collateral.

“Permitted Prior Liens” means:

1. Liens described in clauses 1, 4, 5, 7 or 13 of the definition of “Permitted Liens”; and

2. Permitted Liens that arise by operation of law and are not voluntarily granted, to the extent entitled by law to priority over
the Liens created by the Collateral Documents.

“Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness of the Company or any Guarantor issued in exchange for, or the net
proceeds of which are used to renew, refund, refinance, replace, defease or discharge other Indebtedness of the Company or any
Guarantor (other than intercompany Indebtedness); provided that:

1. the principal amount (or accreted value, if applicable) of such Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness does not exceed the
principal amount (or accreted value, if applicable) of the Indebtedness renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or
discharged (plus all accrued interest on the Indebtedness and the amount of all fees and expenses, including premiums,
incurred in connection therewith);

2. such Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness has a final maturity date later than the final maturity date of, and has a Weighted
Average Life to Maturity equal to or greater than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity of, the Indebtedness being renewed,
refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged;

3. if the Indebtedness being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged is subordinated in right of
payment to the notes, such Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness has a final maturity date later than the final maturity date of,
and is subordinated in right of payment to, the notes on terms at least as favorable to the holders of notes as those contained
in the documentation governing the Indebtedness being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged;
and

4. such Indebtedness is incurred either by the Company or by the Guarantor who is the obligor on the Indebtedness being
renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated
organization, limited liability company or government or other entity.

“Pledged Securities” means all of the Capital Stock of each of Liggett Group LLC and Vector Tobacco.

“Pledgor” means each of the Liggett Guarantors and Vector Tobacco and any successor thereto who is required to assume their
obligations under the indenture or the Collateral Documents.

“Restricted Investment” means an Investment other than a Permitted Investment.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group.

“Sale of Collateral” means any Asset Sale involving a sale or other disposition of Collateral.

“Secured Indebtedness” means all Indebtedness of the Company and the Guarantors that is secured by Liens on any of their assets,
including, but not limited to, Indebtedness pursuant to the Liggett Credit Agreement and the notes.

“Secured Leverage Ratio” means the ratio calculated in accordance with the definition herein of “Leverage Ratio” except that
“Secured Indebtedness” shall be substituted for all occurrences of “Indebtedness” in such definition.
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“Significant Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that would be a “significant subsidiary” as defined in Article 1, Rule 1-02 of
Regulation S-X, promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act, as such Regulation is in effect on the date of the indenture.

“Stated Maturity” means, with respect to any installment of interest or principal on any series of Indebtedness, the date on which
the payment of interest or principal was scheduled to be paid in the documentation governing such Indebtedness as of the date of
the indenture, and will not include any contingent obligations to repay, redeem or repurchase any such interest or principal prior to
the date originally scheduled for the payment thereof.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any specified Person:

1. any corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of Capital
Stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency and after giving effect to any voting agreement or
stockholders’ agreement that effectively transfers voting power) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees of
the corporation, association or other business entity is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person
or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person (or a combination thereof); and

2. any partnership (a) the sole general partner or the managing general partner of which is such Person or a Subsidiary of such
Person or (b) the only general partners of which are that Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that Person (or any
combination thereof).

“Treasury Rate” means, as of any redemption date, the yield to maturity as of such redemption date of United States Treasury
securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519)
that has become publicly available at least two business days prior to the redemption date (or, if such Statistical Release is no
longer published, any publicly available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from the redemption date to
February 15, 2016, or in the case of a satisfaction and discharge or a defeasance, at least two business days prior to the date on
which the Company deposits the amounts required under the indenture; provided, however, that if the period from the redemption
date to February 15, 2016 is less than one year, the weekly average yield on actually traded United States Treasury securities
adjusted to a constant maturity of one year will be used.

“TIA” means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.

“Unrestricted Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Company other than any Subsidiary that is a Guarantor and other than any
Subsidiary owning or operating the business currently operated by Liggett Group LLC.

“Vector Tobacco” means Vector Tobacco Inc., a Virginia corporation.

“VGR Holding” means VGR Holding LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“Voting Stock” of any specified Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled to vote in
the election of the Board of Directors of such Person.

“Weighted Average Life to Maturity” means, when applied to any Indebtedness at any date, the number of years obtained by
dividing:

1. the sum of the products obtained by multiplying (a) the amount of each then remaining installment, sinking fund, serial
maturity or other required payments of principal, including payment at final maturity, in respect of the Indebtedness, by (b)
the number of years (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth) that will elapse between such date and the making of such
payment; by

2. the then outstanding principal amount of such Indebtedness.
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MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following discussion is a summary of certain material U.S. federal income tax considerations of the Exchange Offer to holders
of Original Notes, but is not a complete analysis of all potential tax effects. The summary below is based upon the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), regulations of the Treasury Department, administrative rulings and pronouncements of the
Internal Revenue Service and judicial decisions, all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. This summary
does not address all of the U.S. federal income tax considerations that may be applicable to particular holders, including dealers in
securities, financial institutions, insurance companies, regulated investment companies, tax-exempt organizations, entities treated as
partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes (or investors therein), U.S. persons whose functional currency is not the U.S.
dollar and persons who hold the notes as part of a hedge, conversion transaction, straddle or other risk reduction transaction. In
addition, this summary does not consider the effect of any foreign, state, local, gift, estate or other tax laws that may be applicable
to a particular holder. This summary applies only to a holder that acquired Original Notes at original issue for cash and holds such
Original Notes as a capital asset within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code.

An exchange of Original Notes for New Notes pursuant to the Exchange Offer will not be treated as a taxable exchange or other
taxable event for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, there will be no U.S. federal income tax consequences to holders
who exchange their Original Notes for New Notes in connection with the Exchange Offer and any such holder will have the same
adjusted tax basis and holding period in the New Notes as it had in the Original Notes immediately before the exchange.

The foregoing discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations does not consider the facts and circumstances of any
particular holder’s situation or status. Accordingly, each holder of Original Notes considering this Exchange Offer should consult
its own tax advisor regarding the tax consequences of the Exchange Offer to it, including those under state, foreign and other tax
laws.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Each broker-dealer that receives New Notes for its own account pursuant to the Exchange Offer must acknowledge that it will
deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of such New Notes. This prospectus, as it may be amended or supplemented
from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales of New Notes received in exchange for Original Notes
where such Original Notes were acquired as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities. We have agreed that, for
a period of not less than 180 days after the expiration date, we will make this prospectus, as amended or supplemented, available to
any broker-dealer for use in connection with any such resale.

We will not receive any proceeds from any sale of New Notes by broker-dealers. New Notes received by broker-dealers for their
own account pursuant to the Exchange Offer may be sold from time to time in one or more transactions in the over-the-counter
market, in negotiated transactions, through the writing of options on the New Notes or a combination of such methods of resale, at
market prices prevailing at the time of resale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices or negotiated prices. Any such resale
may be made directly to purchasers or to or through brokers or dealers who may receive compensation in the form of commissions
or concessions from any such broker-dealer and/or the purchasers of any such New Notes. Any broker-dealer that resells New
Notes that were received by it for its own account pursuant to the Exchange Offer and any broker or dealer that participates in a
distribution of such New Notes may be deemed to be an “underwriter” within the meaning of the Securities Act and any profit from
any such resale of New Notes and any commissions or concessions received by any such persons may be deemed to be
underwriting compensation under the Securities Act. The letter of transmittal states that, by acknowledging that it will deliver and
by delivering a prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an “underwriter” within the meaning of the
Securities Act.

For a period of 180 days after the expiration date, we will promptly send additional copies of this prospectus and any amendment or
supplement to this prospectus to any broker-dealer that requests such documents in the letter of transmittal. We have agreed to pay
all of our expenses incident to the Exchange Offer subject to certain prescribed limitations. We will not make any payment to
brokers, dealers or others soliciting acceptance of the Exchange Offer. We will indemnify the holders of the Original Notes
(including any broker-dealers) against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

By its acceptance of the Exchange Offer, any broker-dealer that receives New Notes pursuant to the Exchange Offer hereby agrees
to notify us prior to using the prospectus in connection with the sale or transfer of New Notes. It also agrees that, upon receipt of
notice from us of the happening of any event which makes any statement in this prospectus untrue in any material respect or which
requires the making of any changes in this prospectus in order to make the statements therein not misleading or which may impose
upon us disclosure obligations that may have a material adverse effect on us (which notice we agree to deliver promptly to such
broker-dealer), such broker-dealer will suspend use of this prospectus until we have notified such broker-dealer that delivery of this
prospectus may resume and has furnished copies of any amendment or supplement to this prospectus to such broker-dealer.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the New Notes and the related guarantees will be passed upon for us by O’Melveny & Myers LLP and, with respect
to matters of Virginia law, by Robert T. Vaughan, Jr. P.C.

EXPERTS

The financial statements and management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting (which is
included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting) incorporated in this prospectus by reference to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Vector Group Ltd. for the year ended December 31, 2013 have been so incorporated in reliance on
the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered certified public accounting firm, given on the authority of
said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The financial statements of Liggett Group LLC incorporated in this prospectus by reference to the Vector Group Ltd. Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in
auditing and accounting.

The financial statements of Vector Tobacco Inc. incorporated in this prospectus by reference to the Vector Group Ltd. Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in
auditing and accounting.

The financial statements of Douglas Elliman Realty, LLC incorporated in this prospectus by reference to the Vector Group Ltd.
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2103 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in
auditing and accounting.
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 20. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Delaware Registrants

Section 145(a) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) provides, in relevant part, that a corporation may
indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit
or proceeding (other than an action by or in the right of the corporation) by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director,
officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee
or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including against expenses (including attorneys’
fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such
action, suit or proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not
opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to
believe such person’s conduct was unlawful. Under Section 145(b) of the DGCL, such eligibility for indemnification may be
further subject to the adjudication of the Delaware Court of Chancery or the court in which such action or suit was brought.

Section 102(b)(7) of the DGCL provides that a corporation may in its certificate of incorporation eliminate or limit the personal
liability of a director to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director except
for liability: (i) for any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders; (ii) for acts or omissions not in
good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; (iii) under Section 174 of the DGCL (pertaining
to certain prohibited acts including unlawful payment of dividends or unlawful purchase or redemption of the corporation’s capital
stock); or (iv) for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. The certificates of incorporation of
each of Vector Group Ltd., Eve Holdings Inc., Liggett & Myers Holdings Inc. and Accommodations Acquisition Corporation
eliminate such personal liability of their directors under such terms.

Vector Group Ltd. and the other Delaware registrants also maintain liability insurance for the benefit of their directors and officers.

Section 18-108 of the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act provides that, subject to such standards and restrictions, if any, as
are set forth in its limited liability company agreement, a limited liability company may, and shall have the power to, indemnify and
hold harmless any member or manager or other person from and against any and all claims and demands whatsoever.

The limited liability company agreements of Liggett Group LLC, Liggett Vector Brands LLC, VGR Holding LLC, VGR Aviation
LLC, Vector Research LLC, V.T. Aviation LLC, and Zoom E-Cigs LLC provide that each such registrant will indemnify and hold
harmless its managers and delegates of its managers, to the maximum extent permitted under Section 18-108 of the Delaware
Limited Liability Company Act. The limited liability company agreement of 100 Maple LLC provides for the indemnification of
any manager for all claims, costs, expenses, losses, liabilities and damages paid or incurred by such manager in connection with the
business of 100 Maple LLC (or paid or incurred while such manager was serving at the request of 100 Maple LLC, as a director,
officer, employee or agent of a corporation, partnership, trust or other enterprise), to the fullest extent authorized by the Delaware
Limited Liability Company Act, provided that no indemnification shall be made to or on behalf of any manager if a judgment or
other final adjudication adverse to such manager establishes that either (a) the manager’s acts were committed in bad faith or were
the result of active and deliberate dishonesty and were material to the cause of the action being adjudicated, or (b) the manager
personally gained a financial profit or other advantage to which the manager was not legally entitled.

Virginia Registrant

Vector Tobacco Inc. is incorporated under the laws of the State of Virginia. Section 13.1-697(A) of the Code of Virginia, 1950, as
amended (the “Virginia Code”) provides that a corporation may indemnify an individual made a party to a proceeding because he is
or was a director or officer against liability incurred in the
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proceeding, (a) if he conducted himself in good faith, and (b) he believed, (i) in the case of conduct in his official capacity with the
corporation, that his conduct was in its best interests, (ii) in all other cases, that his conduct was at least not opposed to its best
interests, and (iii) in the case of any criminal proceeding, he had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. Unless
ordered by a court under subsection C of 13.1-700.1 of the Virginia Code, (a) a corporation may not indemnify a director in
connection with a proceeding by or in the right of the corporation except for reasonable expenses incurred in connection with the
proceeding if it is determined that the director has met the relevant standard set forth in the preceding sentence, or (b) in connection
with any other proceeding charging improper personal benefit to the director, whether or not involving action in his official
capacity, in which he was adjudged liable on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received by him. Section 13.1-698 of
the Virginia Code provides that unless limited by its articles of incorporation, a corporation shall indemnify a director who entirely
prevails in the defense of any proceeding to which he was a party because he is or was a director of the corporation against
reasonable expenses incurred by him in connection with the proceeding. The articles of incorporation of Vector Tobacco Inc. have
no such limitations and the bylaws of Vector Tobacco Inc. provide that its directors and officers are indemnified to the maximum
extent provided by law.

Item 21. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

The following exhibits are filed herewith or incorporated herein by reference.
 

Exhibit
Number  Description of Documents
*3.1. 

 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Vector Group Ltd. (formerly known as Brooke
Group Ltd.) (“Vector”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 in Vector’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 1999).

*3.2. 
 

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Vector Group
Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated May 24, 2000).

*3.3. 

 

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Vector Group
Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 in Vector’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2007).

*3.4. 
 

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Vector Group
Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated May 16, 2014).

*3.5. 
 

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Vector Group Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 in
Vector’s Form 8-K dated October 19, 2007).

*3.6. 
 

Certificate of Formation of 100 Maple LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 in Vector’s Form
S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.7. 
 

Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of 100 Maple LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.6 in Vector’s Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.8. 
 

Certificate of Incorporation of Accommodations Acquisition Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.27 in Vector’s Form S-4 dated April 4, 2011).

*3.9. 
 

By-Laws of Accommodations Acquisition Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.28 in
Vector’s Form S-4 dated April 4, 2011).

*3.10.
 

Certificate of Incorporation of Eve Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.7 in Vector’s
Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.11.
 

By-laws of Eve Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.8 in Vector’s Form S-4 dated
April 8, 2008).

*3.12.
 

Certificate of Incorporation of Liggett & Myers Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.9
in Vector’s Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.13.
 

By-laws of Liggett & Myers Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.10 in Vector’s Form
S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.14.
 

Certificate of Formation of Liggett Group LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.13 in Vector’s
Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).
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Exhibit
Number  Description of Documents
*3.15.

 
Limited Liability Company Agreement of Liggett Group LLC (“Liggett”) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.14 in Vector’s Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.16.
 

Certificate of Formation of Liggett Vector Brands LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.15 in
Vector’s Form S-4 dated April 4, 2011).

*3.17.
 

Limited Liability Company Agreement of Liggett Vector Brands LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.16 in Vector’s Form S-4 dated April 4, 2011).

*3.18.
 

Certificate of Formation of V.T. Aviation LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.17 in Vector’s
Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.19.
 

Limited Liability Company Agreement of V.T. Aviation LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.18 in Vector’s Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.20.
 

Certificate of Formation of Vector Research LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.19 in Vector’s
Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.21.
 

Limited Liability Company Agreement of Vector Research LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.20 in Vector’s Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.22.
 

Articles of Incorporation of Vector Tobacco Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.21 in Vector’s
Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.23.
 

By-laws of Vector Tobacco Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.22 in Vector’s Form S-4 dated
April 8, 2008).

*3.24.
 

Certificate of Formation of VGR Aviation LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.23 in Vector’s
Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.25.
 

Limited Liability Company Agreement of VGR Aviation LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.24 in Vector’s Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.26.
 

Certificate of Formation of VGR Holding LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.25 in Vector’s
Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

*3.27.
 

Limited Liability Company Agreement of VGR Holding LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.26 in Vector’s Form S-4 dated April 8, 2008).

**3.28.  Certificate of Formation of Zoom E-Cigs LLC.
**3.29.  Limited Liability Company Agreement of Zoom E-Cigs LLC.
*4.1. 

 

Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2012, between
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and Liggett Group LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Vector’s
Form 8-K/A dated February 21, 2012).

*4.2. 

 

Amended and Restated Term Promissory Note, dated as of February 21, 2012, between Wells Fargo
Bank, N.A. and 100 Maple LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in Vector’s Form 8-K/A
dated February 21, 2012).

*4.3. 

 

Indenture, dated as of July 12, 2006, by and between Vector Group Ltd. and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,
relating to the 3 7/8% Variable Interest Senior Convertible Debentures due 2026 (the “3 7/8%
Debentures”), including the form of the 3 7/8% Debenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 in
Vector’s Form 8-K dated July 11, 2006).

*4.4. 
 

Note, dated May 11, 2009, by Vector Group Ltd. to Frost Nevada Investments Trust (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Vector’s Form 8-K dated May 11, 2009).

*4.5. 
 

Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2009, between Vector Group Ltd. and Frost Nevada
Investments Trust (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Vector’s Form 8-K dated May 11, 2009).

*4.6. 

 

Form of Issuance and Exchange Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2009, between Vector Group Ltd. and
holders of its 5% Variable Interest Senior Convertible Notes due 2011 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 of Vector’s Form 8-K dated June 15, 2009).
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Exhibit
Number  Description of Documents
*4.7. 

 

Indenture, dated as of June 30, 2009, between Vector Group Ltd. and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. as trustee,
relating to the 6.75% Variable Interest Senior Convertible Exchange Notes Due 2014, including the
form of Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Vector’s Form 8-K dated June 30, 2009).

*4.8. 

 

Share Lending Agreement, dated as of November 15, 2012, between Vector Group Ltd. and Jefferies &
Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Vector’s Form 8-K dated November 15,
2012).

*4.9. 

 

Indenture, dated as of November 20, 2012, by and between Vector Group Ltd. and Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A., as trustee, relating to the 7.5% Variable Interest Senior Convertible Notes due 2019 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Vector’s Form 8-K dated November 20, 2012).

*4.10.

 

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 20, 2012, to the Indenture dated November 20,
2012, by and between Vector Group Ltd. and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as trustee, relating to the 7.5%
Variable Interest Senior Convertible Notes due 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of
Vector’s Form 8-K dated November 20, 2012).

*4.11.
 

Form of Global Note, relating to the 7.5% Variable Interest Senior Convertible Notes due 2019
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of Vector’s Form 8-K dated November 20, 2012).

*4.12.

 

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 24, 2014, to the Base Indenture, by and between
Vector Group Ltd. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, relating to the 5.5% Variable
Interest Senior Convertible Notes due 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Vector’s Form
8-K dated March 24, 2014).

*4.13.
 

Form of Global Note, relating to the 5.5% Variable Interest Senior Convertible Notes due 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of Vector’s Form 8-K dated March 24, 2014).

*4.14.

 

Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2013, among Vector Group Ltd., the guarantors named therein, and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee relating to the 7.750% Senior Secured Notes due 2021
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Vector’s Form 8-K dated February 12, 2013).

*4.15.

 

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 10, 2013, among Vector Group Ltd., the
guarantors named therein, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee relating to the 7.750% Senior
Secured Notes due 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Vector’s Form 10-Q dated
September 30, 2013).

*4.16.

 

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 15, 2014, among Vector Group Ltd., the guarantors
named therein, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee relating to the 7.750% Senior Secured
Notes due 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of Vector’s 8-K dated April 15, 2014).

*4.17.

 

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2014, among Vector Group Ltd., the guarantors
named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4
of Vector’s 8-K dated April 15, 2014).

*4.18.

 

Pledge Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2013, by and between VGR Holding LLC and
U.S. Bank National Association, as collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of
Vector’s Form 8-K dated February 12, 2013).

*4.19.

 

Security Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2013, by and between Vector Tobacco Inc. and
U.S. Bank National Association, as collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of
Vector’s 8-K dated February 12, 2013).

*4.20.

 

Security Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2013, among Liggett Group LLC, 100 Maple LLC and
U.S. Bank National Association, as collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of
Vector’s 8-K dated February 12, 2013).

*4.21.

 

Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2013, among Liggett Group LLC, 100 Maple LLC,
U.S. Bank National Association and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.6 of Vector’s 8-K dated February 12, 2013).
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Exhibit
Number  Description of Documents
  5.1.  Opinion of O’Melveny & Myers LLP.
  5.2.  Opinion of Robert J. Vaughan, Jr. P.C.

 *10.1. 

 

Corporate Services Agreement, dated as of June 29, 1990, between Vector Group Ltd. and Liggett
Group LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 in Liggett’s Registration Statement on Form S-
1, No. 33-47482).

 *10.2. 

 

Services Agreement, dated as of February 26, 1991, between Brooke Management Inc. (“BMI”) and
Liggett Group LLC (the “Liggett Services Agreement”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 in
VGR Holding LLC’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, No. 33-93576).

 *10.3. 

 

First Amendment to Liggett Services Agreement, dated as of November 30, 1993, between Liggett
Group LLC and Brooke Management Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 in VGR
Holding’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, No. 33-93576).

 *10.4. 

 

Second Amendment to Liggett Services Agreement, dated as of October 1, 1995, between Brooke
Management Inc., Vector Group Ltd. and Liggett Group LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(c) in Vector’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1995).

 *10.5. 

 

Third Amendment to Liggett Services Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2001, by and between Vector
Group Ltd. and Liggett Group LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 in Vector’s Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2003).

 *10.6. 

 

Fourth Amendment to Liggett Services Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2006, between Vector Group
Ltd. and Liggett Group LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Vector’s Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2012).

 *10.7. 

 

Fifth Amendment to Liggett Services Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2011, between Vector
Group Ltd. and Liggett Group LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in Vector’s Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2012).

 *10.8. 

 

Corporate Services Agreement, dated January 1, 1992, between VGR Holding LLC and Liggett Group
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 in Liggett’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, No.
33-47482).

 *10.9. 
 

Service Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2006, between Vector Group Ltd. and Vector Tobacco Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in Vector’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012).

 *10.10.

 

Tax Sharing Agreement, dated May 24, 1999, between Brooke Group Ltd., BGLS Inc., Liggett Group
LLC, Epic Holdings Inc., and Carolina Tobacco Express Company Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 in Vector’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012).

 *10.11.

 

Settlement Agreement, dated March 15, 1996, by and among the State of West Virginia, State of
Florida, State of Mississippi, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and State of Louisiana, Brooke Group
Holding and Liggett Group LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 15 in the Schedule 13D filed by
Vector on March 11, 1996, as amended, with respect to the common stock of RJR Nabisco Holdings
Corp.).

*10.12.
 

Addendum to Initial States Settlement Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 in
Vector’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997).

*10.13.

 

Settlement Agreement, dated March 12, 1998, by and among the States listed in Appendix A thereto,
Brooke Group Holding and Liggett Group LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 in Vector’s
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997).

*10.14.

 

Master Settlement Agreement made by the Settling States and Participating Manufacturers signatories
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Philip Morris Companies Inc.’s Form 8-K dated
November 25, 1998, Commission File No. 1-8940).
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Exhibit
Number  Description of Documents
*10.15.

 

General Liggett Replacement Agreement, dated as of November 23, 1998, entered into by each of the
Settling States under the Master Settlement Agreement, and Brooke Group Holding and Liggett Group
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 in Vector’s Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 1998).

*10.16.

 

Stipulation and Agreed Order regarding Stay of Execution Pending Review and Related Matters, dated
May 7, 2001, entered into by Philip Morris Incorporated, Lorillard Tobacco Co., Liggett Group LLC
and Brooke Group Holding Inc. and the class counsel in Engel, et. al., v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., et.
al. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 in Philip Morris Companies Inc.’s Form 8-K dated May 7,
2001).

*10.17.

 

Term Sheet agreed to by Liggett, certain other Participating Manufacturers, 18 states, the District of
Columbia and Puerto Rico (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Reynolds American Inc.’s
(Commission File Number 1-32258) Form 8-K, dated March 18, 2013).

*10.18.

 

Settlement Agreement as of October 22, 2013, by, between and among: (a) Liggett and Vector and (b)
Plaintiffs’ Coordinating Counsel, Participating Plaintiffs’ Counsel, and their respective clients who are
plaintiffs in certain Engle Progeny Actions (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of Vector’s
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013).

*10.19.

 

Settlement Agreement as of October 22, 2013, by, between and among: (a) Liggett Group LLC and
Vector, and (b) Plaintiffs’ Coordinating Counsel, The Wilner Firm, and The Wilner Firm’s clients who
are plaintiffs in certain federal and state Engle Progeny Actions (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.19 of Vector’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013).

*10.20.

 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of January 27, 2006, between Vector Group
Ltd. and Howard M. Lorber (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated
January 27, 2006).

*10.21.
 

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 27, 2006, between Vector Group Ltd. and Richard J.
Lampen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated January 27, 2006).

*10.22.

 

Amendment, dated as of February 22, 2012, to the Employment Agreement between Vector Group Ltd.
and Richard J. Lampen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in Vector’s Form 8-K/A dated
February 21, 2012).

*10.23.

 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of January 27, 2006, between Vector Group
Ltd. and Marc N. Bell (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated January
27, 2006).

*10.24.
 

Employment Agreement, dated as of November 11, 2005, between Liggett Group LLC and Ronald J.
Bernstein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated November 11, 2005).

*10.25.

 

Amendment, dated as of January 14, 2011, to Employment Agreement between Liggett Group LLC and
Ronald J. Bernstein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 in Vector’s Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2010).

*10.26.
 

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2013, between Liggett and Ronald J.
Bernstein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Vector's Form 8-K dated October 29, 2013).

*10.27.
 

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 27, 2006, between Vector Group Ltd. and J. Bryant
Kirkland III (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated January 27, 2006).

*10.28.
 

Vector Group Ltd. Amended and Restated 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Appendix A in Vector’s Proxy Statement dated April 21, 2004).

*10.29.

 

Stock Option Agreement, dated December 3, 2009, between Vector Group Ltd. and Richard J. Lampen
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 in Vector’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2009).
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Exhibit
Number  Description of Documents
*10.30.

 

Stock Option Agreement, dated December 3, 2009, between Vector Group Ltd. and Marc N. Bell
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 in Vector’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2009).

*10.31.

 

Stock Option Agreement, dated December 3, 2009, between Vector Group Ltd. and Howard M. Lorber
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 in Vector’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2009).

*10.32.

 

Stock Option Agreement, dated December 3, 2009, between Vector Group Ltd. and J. Bryant Kirkland
III (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 in Vector’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2009).

*10.33.
 

Option Letter Agreement, dated as of November 11, 2005, between Vector Group Ltd. and Ronald J.
Bernstein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated November 11, 2005).

*10.34.
 

Restricted Share Award Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2009, between Vector Group Ltd. and Howard
M. Lorber (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Vector’s Form 8-K dated April 10, 2009).

*10.35.

 

Amendment, effective as of December 11, 2012, to the Restricted Share Award Agreement, dated as of
April 7, 2009, by and between Vector Group Ltd. and Howard M. Lorber (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated December 11, 2012).

*10.36.
 

Agreement, effective as of December 11, 2012, by and between Vector Group Ltd. and Howard M.
Lorber (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated December 11, 2012).

*10.37.

 

Stock Option Agreement, dated January 14, 2011, between Vector Group Ltd. and Howard M. Lorber
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit S to Schedule 13D, as amended, dated January 21, 2011 filed by
Howard M. Lorber).

*10.38.

 

Stock Option Agreement, dated February 26, 2013, between Vector and Howard M. Lorber
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Vector's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2013).

*10.39.

 

Stock Option Agreement, dated February 26, 2013, between Vector and Richard J. Lampen
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Vector's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2013).

*10.40.

 

Stock Option Agreement, dated February 26, 2013, between Vector and J. Bryant Kirkland III
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Vector's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2013).

*10.41.
 

Stock Option Agreement, dated February 26, 2013, between Vector and Marc N. Bell (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Vector's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013).

*10.42.

 

Restricted Share Award Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2013, between Vector Group Ltd. and
Ronald J. Bernstein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 in Vector’s Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2013).

*10.43.
 

Vector Group Ltd. Senior Executive Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated January 14, 2011).

*10.44.
 

Vector Group Ltd. Supplemental Retirement Plan (as amended and restated April 24, 2008)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Vector’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008).

*10.45.
 

Vector Group Ltd. Management Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Vector’s Form 8-K dated
March 10, 2014).

*10.46.

 

Operating Agreement of Douglas Elliman Realty, LLC (formerly known as Montauk Battery Realty
LLC), dated December 17, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in New Valley’s Form 8-K
dated December 13, 2002).
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Number  Description of Documents
*10.47.

 

First Amendment to Operating Agreement of Douglas Elliman Realty, LLC (formerly known as
Montauk Battery Realty LLC), dated as of March 14, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
in New Valley’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003).

*10.48.

 

Second Amendment to Operating Agreement of Douglas Elliman Realty, LLC, dated as of May 19,
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in New Valley’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2003).

*10.49.

 

Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release by and among (i) Prudential Real Estate Financial Services
of America Inc. and (ii) Douglas Elliman Realty LLC; Dorothy Herman; DTHY Realty, Inc.; New
Valley Real Estate LLC; New Valley Mortgage LLC; Howard M. Lorber and Richard J. Lampen dated
December 13, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 in Vector’s Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2013).

*10.50.

 

Agreement Relating to Sale and Assignment of Membership Interest between New Valley Real Estate
LLC and Prudential Real Estate Financial Services of America, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.49 in Vector’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013).

*10.51.

 

Office Lease, dated as of September 10, 2012, between Vector Group Ltd. and Frost Real Estate
Holdings, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in Vector’s Form 8-K dated September 10,
2012).

*10.52.

 

First Amendment, dated as of November 12, 2012, to Office Lease, dated as of September 10, 2012,
between Vector Group Ltd. and Frost Real Estate Holdings, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.40 in Vector’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012).

*10.53.
 

Vector Group Ltd.’s Equity Retention and Hedging Policy, dated as of January 15, 2013 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Vector’s 8-K dated January 15, 2013).

*10.54.
 

Vector Group Ltd.’s Stock Ownership Guidelines, dated as of March 3, 2014 (incorporated by
reference to Vector’s Form 8-K dated March 10, 2014).

*10.55.
 

Vector Group Ltd. Executive Compensation Clawback Policy (incorporated by reference to Vector’s
Form 8-K dated March 10, 2014).

*12.1  

 

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges for each of the five years within the period ended
December 31, 2013 and the three months ended March 31, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
12.1 in Vector’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014).

*21   
 

Subsidiaries of Vector Group Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21 in Vector’s Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2013).

23.1  Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
23.2  Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
23.3  Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
23.4  Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
23.5  Consent of O’Melveny & Myers LLP (included in the opinion filed as Exhibit 5.1).
23.6  Consent of Robert T. Vaughan, Jr. P.C. (included in the opinion filed as Exhibit 5.2).

**24.1   Power of Attorney (included on signature pages hereto).
25.1 

 
Statement of Eligibility on Form T-1 under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of
U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee.

**99.1   Form of Letter of Transmittal.
**99.2   Form of Notice of Guaranteed Delivery.
**99.3   Form of Notice of Withdrawal of Tender.
**99.4   Form of Guidelines for Certification of Taxpayer Identification Number on Substitute Form W-9.
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*99.5

 

Selected Financial Data for the three months ended December 31, 2013, September 30, 2013, June 30,
2013 and March 31, 2013 and for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Vector’s Form 8-K dated June 19, 2014).

  99.6
 

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2014 for
Vector Group Ltd.'s wholly owned subsidiary, Liggett Group LLC.

  99.7
 

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2014 for
Vector Group Ltd.'s wholly owned subsidiary, Vector Tobacco Inc.

* Incorporated by reference.

** Previously filed.
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Item 22. Undertakings.

The undersigned registrants hereby undertake:

(1) to file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

(i) to include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

(ii) to reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most
recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the
information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of
securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any
deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus
filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no
more than 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the “Calculation of Registration Fee” table
in the effective registration statement;

(iii)to include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration
statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall
be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at
that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain
unsold at the termination of the offering.

(4) That, for purposes of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser, each prospectus filed pursuant
to Rule 424(b) as part of a registration statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule
430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration
statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration
statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated
by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with
a time of contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration
statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such
date of first use.

(5) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial
distribution of securities: The undersigned registrants undertake that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned
registrants pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the
purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the
undersigned registrants will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such
purchaser:

(i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed
pursuant to Rule 424;

(ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or
referred to by the undersigned registrant;
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(iii)The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the
undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and

(iv)Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.

The undersigned registrants hereby undertake that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each
filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where
applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to
the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering
thereof.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and
controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrants have been advised that in the
opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is,
therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the
registrants of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrants in the successful defense of any
action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being
registered, the registrants will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a
court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and
will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned registrants hereby undertake to respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference into the
prospectus pursuant to Item 4, 10(b), 11, or 13 of this form, within one business day of receipt of such request, and to send the
incorporated documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes information contained in documents filed
subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement through the date of responding to the request.

The undersigned registrants hereby undertake to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information concerning a
transaction, and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in the registration statement
when it became effective.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Miami, State of Florida, on July 1, 2014.

VECTOR GROUP LTD.

By:/s/ J. Bryant Kirkland III
J. Bryant Kirkland III
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
*
Howard M. Lorber  

President and Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)  

July 1, 2014

/s/ J. Bryant Kirkland III
J. Bryant Kirkland III

 

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Stanley S. Arkin  

Director
 

July 1, 2014

*
Henry C. Beinstein  

Director
 

July 1, 2014

*
Ronald J. Bernstein  

Director
 

July 1, 2014

*
Bennett S. LeBow  

Director
 

July 1, 2014

*
Jeffrey S. Podell  

Director
 

July 1, 2014

*
Jean E. Sharpe  

Director
 

July 1, 2014

* /s/ J. Bryant Kirkland III  
   J. Bryant Kirkland III
   Attorney-in-fact

II-12

 



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Morrisville, State of North Carolina, on July 1, 2014.

100 Maple LLC

By:/s/ Ronald J. Bernstein
Ronald J. Bernstein
Manager

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
/s/ Ronald J. Bernstein
Ronald J. Bernstein  

Manager (Principal Executive Officer)
 

July 1, 2014

*
Charles M. Kingan, Jr.  

Manager (Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)  

July 1, 2014

* /s/ Ronald J. Bernstein  
   Ronald J. Bernstein
   Attorney-in-fact
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Miami, State of Florida, on July 1, 2014.

Accommodations Acquisition Corporation

By:/s/ Marc N. Bell
Marc N. Bell
Vice President and Secretary

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
*
Richard J. Lampen  

President and Director (Principal Executive Officer)
 

July 1, 2014

*
J. Bryant Kirkland III  

Vice President, Treasurer and Director (Principal
Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)  

July 1, 2014

/s/ Marc N. Bell
Marc N. Bell  

Vice President, Secretary and Director
 

July 1, 2014

* /s/ Marc N. Bell  
   Marc N. Bell
   Attorney-in-fact
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Miami, State of Florida, on July 1, 2014.

Eve Holdings Inc.

By:/s/ Richard J. Lampen
Richard J. Lampen
President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
/s/ Richard J. Lampen
Richard J. Lampen  

President and Director (Principal Executive Officer)
 

July 1, 2014

*
J. Bryant Kirkland III  

Vice President and Treasurer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Marc N. Bell  

Vice President, Secretary and Director
 

July 1, 2014

* /s/ Richard J. Lampen  
   Richard J. Lampen
   Attorney-in-fact
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Miami, State of Florida, on July 1, 2014.

Liggett & Myers Holdings Inc.

By:/s/ Richard J. Lampen
Richard J. Lampen
President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
/s/ Richard J. Lampen
Richard J. Lampen  

President and Director (Principal Executive Officer)
 

July 1, 2014

*
J. Bryant Kirkland III  

Treasurer and Director (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)  

July 1, 2014

* /s/ Richard J. Lampen  
   Richard J. Lampen
   Attorney-in-fact
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Morrisville, State of North Carolina, on July 1, 2014.

Liggett Group LLC

By:/s/ Ronald J. Bernstein
Ronald J. Bernstein
Manager, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
/s/ Ronald J. Bernstein
Ronald J. Bernstein  

Manager, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Charles M. Kingan, Jr.  

Manager and Vice President, Finance (Principal
Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Billy T. Turner, Jr.  

Manager
 

July 1, 2014

* /s/ Ronald J. Bernstein  
   Ronald J. Bernstein
   Attorney-in-fact
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Morrisville, State of North Carolina, on July 1, 2014.

Liggett Vector Brands LLC

By:/s/ Ronald J. Bernstein
Ronald J. Bernstein
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
/s/ Ronald J. Bernstein
Ronald J. Bernstein  

Manager, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Nicholas P. Anson

 

Manager and Vice President, Finance, Treasurer and
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer
and Principal Accounting Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Charles M. Kingan, Jr.  

Manager
 

July 1, 2014

* /s/ Ronald J. Bernstein  
   Ronald J. Bernstein
   Attorney-in-fact
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Morrisville, State of North Carolina, on July 1, 2014.

V.T. Aviation LLC

By:/s/ Nicholas P. Anson
Nicholas P. Anson
Vice President of Finance, Treasurer and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
/s/ Nicholas P. Anson
Nicholas P. Anson

 

Vice President of Finance, Treasurer and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Executive Officer,
Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Vector Research LLC  

Sole Member and Manager
 

July 1, 2014

As Sole Member and Manager       
By:   Marc N. Bell
Title: President and Manager  

  
 

  

* /s/ Nicholas P. Anson  
   Nicholas P. Anson
   Attorney-in-fact
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Miami, State of Florida, on July 1, 2014.

Vector Research LLC

By:/s/ Marc N. Bell
Marc N. Bell
President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
/s/ Marc N. Bell
Marc N. Bell  

President and Manager (Principal Executive Officer)
 

July 1, 2014

*
Nicholas P. Anson

 

Vice President, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Howard M. Lorber  

Manager
 

July 1, 2014

* /s/ Marc N. Bell  
   Marc N. Bell
   Attorney-in-fact
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of New York, State of New York, on July 1, 2014.

Vector Tobacco Inc.

By:/s/ Howard M. Lorber
Howard M. Lorber
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
/s/ Howard M. Lorber
Howard M. Lorber  

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Nicholas P. Anson

 

Vice President of Finance, Treasurer and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Marc N. Bell  

Senior Vice President, General Counsel, Secretary and
Director  

July 1, 2014

* /s/ Howard M. Lorber  
   Howard M. Lorber
   Attorney-in-fact
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Morrisville, State of North Carolina, on July 1, 2014.

VGR Aviation LLC

By:/s/ Nicholas P. Anson
Nicholas P. Anson
Vice President of Finance, Treasurer and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
/s/ Nicholas P. Anson
Nicholas P. Anson

 

Vice President of Finance, Treasurer and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Executive Officer,
Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Vector Group Ltd.  

Sole Member and Manager
 

July 1, 2014

As Sole Member and Manager       
By:    J. Bryant Kirkland III
Title:  Vice President, Chief
       Financial Officer and
       Treasurer  

  

 

  

* /s/ Nicholas P. Anson  
   Nicholas P. Anson
   Attorney-in-fact
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Miami, State of Florida, on July 1, 2014.

VGR Holding LLC

By:/s/ Marc N. Bell
Marc N. Bell
Manager

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
*
Richard J. Lampen  

Manager (Principal Executive Officer)
 

July 1, 2014

/s/ Marc N. Bell
Marc N. Bell  

Manager
 

July 1, 2014

*
J. Bryant Kirkland III

 

Vice President, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)  

July 1, 2014

* /s/ Marc N. Bell  
   Marc N. Bell
   Attorney-in-fact
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the co-registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Morrisville, State of North Carolina, on July 1, 2014.

ZOOM E-Cigs LLC

By:/s/ Ronald J. Bernstein
Ronald J. Bernstein
Manager, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

  
Signature  Title  Date
/s/ Ronald J. Bernstein
Ronald J. Bernstein  

Manager, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Nicholas P. Anson

 

Manager and Vice President-Finance and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)  

July 1, 2014

*
Charles M. Kingan, Jr.  

Manager
 

July 1, 2014

* /s/ Ronald J. Bernstein  
   Ronald J. Bernstein
   Attorney-in-fact
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BEIJING
BRUSSELS
CENTURY CITY
HONG KONG
JAKARTA†
LONDON
NEWPORT BEACH
NEW YORK

 400 South Hope Street
Los Angeles, California 90071-2899

TELEPHONE (213) 430-6000
FACSIMILE (213) 430-6407

www.omm.com
 

 SAN FRANCISCO
SEOUL

SHANGHAI
SILICON VALLEY

SINGAPORE
TOKYO

WASHINGTON, D.C.

 
July 1, 2014

 
Vector Group Ltd.
4400 Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, FL 33137
 

Re: Registration of 7.750% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 of Vector Group Ltd.
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

At your request, we have examined the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (such registration statement, as amended or supplemented, the
“Registration Statement”) , of Vector Group Ltd., a Delaware corporation (the “Issuer”), in connection with the Issuer’s offer to exchange up to $150,000,000
aggregate principal amount of the Issuer’s 7.750% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 (the “Exchange Notes”) and the related guarantees (the “Exchange
Guarantees”) provided by the subsidiaries of the Issuer listed on Schedule I hereto (the “Subsidiary Guarantors”), each of which will be registered under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), for a like principal amount of the Issuer’s outstanding 7.750% Senior Secured Notes due 2021
issued on April 15, 2014 (the “Original Notes”) and the related guarantees (the “Original Guarantees”) provided by the Subsidiary Guarantors.

 
We have acted as special counsel to the Issuer and the Subsidiary Guarantors in connection with the transactions described above. In our capacity as

such counsel, we have examined originals or copies of (i) the Registration Statement, (ii) the Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2013, by and among the
Issuer, the Subsidiary Guarantors and U.S. Bank National Association (the “Trustee”), as supplemented by the First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
September 10, 2013, and the Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 15, 2014, and (iii) such other corporate and other records and documents we
considered appropriate. We have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals and the conformity
with the originals of all documents submitted to us as copies.

 
In connection with the opinion expressed in paragraph 2 below, we have assumed the matters set forth in opinion paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 in the

opinion of Robert T. Vaughan, Jr., P.C., dated the date hereof, a copy of which has been delivered to you, as to matters of Virginia law.
 
On the basis of such examination, our reliance upon the assumptions in this opinion and our consideration of those questions of law we considered

relevant, and subject to the limitations and qualifications in this opinion, we are of the opinion that:
 

† In association with Tumbuan & Partners
 

 



 

 

 
1. The Exchange Notes and the Exchange Guarantees have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or limited liability company action on the

part of the Issuer and the Delaware Guarantors (as defined in Schedule I hereto), as applicable; and
 

2. Upon the acceptance for exchange of the Original Notes and the Original Guarantees and the delivery of the Exchange Notes and Exchange
Guarantees in exchange for the Original Notes and Original Guarantees in accordance with the Prospectus constituting part of the Registration
Statement, and upon the authentication of the certificates representing the Exchange Notes by a duly authorized signatory of the Trustee, the
Exchange Notes and the Exchange Guarantees will be the legally valid and binding obligations of the Issuer and the Subsidiary Guarantors, as
applicable, enforceable against the Issuer and the Subsidiary Guarantors in accordance with their terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally (including, without limitation, fraudulent
conveyance laws) and by general principles of equity, including, without limitation, concepts of materiality, reasonableness, good faith and fair
dealing and the possible unavailability of specific performance or injunctive relief, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at
law.

 
The law covered by this opinion letter is limited to the present law of the State of New York, the present Delaware Limited Liability Company Act

and the present Delaware General Corporation Law. We express no opinion as to the laws of any other jurisdiction and no opinion regarding the statutes,
administrative decisions, rules, regulations or requirements of any county, municipality, subdivision or local authority or any jurisdiction.

 
This opinion is being furnished in accordance with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act, and

no opinion is expressed herein as to any matter pertaining to the contents of the Registration Statement or the Prospectus included in the Registration
Statement, other than as expressly stated herein with respect to the Exchange Notes and the Exchange Guarantees.

 
We hereby consent to the use of this opinion letter as an exhibit to the Registration Statement and to the reference to this firm under the heading

“Legal Matters” in the Prospectus constituting part of the Registration Statement.
 

 Respectfully submitted,
  
 /s/ O’Melveny & Myers LLP
 

 



 

 

 
Schedule I

 
*100 Maple LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
*Accommodations Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation
*Eve Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation
*Liggett & Myers Holdings Inc., a Delaware corporation
*Liggett Group LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
*Liggett Vector Brands LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
*V.T. Aviation LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
*Vector Research LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Vector Tobacco Inc., a Virginia corporation
*VGR Aviation LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
*VGR Holding LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
* Zoom E-Cigs LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
 
* Collectively, the “Delaware Guarantors”
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 5.2

 
[Letterhead of Robert T. Vaughan, Jr., P.C.]

 
 

 
June 30, 2014

 
Vector Group Ltd.
4400 Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, FL 33137
 
RE: Registration Statement on Form S-4 Relating to $150,000,000 Aggregate Principal Amount of 7.750% Senior Secured Notes Due 2021
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

We have served as Virginia counsel to Vector Tobacco Inc., a Virginia corporation (the "Company"), in connection with certain matters of Virginia
law arising out of the filing by Vector Group Ltd., a Delaware corporation (the "Issuer"), of a Registration Statement on Form S-4 (the "Registration
Statement") pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), relating to the registration of the offer by the Issuer to exchange up to
$150,000,000 aggregate principal amount of its 7.750% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 (the "Exchange Securities") for its existing 7.750% Senior Secured
Notes due 2021 issued on April 15, 2014 (the "Securities"). The Securities are, and the Exchange Securities are to be, guaranteed by the subsidiaries of the
Issuer listed on Schedule I hereto (the "Guarantors"). The Exchange Securities are to be issued in accordance with the provisions of the indenture dated as of
February 12, 2013, among the issuer, the Guarantors and U.S. Bank National Association (the "Trustee") as supplemented by the First Supplemental
Indenture, dated as of September 10, 2013, and the Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 15, 2014 (as so supplemented, the "Indenture") as
contemplated by the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2014, among the Issuer, the Guarantors and Jefferies LLC (the "Registration Rights
Agreement"). The guarantees of the Exchange Securities by the Guarantors (the "Guarantees") are to be issued in accordance with the provisions of the
Indenture and the Registration Rights Agreement.

 
We have reviewed such documents and made such examination of law as we have deemed appropriate to give the opinions expressed below. We

have relied, without independent verification, on certificates of public officials and, as to matters of fact material to the opinions set forth below, on
certificates of officers of the Company and the Guarantors.

 
Also, for purposes of the opinions set forth below, and without limiting any other exceptions or qualifications set forth herein, insofar as they relate

to the Guarantors, we have assumed that each Guarantor has received reasonably equivalent value and fair consideration in exchange for its obligations under
its Guarantee or undertakings in connection therewith.
 

Based on the foregoing, and subject to the additional qualifications set forth below, we are of the opinion that:
 

1. The Company is a corporation duly incorporated and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia and is in good
standing with the State Corporation Commission.

 

 



 

 
2. The execution, delivery and performance of its obligations under the Indenture have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action of the

Company.
 
3. The Indenture has been duly executed and, so far as is known to us, delivered by the Company.
 

The foregoing opinions are subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent transfer, moratorium or other similar laws of general
application affecting the rights and remedies of creditors and to general principles of equity. We express no opinion as to the validity, binding effect and
enforceability of provisions in the Exchange Securities or the Indenture or the Guarantees relating to the choice of forum for resolving disputes.
 

The foregoing opinion is limited to the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia and we do not express any opinion herein concerning any other law. We
express no opinion as to the applicability or effect of federal or state securities laws, including the securities laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, or as to
federal or state laws regarding fraudulent transfers. We note that each of the Indenture and the Guarantees provides that it shall be governed by the laws of the
State of New York. To the extent that any matter as to which our opinion is expressed herein would be governed by the laws of any jurisdiction other than the
Commonwealth of Virginia, we do not express any opinion on such matter. The opinion expressed herein is subject to the effect of judicial decisions which
may permit the introduction of parol evidence to modify the terms or the interpretation of agreements.

 
The opinion expressed herein is limited to the matters specifically set forth herein and no other opinion shall be inferred beyond the matters expressly

stated. We assume no obligation to supplement this opinion if any applicable law changes after the date hereof or if we become aware of any fact that might
change the opinion expressed herein after the date hereof.
 

We hereby consent to the inclusion of this opinion as Exhibit 5.2 to the Registration Statement and to the references to our firm under the caption
"Legal Matters" in the Registration Statement. In giving our consent, we do not admit that we are in the category of persons whose consent is required under
Section 7 of the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.
 

 Sincerely,
  
 /s/ Robert T. Vaughn, Jr.

 

 



 

 
Schedule I

Guarantors
 
100 Maple LLC
Accommodations Acquisition Corporation
Eve Holdings Inc.
Liggett & Myers Holdings Inc.
Liggett Group LLC
Liggett Vector Brands LLC
V.T. Aviation LLC
Vector Research LLC
Vector Tobacco Inc.
VGR Aviation LLC
VGR Holding LLC
Zoom E-Cigs LLC
 

 

 



 
Exhitbit 23.1

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in this Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of our report dated March 3, 2014
relating to the financial statements, financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in Vector
Group Ltd.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013. We also consent to the reference to us under the heading “Experts” in such
Registration Statement.
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
 
Miami, FL
June 30, 2014
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 23.2

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in this Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Vector Group Ltd. of our report
dated March 3, 2014 relating to the financial statements and financial statement schedule of Liggett Group LLC, which appears in Vector Group Ltd.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013. We also consent to the reference to us under the heading Experts in such Registration
Statement.
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
 
Raleigh, North Carolina
June 30, 2014
 

 



 
Exhibit 23.3

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in this Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Vector Group Ltd. of our report
dated March 3, 2014 relating to the financial statements and financial statement schedule of Vector Tobacco Inc., which appears in Vector Group Ltd.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013. We also consent to the reference to us under the heading Experts in such Registration
Statement.
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
 
Raleigh, North Carolina
June 30, 2014
 

 



 
Exhibit 23.4

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in this Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Vector Group Ltd. of our report
dated March 3, 2014 relating to the financial statements of Douglas Elliman Realty LLC, which appears in Vector Group Ltd.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2013. We also consent to the reference to us under the heading Experts in such Registration Statement.
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
 
Melville, New York
June 30, 2014
 

 



 
Exhibit 25.1

 
 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

__________________________
 

FORM T-1
 

STATEMENT OF ELIGIBILITY UNDER
THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939 OF A

CORPORATION DESIGNATED TO ACT AS TRUSTEE
Check if an Application to Determine Eligibility of

a Trustee Pursuant to Section 305(b)(2)
_______________________________________________________

 
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

(Exact name of Trustee as specified in its charter)
 

31-0841368
I.R.S. Employer Identification No.

 
800 Nicollet Mall  

Minneapolis, Minnesota  55402
(Address of principal executive offices)  (Zip Code)

Joshua A. Hahn
U.S. Bank National Association

60 Livingston Avenue
St. Paul, MN 55107

(651) 466-6309
(Name, address and telephone number of agent for service)

 
Vector Group, Ltd.

(Issuer with respect to the Securities)
 

Delaware  65-0949535
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)  (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

   
4400 Biscayne Blvd.  33137

Miami, FL   
(Address of Principal Executive Offices)  (Zip Code)

 
7.75% Senior Secure Notes due 2021

(Title of the Indenture Securities)
 

 



 

 
Exact Name of Registrant  State of I.R.S. Employer
Guarantor as Specified in its  Incorporation Identification
Charter Address and Phone Number or Organization Number
    
100 Maple LLC c/o Liggett Vector Brands LLC Delaware 65-0960238
 3800 Paramount Parkway, Suite 250   
 PO Box 2010   
 Morrisville, NC 27560   
 (919) 990-3500   
    
Accommodations Acquisition Corp. c/o Vector Group Ltd. Delaware 27-2795835
 4400 Biscayne Blvd   
 10th Floor   
 Miami, Florida 33131   
 (305) 579-8000   
    
Eve Holdings Inc. 1105 N. Market Street Delaware 56-1703877
 Suite 617   
 Wilmington, DE 19801   
 (305) 579-8000   
    
Liggett & Myers Holdings, Inc. 4400 Biscayne Blvd Delaware 51-0413146
 10th Floor   
 Miami, FL 33131   
 (305) 579-8000   
    
Liggett Group LLC c/o Liggett Vector Brands LLC Delaware 56-1702115
 3800 Paramount Parkway, Suite 250   
 PO Box 2010   
 Morrisville, NC 27560   
 (919) 990-3500   
    
Liggett Vector Brands LLC 3800 Paramount Parkway, Delaware 74-3040463
 Suite 250   
 P.O. Box 2010   
 Morrisville, NC 27560   
 (305) 579-8000   
    
V.T. Aviation LLC 3800 Paramount Parkway, Delaware 51-0405537
 Suite 250   
 P.O. Box 2010   
 Morrisville, NC 27560   
 (305) 579-8000   
    
Vector Research LLC c/o Liggett Vector Brands LLC Delaware 65-1058692
 3800 Paramount Parkway, Suite 250   
 PO Box 2010   
 Morrisville, NC 27560   
 (919) 990-3500   
 

 



 

  
Exact Name of Registrant  State of I.R.S. Employer
Guarantor as Specified in its  Incorporation Identification
Charter Address and Phone Number or Organization Number
    
Vector Tobacco Inc. c/o Liggett Vector Brands LLC Virginia 54-1814147
 3800 Paramount Parkway, Suite 250   
 PO Box 2010   
 Morrisville, NC 27560   
 (919) 990-3500   
    
VGR Aviation LLC 3800 Paramount Parkway, Delaware 65-0949535
 Suite 250   
 P.O. Box 2010   
 Morrisville, NC 27560   
 (305) 579-8000   
    
VGR Holding LLC 4400 Biscayne Blvd Delaware 65-0949536
 10th Floor   
 Miami, Florida 33131   
 (305) 579-8000   
    
Zoom E-Cigs LLC c/o Liggett Vector Brands LLC Delaware 65-0949535
 3800 Paramount Parkway, Suite 250   
 PO Box 2010   
 Morrisville, NC 27560   
 (919) 990-3500   
 

 

 
FORM T-1

 
Item 1. GENERAL INFORMATION. Furnish the following information as to the Trustee.
 

a) Name and address of each examining or supervising authority to which it is subject.
Comptroller of the Currency
Washington, D.C.

 
b) Whether it is authorized to exercise corporate trust powers.

 Yes
 
Item 2. AFFILIATIONS WITH OBLIGOR. If the obligor is an affiliate of the Trustee, describe each such affiliation.

None
 
Items 3-15 Items 3-15 are not applicable because to the best of the Trustee's knowledge, the obligor is not in default under any Indenture for which the

Trustee acts as Trustee.
 
Item 16. LIST OF EXHIBITS: List below all exhibits filed as a part of this statement of eligibility and qualification.

1. A copy of the Articles of Association of the Trustee.*

2. A copy of the certificate of authority of the Trustee to commence business, attached as Exhibit 2.
 

3. A copy of the certificate of authority of the Trustee to exercise corporate trust powers, attached as Exhibit 3.

4. A copy of the existing bylaws of the Trustee.**
 

5. A copy of each Indenture referred to in Item 4. Not applicable.

6. The consent of the Trustee required by Section 321(b) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, attached as Exhibit 6.
 

7. Report of Condition of the Trustee as of September 30, 2013 published pursuant to law or the requirements of its supervising or examining
authority, attached as Exhibit 7.

 
* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 25.1 to Amendment No. 2 to registration statement on S-4, Registration Number 333-128217 filed on November 15,
2005. 
** Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 25.1 to registration statement on S-4, Registration Number 333-166527 filed on May 5, 2010. 
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SIGNATURE
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, the Trustee, U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national
banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, has duly caused this statement of eligibility and qualification to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, all in the City of St. Paul, State of Minnesota on the 30th of June, 2014.
 
 By: /s/ Joshua A. Hahn
  Joshua A. Hahn
  Vice President
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Exhibit 2
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Exhibit 3
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Exhibit 6

 
CONSENT

 
In accordance with Section 321(b) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, the undersigned, U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION hereby consents

that reports of examination of the undersigned by Federal, State, Territorial or District authorities may be furnished by such authorities to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon its request therefor.
 
Dated: June 30, 2014
 
 By: /s/ Joshua A. Hahn
  Joshua A. Hahn
  Vice President
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Exhibit 7
U.S. Bank National Association

Statement of Financial Condition
As of 3/31/2014

 
($000’s)

 
 

   3/31/2014
Assets     

Cash and Balances Due From 
Depository Institutions  $ 7,390,563 

Securities   84,977,518 
Federal Funds   36,998 
Loans & Lease Financing Receivables   234,549,731 
Fixed Assets   4,726,552 
Intangible Assets   13,234,790 
Other Assets   22,187,278 

Total Assets  $ 367,103,430 
     
Liabilities     

Deposits  $ 270,081,137 
Fed Funds   3,856,384 
Treasury Demand Notes   0 
Trading Liabilities   422,782 
Other Borrowed Money   35,507,326 
Acceptances   0 
Subordinated Notes and Debentures   4,623,000 
Other Liabilities   11,663,853 
Total Liabilities  $ 326,154,482 

     
Equity     

Common and Preferred Stock   18,200 
Surplus   14,266,409 
Undivided Profits   25,808,807 
Minority Interest in Subsidiaries  $ 855,532 

Total Equity Capital  $ 40,948,948 
     
Total Liabilities and Equity Capital  $ 367,103,430 
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Liggett Group LLC and
Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
For The Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2014
(Unaudited)
 
The following financial statements for Vector Group Ltd.'s wholly owned subsidiary, Liggett Group LLC, are included pursuant to Regulation S-X, Rule 3-16,
"Financial Statements of Affiliates Whose Securities Collateralize an Issue Registered or Being Registered".
 

 



 

 
Liggett Group LLC and Subsidiaries
Index
 
 Page(s)
  
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)  
  
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as March 31, 2014, and December 31, 2013 1
  
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 3
  
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 4
  
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Member’s Investment for the three months ended March 31, 2014 5
  
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 6
  
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 7
 

 



 

 
Liggett Group LLC and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 
  March 31,   December 31,  
  2014   2013  
       
Assets         
Current assets         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 6  $ 5 
Accounts receivable         

Trade, less allowances of $331 and $319, respectively   9,277   8,649 
Due from related parties   1,347   3,135 
Other   823   1,046 

Inventories   97,865   85,223 
Income taxes receivable   —   4,824 
Restricted assets   1,861   818 
Deferred income taxes   473   467 
Other current assets   2,153   1,978 

Total current assets   113,805   106,145 
Property, plant and equipment, net   56,643   54,448 
Prepaid pension costs   26,872   26,080 
Restricted assets   9,279   9,949 
Deferred income taxes   4,540   8,770 
Other assets   8,199   8,083 

Total assets  $ 219,338  $ 213,475 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Liggett Group LLC and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (continued)
March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 
  March 31,   December 31,  
  2014   2013  
       
Liabilities and Member’s Investment         
Current liabilities         

Current portion of notes payable and long-term debt  $ 11,367  $ 8,569 
Revolving credit facility   15,747   30,424 
Current payments due under the Master Settlement Agreement   36,505   16,611 
Current portion of pension and post-retirement liabilities   939   939 
Due to related parties   25,518   5,508 
Accounts payable — trade   3,706   4,012 
Accrued promotional expenses   13,755   16,569 
Income taxes payable   6,378   — 
Other accrued taxes, principally excise taxes   23,094   11,586 
Allowance for sales returns   4,290   4,290 
Litigation accruals   4,797   59,310 
Deferred income taxes   1,657   1,657 
Other current liabilities   1,282   1,152 

Total current liabilities   149,035   160,627 
Notes payable and long-term debt, less current portion   9,470   12,567 
Non-current employee benefits   16,597   16,648 
Deferred income taxes   3,606   3,573 
Payments due under the Master Settlement Agreement   25,666   25,666 
Litigation accruals   23,747   27,059 

Total liabilities   228,121   246,140 
Commitments and contingencies         
Member’s investment         

Contributed capital   —   — 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (12,661)   (12,763)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)   3,878   (19,902)
Total member’s investment   (8,783)   (32,665)

Total liabilities and member's investment  $ 219,338  $ 213,475 
 
The Member's investment is pledged as collateral for Liggett Group LLC’s guarantee of Vector Group's Ltd's debt (see Note 1).
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Liggett Group LLC and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2014   2013  
       
Revenues *  $ 213,072  $ 233,149 
Expenses         

Cost of goods sold *   152,686   169,994 
Litigation judgment and settlement charges   1,500   — 
Operating, selling, administrative and general expenses   16,413   16,762 
Management fees paid to Vector Group Ltd.   2,342   2,252 
Net (gain) loss on sale of assets   —   (54)
Operating income   40,131   44,087 

Other income (expense)         
Interest income   —   2 
Interest expense   (955)   (412)
Income before provision for income taxes   39,176   43,677 

Income tax expense   (15,396)   (16,815)
Net income  $ 23,780  $ 26,862 

 
* Revenues and cost of goods sold include net federal excise taxes of $86,838 and $98,988 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013,

respectively.
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Liggett Group LLC and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2014   2013  
       
Net income  $ 23,780  $ 26,862 
         
Net change in forward contracts   17   15 
Net change in pension-related amounts   149   352 
Other comprehensive income   166   367 
         
Income tax effect on:         

Forward contracts   (6)   (6)
Pension-related amounts   (58)   (132)
Income tax provision on other comprehensive income   (64)   (138)

         
Other comprehensive income, net of tax   102   229 
         
Comprehensive income  $ 23,882  $ 27,091 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Liggett Group LLC and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Member’s Investment
Three Months Ended March 31, 2014
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 

  
Contributed 

Capital   

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss   

Retained 
Earnings 

(Accumulated 
deficit)   Total  

Balance, January 1, 2014   —   (12,763)   (19,902)   (32,665)
Net income           23,780   23,780 
Change in pension related amounts, net of taxes       91       91 
Change in fair value of forward contracts, net of taxes       11       11 

Total comprehensive income               23,882 
Distributions   —   —   —   — 

Balance, March 31, 2014  $ —  $ (12,661)  $ 3,878  $ (8,783)
 
The Member's investment is pledged as collateral for Liggett Group LLC’s guarantee of Vector Group's Ltd's debt (see Note 1).

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Liggett Group LLC and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2014   2013  
       
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities   (5,400)   32,750 
Cash flows from investing activities:         
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   —   3 
Increase in restricted assets   (373)   (2)
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance policies   (47)   (46)
Capital expenditures   (4,520)   (1,909)

Net cash used in investing activities   (4,940)   (1,954)
Cash flows from financing activities:         
Repayments of debt   (2,112)   (1,862)
Proceeds from issuance of debt   1,813   — 
Proceeds from debt issuance under VGR credit facility   35,318   — 
Repayments under VGR credit facility   (10,000)   — 
Borrowings under revolving credit facility   196,842   214,762 
Repayments under revolving credit facility   (211,520)   (233,691)
Distributions to Vector Group Ltd.   —   (10,000)

Net cash provided by (used in) used in financing activities   10,341   (30,791)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   1   5 

         
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   5   8 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 6  $ 13 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Liggett Group LLC and
Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
For The Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2014
(Unaudited)
 
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

 
(a) Basis of Presentation:
 
Liggett Group LLC (“Liggett” or the “Company”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of VGR Holding LLC (“VGR”), all of whose membership interests
are owned by Vector Group Ltd. (“Vector” or “Parent”). Liggett is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of discount cigarettes in the
United States. Certain management and administrative functions are performed by affiliates (see Note 8).
 
Liggett Vector Brands LLC ("Liggett Vector Brands"), a company related through common ownership, coordinates and executes the sales,
marketing, administration and manufacturing efforts along with certain support functions for all of Vector’s tobacco operations. In consideration of
the duties performed at Liggett Vector Brands on behalf of the Company, a portion of its sales, marketing, manufacturing, distribution, and
administrative expenses have been allocated to Liggett.
 
The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Liggett and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Eve Holdings Inc., 100 Maple
LLC ("Maple") and Liggett & Myers Holdings Inc. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
 
The accompanying unaudited, interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles for interim financial information and, in management's opinion, contain all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring
items, necessary for a fair statement of the results for the periods presented. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes
required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. These condensed consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the Company's consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included as an exhibit in Vector's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The condensed consolidated
results of operations for interim periods should not be regarded as necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the entire year.
 
Management believes the assumptions underlying the condensed consolidated financial statements are reasonable. However, the condensed
consolidated financial statements included herein may not necessarily reflect the Company’s results of operations, financial position, member's
investment and cash flows in the future or what its results of operations, financial position, member's investment and cash flows would have been
had the Company been a standalone company during the periods presented.
 
Vector and VGR are holding companies and, as a result, do not have any operating activities that generate revenues or cash flows. Accordingly,
Vector relies on distributions from VGR and its other subsidiaries and investments, and VGR relies on distributions from its other subsidiaries,
including Liggett, in order to fund its operations and meet its obligations. Vector has certain debt outstanding which requires interest and principal
payments over the terms of such debt. Interest and principal to service the debt is expected to be funded by Vector’s cash and cash equivalents,
investments, the operations of Vector’s subsidiaries, including Liggett, and proceeds, if any, from Vector’s future financings. For the three months
ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, Liggett made distributions to VGR of $0 and $10,000, respectively.
 
7.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2021
 
In February 2013, Vector issued $450,000 of its 7.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 in a private offering to qualified institutional investors in
accordance with Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. The aggregate net proceeds from the issuance of the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes were
approximately $438,250 after deducting offering expenses. Vector used the net proceeds of the issuance for a cash tender offer announced on January
29, 2013, with respect to any and all of its outstanding 11% Senior Secured notes due 2015.
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The 7.75% Senior Secured Notes are guaranteed, subject to certain customary automatic release provisions on a joint and several basis by all of the
100% owned domestic subsidiaries of Vector that are engaged in the conduct of Vector’s cigarette businesses, including Liggett. Liggett's condensed
consolidated balance sheets, condensed consolidated statements of operations, and condensed consolidated statements of stockholder's equity as of
March 31, 2014, do not reflect any amounts related to these notes as the debt is not acquisition related.
 
Liggett's cash flows from operations may be utilized to fund the interest and debt obligation of the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes via distributions by
Liggett to VGR to Vector.
 
Additional Parent Company Notes
 
As of March 31, 2014, Vector has debt with a net amount of approximately $181,525 (face amount $362,530) in addition to the 7.75% Senior
Secured Notes. This $181,525 is not reflected in Liggett's condensed consolidated financial statements as these obligations are not collateralized by
Liggett's assets nor has Liggett guaranteed these obligations. It is anticipated that the majority of the payments on this $181,525 will be funded by
Vector's tobacco operations, including those of Liggett.
 
In addition to the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes, the Company may have to fund certain deferred income tax liabilities of Vector (see Note 4).
 
General Corporate Expenses

 
General corporate expense allocations represent costs related to corporate functions such as executive oversight, risk management, information
technology, accounting, legal, investor relations, human resources, tax, employee benefits, other services and incentives Vector provides to the
Company. The allocations are based on a reasonable estimation of Vector’s overhead expenses based on the relative specific identification and the
relative percentage of the Company’s revenues and headcount to Vector’s total cost. All of these allocations are reflected in management fees paid to
Vector in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations of $2,342 and $2,252 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively.
 
The Company and Vector considered these general corporate expense allocations to be a reasonable reflection of the utilization of services provided.
The allocations may not, however, reflect the expense the Company would have incurred as a standalone company. Actual costs which may have
been incurred if the Company had been a standalone company during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 would depend on a number
of factors, including how the Company chose to organize itself, what if any functions were outsourced or performed by Company employees and
strategic decisions made in areas such as information technology systems and infrastructure. However, the Company currently does not believe the
difference between the cost allocations from Vector and the costs the Company would have incurred on a standalone basis would have a material
impact on the Company’s statements of operations, balance sheets or statements of cash flows for 2014 and 2013.
 
(b) Distributions and Dividends
 
The Company records distributions on its member's investment as dividends in its condensed consolidated statement of member’s investment to the
extent of retained earnings. Any amounts exceeding retained earnings are recorded as a reduction of contributed capital.
 
(c) New Accounting Pronouncements
 
On April 10, 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued final guidance to change the criteria for reporting discontinued operations while
enhancing disclosures in this area (Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-08). Under the new guidance, only disposals representing a
strategic shift, such as a major line of business, a major geographical area or a major equity investment, should be presented as discontinued
operations. The guidance will be applied prospectively to new disposals and new classifications of disposal groups as held for sale after the effective
date. The guidance is effective for annual financial statements with fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2014 with early adoption
permitted for disposals or classifications as held for sale which have not been reported in financial statements previously issued or available for
issuance. Liggett will adopt the guidance effective January 1, 2015 and the guidance is not anticipated to have a material impact on the Company's
consolidated financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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On March 13, 2014, the Emerging Issues Task Force (the “Task Force”) reached a final consensus to amend the accounting guidance for stock
compensation tied to performance targets (Issue No. 13-D). The objective of this guidance is to clarify the accounting treatment of certain types of
performance conditions in stock-based compensation awards, more specifically, when performance targets can be achieved after the requisite service
period. The Task Force concluded that performance criteria subsequent to a service period vesting requirement should be treated as vesting
conditions, and as a result, this type of performance condition may delay expense recognition until achievement of the performance target is
probable. Issue No. 13-D will be effective for all entities for reporting periods (including interim periods) beginning after December 15, 2015, and
early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not anticipated to have a material impact on Liggett's consolidated financial statements
or notes to the consolidated financial statements.
 
(d) Subsequent Events
 
On April 15, 2014, Vector completed the sale of $150,000 principal amount of its 7.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 for a price of 106.750% in a
private offering to qualified institutional investors in accordance with Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. Vector received net proceeds of
approximately $156,000 and the net proceeds will be used for general corporate purposes, including additional investments in real estate and in its
tobacco business. In connection with the issuance of the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes, Vector entered into a Registration Rights Agreement. Vector
agreed to consummate a registered exchange offer for the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes within 360 days after the date of the initial issuance of the
7.75% Senior Secured Notes. The new 7.75% Senior Secured Notes to be issued in the exchange offer will have substantially the same terms as the
original notes, except that the new 7.75% Senior Secured Notes will have been registered under the Securities Act. Vector will be required to pay
additional interest on the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes if it fails to timely comply with its obligations under the Registration Rights Agreement until
such time as it complies.
 
Liggett has evaluated transactions for consideration as subsequent events through May 12, 2014, which is the date when statements were issued by
its parent company, Vector. Additionally, the Company has evaluated transactions that occurred before the issuance of these financial statements on
June 25, 2014 for purposes of disclosure of unrecognized subsequent events.
 

2. Inventories
 
Inventories consist of the following at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

 
  March 31,   December 31,  
  2014   2013  
       
Leaf tobacco  $ 60,991  $ 49,140 
Other raw materials   3,148   3,161 
Work-in-process   797   353 
Finished goods   61,150   59,661 
Inventories at current cost   126,086   112,315 
LIFO adjustment   (28,221)   (27,092)

Inventories, net  $ 97,865  $ 85,223 
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The Company has a leaf inventory management program whereby, among other things, it is committed to purchase certain quantities of leaf tobacco.
The purchase commitments are for quantities not in excess of anticipated needs and are at prices, including carrying costs, established at the date of
the commitment. Liggett had purchase commitments of approximately $10,854 at March 31, 2014. The Company entered into a single source supply
agreement for fire safe cigarette paper through 2015.
 
Each year, Liggett capitalizes in inventory that portion of its MSA liability related to cigarettes in inventory at public warehouses but not sold. The
amount of capitalized MSA cost in finished goods inventory at March 31, 2014 was $13,075. The amount of capitalized MSA cost in finished goods
inventory was $13,065 at December 31, 2013. (See Note 7)
 
All of the Company's inventories at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 have been reported under the LIFO method.
 

3. Property, Plant and Equipment
 

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013:
 

  March 31,   December 31,  
  2014   2013  
       
Land and land improvements  $ 1,418  $ 1,418 
Buildings   15,097   15,097 
Machinery and equipment   129,196   124,675 
Property, plant and equipment   145,711   141,190 
Less accumulated depreciation   (89,068)   (86,742)

Property, plant and equipment, net  $ 56,643  $ 54,448 
 

Depreciation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, was $2,451 and $2,333, respectively. Future machinery and equipment
purchase commitments were $3,796 at March 31, 2014.

 
4. Income Taxes

 
Liggett's income tax provision and related deferred income tax amounts are determined as if the Company filed tax returns on a standalone basis.
The Company and its affiliates, currently are included in the consolidated federal income tax return of its indirect parent, Vector.
 
The operations of Liggett and its affiliates are included in the consolidated federal income tax return of its indirect parent, Vector Group Ltd.
Pursuant to a tax allocation agreement amended in 1999, the amounts provided for as currently payable for federal income taxes are based on the
Company’s pre-tax income for financial reporting purposes. The Company expenses and pays Vector Group Ltd. their portion of the consolidated
income tax expense in accordance with the tax allocation agreement.
 
Liggett's provision for income taxes in interim periods is based on an estimated annual effective income tax rate derived, in part, from estimated
annual pre-tax results from ordinary operations. The annual effective income tax rate is reviewed and, if necessary, adjusted on a quarterly basis.
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Liggett's income tax expense consisted of the following:
 
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2014   2013  
       
Income before provision for income taxes  $ 39,176  $ 43,677 
Income tax expense using estimated annual effective income tax rate   15,396   16,815 
Income tax expense  $ 15,396  $ 16,815 

 
5. Fair Value Measurements

 
The Company's recurring financial assets subject to fair value measurements are as follows:
 
  Fair Value Measurements as of March 31, 2014  

     

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets   
Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

Description  Total   (Level 1)   (Level 2)  
Assets:             

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 6  $ 6  $ — 
Restricted assets   11,140   —   11,140 

Total  $ 11,146  $ 6  $ 11,140 
 

  Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2013  

     

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets   
Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

Description  Total   (Level 1)   (Level 2)  
Assets:             

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 5  $ 5  $ — 
Restricted assets   10,767   —   10,767 

Total  $ 10,772  $ 5  $ 10,767 
 

Fair value measurement of a financial asset or liability is assigned to a level based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirety. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: Observable market-based inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 3: Unobservable inputs
 
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair value and are considered Level 1 fair value hierarchy.
 
The fair value of the Level 2 restricted assets secured by certificates of deposit are based on prices posted by the financial institutions.
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6. Long-Term Debt
 

Long-term debt consists of the following:
 

  March 31,   December 31,  
  2014   2013  
       
Borrowings under revolving credit facility  $ 15,747  $ 30,424 
Term loan under revolving credit facility   3,810   3,884 
Equipment loans   17,027   17,252 
   36,584   51,560 
Less current maturities   (27,114)   (38,993)
Amount due after one year  $ 9,470  $ 12,567 
 
Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan Under Credit Facility:
 
Liggett has a $50,000 credit facility ("the Credit Facility") with Wells Fargo. The Credit Facility is collateralized by all inventories and receivables of
Liggett and a mortgage on its manufacturing facility.
 
The Credit Facility permits the guaranty of the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 by each of Liggett and Maple and the pledging of certain
assets of Liggett and Maple on a subordinated basis to secure their guarantees. The credit facility also grants to Wells Fargo a blanket lien on all the
assets of Liggett and Maple, excluding any equipment pledged to current or future purchase money or other financiers of such equipment and
excluding any real property, other than the Mebane Property and other real property to the extent its value is in excess of $5,000. Wells Fargo,
Liggett, Maple and the collateral agent for the holders of VGR's 7.75% senior secured notes have entered into an intercreditor agreement, pursuant to
which the liens of the collateral agent on the Liggett and Maple assets will be subordinated to the liens of Wells Fargo on the Liggett and Maple
assets.
 
As of March 31, 2014 a total of $19,557 was outstanding under the revolving and term loan portions of the Credit Facility. Availability as of March
31, 2014 as determined under the Credit Facility was approximately $30,443. At March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, management believed that
Liggett was in compliance with all covenants under the credit facility; Liggett's EBITDA, as defined, was approximately $120,323 for the twelve
months ended March 31, 2014.
 
For purposes of the EBITDA calculation, as defined under the Credit Facility, $86,213 related to the Engle Progeny settlement, further described in
Note 7, has been excluded.

 
On February 28, 2014 Liggett Group and Wells Fargo entered into Amendment No. 1 of the Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security
Agreement whereby Wells Fargo consented to the incurrence by Liggett of additional debt in the form of an inter-company loan from VGR. The
loan, made by VGR to Liggett on February 28, 2014 in the amount of $35,000, facilitated Liggett’s approximate initial $59,200 payment into the
Engle Qualified Settlement Fund (“Engle QSF”) in accordance with the settlement dated October 23, 2013 and further described in Note 7. Liggett
has to repay the $35,000, along with interest calculated at a per annum rate of 11%, to VGR by September 30, 2014. Liggett made this approximate
$59,200 payment to the Engle QSF on February 28, 2014. The $25,318 outstanding balance under the intercompany loan from VGR at March 31,
2014, was paid in full in May 2014.
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Fair Value of Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt:
 

  March 31, 2014   December 31, 2013  
  Carrying   Fair   Carrying   Fair  
  Value   Value   Value   Value  
Notes payable and long-term debt  $ 36,584  $ 36,629  $ 51,560  $ 51,577 

 
Notes payable and long-term debt are carried on the condensed balance sheet at amortized cost. The fair value determination disclosed above would be
classified as Level 2 under the fair value hierarchy disclosed in Note 5 if such liabilities were recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value.
The estimated fair value of the Company's notes payable and long-term debt has been determined by the Company using available market information
and appropriate valuation methodologies including the evaluation of the Company's credit risk as described in Vector's Form 10-K. However,
considerable judgment is required to develop the estimates of fair value and, accordingly, the estimate presented herein are not necessarily indicative of
the amount that could be realized in a current market exchange.

 
7. Commitments and Contingencies

 
Tobacco-Related Litigation:

 
Overview

 
Since 1954, Liggett and other United States cigarette manufacturers have been named as defendants in numerous direct, third-party and purported class
actions predicated on the theory that cigarette manufacturers should be liable for damages alleged to have been caused by cigarette smoking or by
exposure to secondary smoke from cigarettes. The cases have generally fallen into the following categories: (i) smoking and health cases alleging
personal injury brought on behalf of individual plaintiffs (“Individual Actions”); (ii) lawsuits by individuals requesting the benefit of the Engle ruling
("Engle progeny cases"); (iii) smoking and health cases primarily alleging personal injury or seeking court-supervised programs for ongoing medical
monitoring, as well as cases alleging that use of the terms “lights” and/or “ultra lights” constitutes a deceptive and unfair trade practice, common law
fraud or violation of federal law, purporting to be brought on behalf of a class of individual plaintiffs (“Class Actions”); and (iv) health care cost recovery
actions brought by various foreign and domestic governmental plaintiffs and non-governmental plaintiffs seeking reimbursement for health care
expenditures allegedly caused by cigarette smoking and/or disgorgement of profits (“Health Care Cost Recovery Actions”). As new cases are
commenced, the costs associated with defending these cases and the risks relating to the inherent unpredictability of litigation increase. The future
financial impact of the risks and expenses of litigation are not quantifiable. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, Liggett incurred
tobacco product liability legal expenses and other litigation costs totaling $3,357 and $1,609, respectively.

 
Litigation is subject to uncertainty and it is possible that there could be adverse developments in pending cases. Management reviews on a quarterly basis
with counsel all pending litigation and evaluates whether an estimate can be  made of the possible loss or range of loss that could result from an
unfavorable outcome. An unfavorable outcome or settlement of pending tobacco-related litigation could encourage the commencement of additional
litigation. Damages awarded in some tobacco-related litigation can be significant.

 
Bonds. Although Liggett has been able to obtain required bonds or relief from bonding requirements in order to prevent plaintiffs from seeking to collect
judgments while adverse verdicts are on appeal, there remains a risk that such relief may not be obtainable in all cases. This risk has been reduced given
that a majority of states now limit the dollar amount of bonds or require no bond at all. To obtain stays on judgments pending current appeals, Liggett has
secured approximately $5,237 in bonds as of March 31, 2014.

 
In June 2009, Florida amended its existing bond cap statute by adding a $200,000 bond cap that applies to all Engle progeny cases in the aggregate and
establishes individual bond caps for individual Engle progeny cases in amounts that vary depending on the number of judgments in effect at a given time.
In several cases, plaintiffs have challenged the constitutionality of the bond cap statute, but to date the courts that have addressed the issue have upheld
the constitutionality of the statute. It is possible that the Company's condensed consolidated financial position, results of operations, and cash flows could
be materially adversely affected by an unfavorable outcome of such challenges.
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Accounting Policy. The Company and its subsidiaries record provisions in their condensed consolidated financial statements for pending litigation when they
determine that an unfavorable outcome is probable and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. At the present time, while it is reasonably possible
that an unfavorable outcome in a case may occur, except as disclosed in this Note 7: (i) management has concluded that it is not probable that a loss has been
incurred in any of the pending tobacco-related cases; or (ii) management is unable to estimate the possible loss or range of loss that could result from an
unfavorable outcome of any of the pending tobacco-related cases and, therefore, management has not provided any amounts in the condensed consolidated
financial statements for unfavorable outcomes, if any. Legal defense costs are expensed as incurred.
 
Cautionary Statement About Engle Progeny Cases. Judgments have been entered against Liggett and other industry defendants in Engle progeny cases. A
number of the judgments have been affirmed on appeal and satisfied by the defendants. As of March 31, 2014, 16 Engle progeny cases where Liggett was a
defendant at trial resulted in verdicts. Eleven verdicts were returned in favor of the plaintiffs and five in favor of Liggett. Excluding the Lukacs case, which
was tried in 2002, seven years before the trials of Engle progeny cases commenced, the compensatory verdicts against Liggett have ranged from $1 to $3,479.
In certain cases, the judgments entered have been joint and several with other defendants. In two of the cases, punitive damages were awarded against Liggett
for $1,000 and $7,600. Except as discussed in this Note 7 regarding the cases where an adverse verdict was entered against Liggett and that remain on appeal,
management is unable to estimate the possible loss or range of loss from the remaining Engle progeny cases as there are currently multiple defendants in each
case and, in most cases, discovery has not occurred or is limited. As a result, the Company lacks information about whether plaintiffs are in fact Engle class
members (non-class members' claims are generally time-barred), the relevant smoking history, the nature of the alleged injury and the availability of various
defenses, among other things. Further, plaintiffs typically do not specify their demand for damages. Although in October 2013 Liggett entered into a
comprehensive settlement of a substantial majority of the Engle progeny cases, it believes that the process under which Engle progeny cases are tried is
unconstitutional and continues to pursue its appellate rights in the remaining cases.
 
Although Liggett has generally been successful in managing litigation, litigation is subject to uncertainty and significant challenges remain, including with
respect to the remaining Engle progeny cases. There can be no assurances that Liggett's past litigation experience will be representative of future results.
Judgments have been entered against Liggett in the past, in Individual Actions and Engle progeny cases, and several of those judgments were affirmed on
appeal and satisfied by Liggett. It is possible that the condensed consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company could be
materially adversely affected by an unfavorable outcome or settlement of any of the remaining smoking-related litigation. Liggett believes, and has been so
advised by counsel, that it has valid defenses to the litigation pending against it, as well as valid bases for appeal of adverse verdicts. All such cases are, and
will continue to be, vigorously defended. Liggett may, however, enter into settlement discussions in particular cases if it believes it is in its best interest to do
so, including the remaining Engle progeny cases. As of March 31, 2014, Liggett (and in certain cases Vector) had, on an individual basis, settled 137 Engle
progeny cases for approximately $1,126 in the aggregate. Seven of those cases were settled in the first quarter of 2014. In addition, in October 2013, Liggett
announced a global settlement of the claims of over 4,900 Engle progeny plaintiffs (see Engle Progeny Settlement below).
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Individual Actions
 
As of March 31, 2014, there were 50 Individual Actions pending against Liggett and, in certain cases, the Company, where one or more individual plaintiffs
allege injury resulting from cigarette smoking, addiction to cigarette smoking or exposure to secondary smoke and seek compensatory and, in some cases,
punitive damages. These cases do not include Engle progeny cases or the approximately 100 individual cases pending in West Virginia state court as part of a
consolidated action. The following table lists the number of Individual Actions, by state, that are pending against Liggett or the Company as of March 31,
2014:
 

State  
Number 
of Cases  

Florida   30 
New York   9 
Maryland   4 
Louisiana   3 
West Virginia   2 
Missouri   1 
Ohio   1 

 
The plaintiffs' allegations of liability in cases in which individuals seek recovery for injuries allegedly caused by cigarette smoking are based on various
theories of recovery, including negligence, gross negligence, breach of special duty, strict liability, fraud, concealment, misrepresentation, design defect,
failure to warn, breach of express and implied warranties, conspiracy, aiding and abetting, concert of action, unjust enrichment, common law public nuisance,
property damage, invasion of privacy, mental anguish, emotional distress, disability, shock, indemnity, violations of deceptive trade practice laws, the federal
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”), state RICO statutes and antitrust statutes. In many of these cases, in addition to compensatory
damages, plaintiffs also seek other forms of relief including treble/multiple damages, medical monitoring, disgorgement of profits and punitive damages.
Although alleged damages often are not determinable from a complaint, and the law governing the pleading and calculation of damages varies from state to
state and jurisdiction to jurisdiction, compensatory and punitive damages have been specifically pleaded in a number of cases, sometimes in amounts ranging
into the hundreds of millions and even billions of dollars.
 
Defenses raised in Individual Actions include lack of proximate cause, assumption of the risk, comparative fault and/or contributory negligence, lack of
design defect, statute of limitations, equitable defenses such as “unclean hands” and lack of benefit, failure to state a claim and federal preemption.
 
Engle Progeny Cases
 
Engle Case. In May 1994, Engle was filed against Liggett and others in Miami-Dade County, Florida. The class consisted of all Florida residents who, by
November 21, 1996, “have suffered, presently suffer or have died from diseases and medical conditions caused by their addiction to cigarette smoking.” In
July 1999, after the conclusion of Phase I of the trial, the jury returned a verdict against Liggett and other cigarette manufacturers on certain issues determined
by the trial court to be “common” to the causes of action of the plaintiff class. The jury made several findings adverse to the defendants including that
defendants' conduct “rose to a level that would permit a potential award or entitlement to punitive damages.” Phase II of the trial was a causation and
damages trial for three of the class plaintiffs and a punitive damages trial on a class-wide basis before the same jury that returned the verdict in Phase I. In
April 2000, the jury awarded compensatory damages of $12,704 to the three class plaintiffs, to be reduced in proportion to the respective plaintiff’s fault. In
July 2000, the jury awarded approximately $145,000,000 in punitive damages, including $790,000 against Liggett.
 
In May 2003, Florida’s Third District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court and remanded the case with instructions to decertify the class. The judgment in
favor of one of the three class plaintiffs, in the amount of $5,831, was overturned as time barred and the court found that Liggett was not liable to the other
two class plaintiffs.
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In July 2006, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the decision vacating the punitive damages award and held that the class should be decertified
prospectively, but determined that the following Phase I findings are entitled to res judicata effect in Engle progeny cases: (i) that smoking causes lung cancer,
among other diseases; (ii) that nicotine in cigarettes is addictive; (iii) that defendants placed cigarettes on the market that were defective and unreasonably
dangerous; (iv) that defendants concealed material information knowing that the information was false or misleading or failed to disclose a material fact
concerning the health effects or addictive nature of smoking; (v) that defendants agreed to conceal or omit information regarding the health effects of
cigarettes or their addictive nature with the intention that smokers would rely on the information to their detriment; (vi) that defendants sold or supplied
cigarettes that were defective; and (vii) that defendants were negligent. The Florida Supreme Court decision also allowed former class members to proceed to
trial on individual liability issues (using the above findings) and compensatory and punitive damage issues, provided they filed their individual lawsuits by
January 2008. In December 2006, the Florida Supreme Court added the finding that defendants sold or supplied cigarettes that, at the time of sale or supply,
did not conform to the representations made by defendants. In October 2007, the United States Supreme Court denied defendants' petition for writ of
certiorari.
 
Pursuant to the Florida Supreme Court’s July 2006 ruling in Engle, which decertified the class on a prospective basis, and affirmed the appellate court’s
reversal of the punitive damages award, former class members had until January 2008 in which to file individual lawsuits. As a result, Liggett and the
Company, and other cigarette manufacturers, were named defendants in thousands of Engle progeny cases in both federal and state courts in Florida.
Although the Company was not named as a defendant in the Engle case, it was named as a defendant in substantially all of the Engle progeny cases where
Liggett was named as a defendant.
 
Engle Progeny Settlement.
 
On October 23, 2013, the Company entered into a settlement with approximately 4,900 Engle progeny plaintiffs and their counsel. Pursuant to the terms of
the settlement, Liggett agreed to pay a total of approximately $110,000, with approximately $61,600 paid in a lump sum ($2,100 was paid in December 2013
and approximately $59,500 was paid in February 2014) with the balance to be paid in installments over the next 14 years, subject to a cost of living
adjustment beginning in year eight. In exchange, the claims of over 4,900 plaintiffs were dismissed with prejudice against the Company and Liggett. In 2013
the Company recorded a charge of $86,213 in connection with the settlement. Of this amount, $25,213 is related to certain payments discounted to their
present value because the timing and amounts of such payments are fixed and determinable. The present value of the installment payments was computed
using an 11% annual discount rate. The installment payments total approximately $48,000 on an undiscounted basis. The Company’s future payments will be
approximately $3,500 per annum in 2015 through 2018 and approximately $34,500 in the aggregate thereafter.
 
Notwithstanding the comprehensive nature of the Engle Progeny Settlement, approximately 350 plaintiffs' claims remain outstanding. Therefore, the
Company and Liggett may still be subject to periodic adverse judgments which could have a material adverse affect on the Company's condensed
consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
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As of March 31, 2014, the following Engle progeny cases have resulted in judgments against Liggett:
 

Date  Case Name  County  

Net 
Compensatory 

Damages   
Punitive 
Damages   Status

June 2002  Lukacs v. R.J. Reynolds  Miami-Dade  $ 12,418   None  Liggett satisfied the judgment and the case is concluded.
August 2009  Campbell v. R.J. Reynolds  Escambia  $ 156   None  Liggett satisfied the judgment and the case is concluded.
March 2010  Douglas v. R.J. Reynolds  Hillsborough  $ 1,350   None  Liggett satisfied the judgment and the case is concluded.
April 2010  Clay v. R.J. Reynolds  Escambia  $ 349  $ 1,000  Liggett satisfied the judgment and the case is concluded.
April 2010  Putney v. R.J. Reynolds  Broward

 

$ 3,008

   

None

  

On June 12, 2013, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed
and remanded the case for further proceedings.  Plaintiff filed a
motion for rehearing which was denied. Both sides have sought
discretionary review from the Florida Supreme Court.  The appeal
is stayed pending the outcome of the Hess appeal.

April 2011  Tullo v. R.J. Reynolds  Palm Beach
 

$ 225
   

None
  

Affirmed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal.   The defendants
have sought discretionary review from the Florida Supreme Court.

January 2012  Ward v. R.J. Reynolds  Escambia

 

$ 1

   

None

  

Affirmed by the First District Court of Appeal.    Liggett satisfied
the merits judgment and other than an issue regarding attorneys'
fees, the case is concluded.  Oral argument on the attorneys' fee
appeal occurred on February 11, 2014.

May 2012  Calloway v. R.J. Reynolds  Broward

 

$ 1,947

  

$ 7,600

  

A joint and  several judgment for $16,100 was entered against R.J.
Reynolds, Philip Morris, Lorillard and Liggett. On appeal to the
Fourth District Court of Appeal.

December 2012  Buchanan v. R.J. Reynolds  Leon

 

$ 2,035

   

None

  

A joint and several judgment for $5,500 was entered against
Liggett and Philip Morris.  On appeal to the First District Court of
Appeal.

May 2013  Cohen v. R.J. Reynolds  Palm Beach
 

$ 205
   

None
  

Defendants' motion seeking a new trial was granted by the trial
court.  Plaintiff appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

August 2013  Rizzuto v. R.J. Reynolds  Hernando

 

$ 3,479

   

None

  

A joint and several judgment for $11,132 was entered against
Philip Morris and Liggett.  The court denied defendants' request to
reduce the compensatory damages by the plaintiff's comparative
fault. Liggett entered into a settlement agreement to resolve its
portion of the judgment for $1,500.  The settlement is subject to
bankruptcy court approval.

  Total Damages Awarded: $ 25,173  $ 8,600   

 
Through March 31, 2014, Liggett has paid $18,540, including interest and legal fees, to satisfy the judgments in five Engle progeny cases (Lukacs, Campbell,
Douglas, Clay and Ward).
 
The Company's potential range of loss in the Putney, Tullo, Calloway, Buchanan, Cohen and Rizzuto cases is between $0 and $18,500 in the aggregate, plus
accrued interest and legal fees. In determining the range of loss, the Company considers potential settlements as well as future appellate relief. Except as
disclosed elsewhere in this Note 7, the Company is unable to determine a range of loss related to the remaining Engle progeny cases. Other than $1,500
accrued for Rizzuto, no amounts have been expensed or accrued in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements for the cases described
above. However, as cases proceed through the appellate process, the Company will consider accruals on a case-by-case basis if an unfavorable outcome
becomes probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
 
Federal Engle Progeny Cases. Three federal judges (in the Merlob, B. Brown and Burr cases) ruled that the findings in Phase I of the Engle proceedings
could not be used to satisfy elements of plaintiffs' claims, and two of those rulings (B. Brown and Burr) were certified by the trial court for interlocutory
review. The certification was granted by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit and the appeals were consolidated (in February 2009, the
appeal in Burr was dismissed for lack of prosecution). In July 2010, the Eleventh Circuit ruled that plaintiffs do not have an unlimited right to use the findings
from the original Engle trial to meet their burden of establishing the elements of their claims at trial. Rather, plaintiffs may only use the findings to establish
specific facts that they demonstrate with a reasonable degree of certainty were actually decided by the original Engle jury. The Eleventh Circuit remanded the
case to the district court to determine what specific factual findings the Engle jury actually made. That determination was never undertaken.
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Instead, in the Waggoner case, the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida ruled that the application of the Phase I findings did not
deprive defendants of any constitutional due process rights. The court ruled, however, that plaintiffs must establish legal causation to establish liability. With
respect to punitive damages, the district court held that the plaintiffs could rely on the findings in support of their punitive damages claims but that, in
addition, plaintiffs must demonstrate specific conduct by specific defendants, independent of the Engle findings, that satisfies the standards for awards of
punitive damages. The Waggoner ruling applies to all of the cases pending in the Middle District of Florida. Subsequently, in September 2013 the United
States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the judgments in two lower court cases, holding that giving full faith and credit to the Florida
Supreme Court's Engle decision would not deprive defendant R.J. Reynolds of due process of law.
 
Appeals of Engle Progeny Verdicts. In December 2010, in the Martin case, a state court case against R.J. Reynolds, the First District Court of Appeal issued
the first ruling by a Florida intermediate appellate court to address the B. Brown decision discussed above. The panel held that the trial court correctly
construed the Florida Supreme Court's 2006 decision in Engle in instructing the jury on the preclusive effect of the Phase I Engle proceedings, expressly
disagreeing with certain aspects of the B. Brown decision. In July 2011, the Florida Supreme Court declined to review the First District Court of Appeal's
decision. In March 2012, the United States Supreme Court declined to review the Martin case, along with the Campbell case and two other Engle progeny
cases. This decision has led to other adverse rulings by other state appellate courts.
 
In Jimmie Lee Brown, a state court case against R.J. Reynolds, the trial court tried the case in two phases. In the first phase, the jury determined that the
smoker was addicted to cigarettes that contained nicotine and that his addiction was a legal cause of his death, thereby establishing he was an Engle class
member. In the second phase, the jury determined whether the plaintiff established legal cause and damages with regard to each of the underlying claims.  The
jury found in favor of plaintiff in both phases.  In September 2011, the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment entered in plaintiff's favor and
approved the trial court's procedure of bifurcating the trial.  The Fourth District Court of Appeal agreed with Martin that individual post-Engle plaintiffs need
not prove conduct elements as part of their burden of proof, but disagreed with Martin to the extent that the First District Court of Appeal only required a
finding that the smoker was a class member to establish legal causation as to addiction and the underlying claims.  The Fourth District Court of Appeal held
that in addition to establishing class membership, Engle progeny plaintiffs must also establish legal causation and damages as to each claim asserted.  In so
finding, the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in Jimmie Lee Brown is in conflict with Martin.
 
In the Rey case, a state court case, the trial court entered final summary judgment on all claims in favor of the Company, Liggett and Lorillard based on what
has been referred to in the Engle progeny litigation as the "Liggett Rule."  The Liggett Rule stands for the proposition that a manufacturer cannot have
liability to a smoker under any asserted claim if the smoker did not use a product manufactured by that particular defendant.  The Liggett Rule is based on the
entry of final judgment in favor of Liggett/Brooke Group in Engle on all of the claims asserted against them by class representatives Mary Farnan and Angie
Della Vecchia, even though the Florida Supreme Court upheld, as res judicata, the generic finding that Liggett/Brooke Group engaged in a conspiracy to
commit fraud by concealment. In September 2011, the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed in part and reversed in part holding that the defendants were
entitled to summary judgment on all claims asserted against them other than the claim for civil conspiracy.  Defendants' further appellate efforts were
unsuccessful.
 
In March 2012, in Douglas, the Second District Court of Appeal issued a decision affirming the judgment of the trial court in favor of the plaintiff and
upholding the use of the Engle jury findings but certified to the Florida Supreme Court the question of whether granting res judicata effect to the Engle jury
findings violates defendants' federal due process rights. In March 2013, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the use of Engle jury findings and determined
that there is no violation of the defendants' due process rights. This was the first time the Florida Supreme Court addressed the merits of an Engle progeny
case. In October 2013, the United States Supreme Court declined to review the decision and Liggett satisfied the judgment.
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Liggett Only Cases.  There are currently four cases pending where Liggett is the only remaining defendant. These cases consist of three Individual Actions
and one Engle progeny case. In one of the Individual Actions, Hausrath (NY state court), plaintiff moved to restore the case to the active docket calendar
after it was removed by the court. The motion was granted. There has been no recent activity in the other two Individual Actions. The Engle progeny case is
not currently set for trial. Cases where Liggett is the only defendant could increase as a result of the remaining Engle progeny cases.
 
Class Actions
 
As of March 31, 2014, there were four actions pending for which either a class had been certified or plaintiffs were seeking class certification, where Liggett
is a named defendant, including one alleged price fixing case. Other cigarette manufacturers are also named in these actions.
 
Plaintiffs' allegations of liability in class action cases are based on various theories of recovery, including negligence, gross negligence, strict liability, fraud,
misrepresentation, design defect, failure to warn, nuisance, breach of express and implied warranties, breach of special duty, conspiracy, concert of action,
violation of deceptive trade practice laws and consumer protection statutes and claims under the federal and state anti-racketeering statutes. Plaintiffs in the
class actions seek various forms of relief, including compensatory and punitive damages, treble/multiple damages and other statutory damages and penalties,
creation of medical monitoring and smoking cessation funds, disgorgement of profits, and injunctive and equitable relief.
 
Defenses raised in these cases include, among others, lack of proximate cause, individual issues predominate, assumption of the risk, comparative fault and/or
contributory negligence, statute of limitations and federal preemption.
 
In November 1997, in Young v. American Tobacco Co., a purported personal injury class action was commenced on behalf of plaintiff and all similarly
situated residents in Louisiana who, though not themselves cigarette smokers, allege they were exposed to secondhand smoke from cigarettes that were
manufactured by the defendants, including Liggett, and suffered injury as a result of that exposure. The plaintiffs seek to recover an unspecified amount of
compensatory and punitive damages. No class certification hearing has been held.   In October 2004, the trial court stayed the Young case pending the
outcome of an appeal in Scott v. The American Tobacco Co., a Louisiana case seeking medical monitoring for resident smokers. Liggett was not a party in the
Scott case.  The Scott case was tried to a jury which denied the medical monitoring claim but determined instead that the defendants must establish a smoking
cessation program.  Notwithstanding the fact that Scott is now concluded, in June 2013, plaintiffs’ counsel moved for an indefinite stay of the Young case. 
The defendants did not oppose the stay and it was entered upon consent.
 
In February 1998, in Parsons v. AC & S Inc., a class was commenced on behalf of all West Virginia residents who allegedly have personal injury claims
arising from exposure to cigarette smoke and asbestos fibers. The complaint seeks to recover $1,000 in compensatory and punitive damages individually and
unspecified compensatory and punitive damages for the class. The case is stayed as a result of the December 2000 bankruptcy of three of the defendants.
 
In February 2000, in Smith v. Philip Morris, a case pending in Kansas, a class was commenced against cigarette manufacturers alleging they conspired to fix
cigarette prices in violation of antitrust laws. Plaintiffs seek to recover an unspecified amount in actual and punitive damages. Class certification was granted
in November 2001. In January 2012, the trial court heard oral argument on defendants' motions for summary judgment and in March 2012, the court granted
the motions and dismissed plaintiffs' claims with prejudice. In July 2012, plaintiffs noticed an appeal. Oral argument occurred on December 11, 2013. A
decision is pending.
 
Although not technically a class action, in In Re: Tobacco Litigation (Personal Injury Cases), a West Virginia state court consolidated approximately 750
individual smoker actions that were pending prior to 2001 for trial of certain common issues. In January 2002, the court severed Liggett from the trial of the
consolidated action. After two mistrials, on May 15, 2013, the jury rejected all but one of the plaintiffs' claims, finding for the plaintiffs on the claim that
ventilated filter cigarettes, sold between 1964 and July 1, 1969, should have included instructions on how to use them. On July 15, 2013, plaintiffs filed a
renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law and a motion for a new trial. Defendants filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. All post-
trial motions were denied and the issue of damages was reserved for further proceedings that have not yet been scheduled. Final judgment as to liability was
issued on October 28, 2013, after which the plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal with respect to the defense verdicts obtained on five of the six claims. The
defendants did not appeal the verdict in favor of the plaintiffs on the "failure to instruct" claim which impacted less than 30 of the plaintiffs. If the case were
to proceed against Liggett, it is estimated that Liggett could be a defendant in approximately 100 of the individual cases.
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Class action suits have been filed in a number of states against cigarette manufacturers, alleging, among other things, that use of the terms “lights” and “ultra
lights” constitutes unfair and deceptive trade practices. In December 2008, the United States Supreme Court, in Altria Group v. Good, ruled that the Federal
Cigarette Labeling and Advertising Act did not preempt the state law claims asserted by the plaintiffs and that they could proceed with their claims under the
Maine Unfair Trade Practices Act. The Good decision has resulted in the filing of additional “lights” class action cases in other states against other cigarette
manufacturers. Although Liggett was not a defendant in the Good case, and is not currently a defendant in any other “lights” class actions, an adverse ruling
or commencement of additional “lights” related class actions could have a material adverse effect on the Company.
 
In addition to the cases described above, numerous class actions remain certified against other cigarette manufacturers. Adverse decisions in these cases could
have a material adverse affect on Liggett’s sales volume, operating income and cash flows.
 
Health Care Cost Recovery Actions
 
As of March 31, 2014, there was one remaining Health Care Cost Recovery Action pending against Liggett, Crow Creek Sioux Tribe v. American Tobacco
Company, a South Dakota case filed in 1997, where the plaintiff seeks to recover damages based on various theories of recovery as a result of alleged sales of
tobacco products to minors. The case is inactive. Other cigarette manufacturers are also named as defendants.
 
The claims asserted in health care cost recovery actions vary. Although, typically, no specific damage amounts are pled, it is possible that requested damages
might be in the billions of dollars. In these cases, plaintiffs typically assert equitable claims that the tobacco industry was “unjustly enriched” by their
payment of health care costs allegedly attributable to smoking and seek reimbursement of those costs. Relief sought by some, but not all, plaintiffs include
punitive damages, multiple damages and other statutory damages and penalties, injunctions prohibiting alleged marketing and sales to minors, disclosure of
research, disgorgement of profits, funding of anti-smoking programs, additional disclosure of nicotine yields, and payment of attorney and expert witness
fees.
 
Other claims asserted include the equitable claim of indemnity, common law claims of negligence, strict liability, breach of express and implied warranty,
breach of special duty, fraud, negligent misrepresentation, conspiracy, public nuisance, claims under state and federal statutes governing consumer fraud,
antitrust, deceptive trade practices and false advertising, and claims under RICO.
 
Department of Justice Lawsuit. In September 1999, the United States government commenced litigation against Liggett and other cigarette manufacturers in
the United States District Court for the District of Columbia. The action sought to recover an unspecified amount of health care costs paid and to be paid by
the federal government for lung cancer, heart disease, emphysema and other smoking-related illnesses allegedly caused by the fraudulent and tortious conduct
of defendants, to restrain defendants and co-conspirators from engaging in alleged fraud and other allegedly unlawful conduct in the future, and to compel
defendants to disgorge the proceeds of their unlawful conduct. Claims were asserted under RICO.
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In August 2006, the trial court entered a Final Judgment against each of the cigarette manufacturing defendants, except Liggett. In May 2009, the United
States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia affirmed most of the district court's decision. The United States Supreme Court denied review. As a
result, the cigarette manufacturing defendants, other than Liggett, are now subject to the trial court's Final Judgment which ordered the following relief: (i) an
injunction against “committing any act of racketeering” relating to the manufacturing, marketing, promotion, health consequences or sale of cigarettes in the
United States; (ii) an injunction against participating directly or indirectly in the management or control of the Council for Tobacco Research, the Tobacco
Institute, or the Center for Indoor Air Research, or any successor or affiliated entities of each; (iii) an injunction against “making, or causing to be made in
any way, any material false, misleading, or deceptive statement or representation or engaging in any public relations or marketing endeavor that is
disseminated to the United States' public and that misrepresents or suppresses information concerning cigarettes”; (iv) an injunction against conveying any
express or implied health message through use of descriptors on cigarette packaging or in cigarette advertising or promotional material, including “lights,”
“ultra lights,” and “low tar,” which the court found could cause consumers to believe one cigarette brand is less hazardous than another brand; (v) the
issuance of “corrective statements” in various media regarding the adverse health effects of smoking, the addictiveness of smoking and nicotine, the lack of
any significant health benefit from smoking “low tar” or “lights” cigarettes, defendants' manipulation of cigarette design to ensure optimum nicotine delivery
and the adverse health effects of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke; (vi) the disclosure of defendants' public document websites and the production of
all documents produced to the government or produced in any future court or administrative action concerning smoking and health; (vii) the disclosure of
disaggregated marketing data to the government in the same form and on the same schedules as defendants now follow in disclosing such data to the Federal
Trade Commission for a period of ten years; (viii) certain restrictions on the sale or transfer by defendants of any cigarette brands, brand names, formulas or
cigarette business within the United States; and (ix) payment of the government's costs in bringing the action.
 
It is unclear what impact, if any, the Final Judgment will have on the cigarette industry as a whole. To the extent that the Final Judgment leads to a decline in
industry-wide shipments of cigarettes in the United States or otherwise results in restrictions that adversely affect the industry, Liggett's sales volume,
operating income and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.
 
Upcoming Trials
 
As of March 31, 2014, there were 18 Engle progeny cases scheduled for trial through March 31, 2015, where Liggett (and in many cases, Vector) is a named
defendant. Trial dates are, however, subject to change.
 
MSA and Other State Settlement Agreements
 
In March 1996, March 1997 and March 1998, Liggett entered into settlements of smoking-related litigation with 45 states and territories. The settlements
released Liggett from all smoking-related claims made by those states and territories, including claims for health care cost reimbursement and claims
concerning sales of cigarettes to minors.
 
In November 1998, Philip Morris, Brown & Williamson, R.J. Reynolds and Lorillard (the “Original Participating Manufacturers” or “OPMs”) and Liggett
(together with any other tobacco product manufacturer that becomes a signatory, the “Subsequent Participating Manufacturers” or “SPMs”) (the OPMs and
SPMs are hereinafter referred to jointly as the “Participating Manufacturers”) entered into the Master Settlement Agreement (the “MSA”) with 46 states, the
District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, Guam, the United States Virgin Islands, American Samoa and the Northern Mariana Islands (collectively, the “Settling
States”) to settle the asserted and unasserted health care cost recovery and certain other claims of the Settling States. The MSA received final judicial
approval in each Settling State.
 
As a result of the MSA, the Settling States released Liggett from:

 
• all claims of the Settling States and their respective political subdivisions and other recipients of state health care funds, relating to: (i) past conduct

arising out of the use, sale, distribution, manufacture, development, advertising and marketing of tobacco products; (ii) the health effects of, the
exposure to, or research, statements or warnings about, tobacco products; and

 
• all monetary claims of the Settling States and their respective subdivisions and other recipients of state health care funds relating to future conduct

arising out of the use of, or exposure to, tobacco products that have been manufactured in the ordinary course of business.
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The MSA restricts tobacco product advertising and marketing within the Settling States and otherwise restricts the activities of Participating Manufacturers.
Among other things, the MSA prohibits the targeting of youth in the advertising, promotion or marketing of tobacco products; bans the use of cartoon
characters in all tobacco advertising and promotion; limits each Participating Manufacturer to one tobacco brand name sponsorship during any 12-month
period; bans all outdoor advertising, with certain limited exceptions; prohibits payments for tobacco product placement in various media; bans gift offers
based on the purchase of tobacco products without sufficient proof that the intended recipient is an adult; prohibits Participating Manufacturers from licensing
third parties to advertise tobacco brand names in any manner prohibited under the MSA; and prohibits Participating Manufacturers from using as a tobacco
product brand name any nationally recognized non-tobacco brand or trade name or the names of sports teams, entertainment groups or individual celebrities.
 
The MSA also requires Participating Manufacturers to affirm corporate principles to comply with the MSA and to reduce underage use of tobacco products
and imposes restrictions on lobbying activities conducted on behalf of Participating Manufacturers. In addition, the MSA provides for the appointment of an
independent auditor to calculate and determine the amounts of payments owed pursuant to the MSA.
 
Under the payment provisions of the MSA, the Participating Manufacturers are required to make annual payments of $9,000,000 (subject to applicable
adjustments, offsets and reductions). These annual payments are allocated based on unit volume of domestic cigarette shipments. The payment obligations
under the MSA are the several, and not joint, obligation of each Participating Manufacturer and are not the responsibility of any parent or affiliate of a
Participating Manufacturer.
 
Liggett has no payment obligations under the MSA except to the extent its market share exceeds a market share exemption of 1.63% (approximately 1.65% if
the "gross" vs "net" settlement, described below, is not concluded) of total cigarettes sold in the United States. Liggett's domestic shipments accounted for
3.0% of the total cigarettes sold in the United States in 2013. If Liggett’s market share exceeds their respective market share exemption in a given year, then
on April 15 of the following year, Liggett must pay on each excess unit an amount equal (on a per-unit basis) to that due from the OPMs for that year. On
December 31, 2013, Liggett pre-paid $95,000 of its 2013 MSA obligation. On April 15, 2014, Liggett paid approximately $7,750 for the balance of their
2013 MSA obligation.
 
Certain MSA Disputes
 
NPM Adjustment.  In March 2006, an economic consulting firm selected pursuant to the MSA determined that the MSA was a “significant factor contributing
to” the loss of market share of Participating Manufacturers, to non-participating manufacturers, for 2003. This is known as the “NPM Adjustment.” The
economic consulting firm subsequently rendered the same decision with respect to 2004 and 2005. In March 2009, a different economic consulting firm made
the same determination for 2006. As a result, the manufacturers are entitled to potential NPM Adjustments to each of their 2003 - 2006 MSA payments. The
Participating Manufacturers are also entitled to potential NPM Adjustments to their 2007 - 2013 payments pursuant to agreements entered into between the
OPMs and the Settling States under which the OPMs agreed to make certain payments for the benefit of the Settling States, in exchange for which the Settling
States stipulated that the MSA was a “significant factor contributing to” the loss of market share of Participating Manufacturers for each of those years. A
Settling State that has diligently enforced its qualifying escrow statute in the year in question may be able to avoid allocation of the NPM Adjustment to the
payments made by the manufacturers for the benefit of that Settling State.
 
For 2003 through 2013, Liggett disputed that they owed the Settling States the NPM Adjustments as calculated by the Independent Auditor. As permitted by
the MSA, Liggett withheld payment or paid into a disputed payment account the amounts associated with these NPM Adjustments.
 
Notwithstanding provisions in the MSA requiring arbitration, litigation was filed in 49 Settling States involving the application of the NPM Adjustment for
2003 and whether it was to be determined through litigation or arbitration. These actions related to the potential NPM Adjustment for 2003, which the
independent auditor under the MSA previously determined to be as much as $1,200,000 for all Participating Manufacturers. All but one of the 48 courts that
decided the issue ruled that the 2003 NPM Adjustment dispute was arbitrable.
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In response to a proposal from the OPMs and many of the SPMs, 45 of the Settling States, representing approximately 90% of the allocable share of the
Settling States, entered into an agreement providing for a nationwide arbitration of the dispute with respect to the NPM Adjustment for 2003. In exchange the
OPMs and SPMs agreed to a 20% reduction in the NPM Adjustment for 2003. In June 2010, the three person arbitration panel was selected. In November
2011, the Participating Manufacturers advised the arbitration panel that they were not contesting diligent enforcement of 16 Settling States for 2003.
Substantive hearings commenced in April 2012 and were completed in June 2013.
 
In December 2012, the Participating Manufacturers entered into a “term sheet” with 20 Settling States setting out terms for settlement of the NPM
Adjustment for 2003 through 2012 and addressing the NPM Adjustment with respect to those states for future years. Certain of the non-settling states
objected to the settlement. In March 2013, the arbitration panel entered a Stipulated Partial Settlement and Award which, among other things, overruled the
objections of the non-settling states and directed the independent auditor to implement certain terms of the term sheet effective with the April 15, 2013 MSA
payments. In May 2013, two additional states joined the settlement. Several non-settling states are attempting to vacate the settlement award by filing state
court actions. In Idaho, a trial court denied that state's motion to vacate, and the state noticed an appeal of that denial. In Colorado, a trial court also denied
that state’s motion to vacate; Colorado has not filed an appeal, and the time period for appeal has passed. Although certain terms of the settlement were
implemented by the independent auditor on April 15, 2013, no assurance can be given as to the ultimate outcome of the non-settling states' challenges.
 
As a result of the settlement, in the first quarter of 2013 Liggett recognized income of $5,173. Following the additional two states joining the settlement in
May 2013, Liggett recognized an additional $1,293 of income in the second quarter of 2013. Finally, Liggett received credits of $1,587 in April 2014 from
these settling states related to the 2013 NPM Adjustment. The remaining NPM Adjustment accrual of $25,666 at March 31, 2014 relates to the disputed
amounts Liggett withheld from the non-settling states for 2004 through 2010, which may be subject to payment, with interest, if Liggett lose the disputes for
those years. Approximately $23,524 currently remains in the disputed payments accounts relating to the 2011, 2012 and 2013 NPM Adjustment dispute with
these non-settling states.
 
In September 2013, the panel issued its decisions with respect to the 15 states that did not enter into the Stipulated Partial Settlement and Award, finding that
six states did not diligently enforce their MSA escrow statutes in 2003. As a result of this ruling Liggett recognized income of $5,987 including interest, in the
third quarter of 2013. All six of the states that were found to be non-diligent filed motions in state court seeking to vacate or reduce the amount of the
arbitration award. A trial court in one of those states, Pennsylvania, rejected the state's motion to vacate the award but granted its motion to reduce the award.
As a result, in April 2014, Liggett received a credit in the amount of $6,441 for the 2003 NPM Adjustment (as calculated by the independent auditor). It
subsequently reimbursed the six states 20% of that credit, pursuant to the agreement discussed above, bringing its net recovery to $5,152, which is
approximately $835 lower than the amount Liggett believes it’s entitled to. Subsequent to the April 15th MSA payment date, a state court in Missouri ruled
similarly to the ruling in Pennsylvania. As such, Liggett's 2003 NPM credit adjustment could be reduced by an additional $500. The Participating
Manufacturers, including Liggett, plan to appeal the Pennsylvania and Missouri decisions. If Liggett is unsuccessful in its appeal of the Pennsylvania or
Missouri court rulings or if other states are successful with respect to any such motions, the amount of the 2003 NPM Adjustment and any interest or earnings
to which Liggett is entitled could be lower than the amounts described above and Liggett would have to pay the difference.
 
"Gross" v. "Net" Calculations.  In October 2004, the independent auditor notified Liggett and all other Participating Manufacturers that their payment
obligations under the MSA, dating from the agreement’s execution in late 1998, had been re-calculated using “net” units, rather than “gross” units (which had
been used since 1999). Liggett objected to this retroactive change and disputed the change in methodology.
 
The change in the method of calculation could have resulted in Liggett owing as much as $38,800 of additional MSA payments for prior years, including
interest, because the proposed change from “gross” to “net” units would have lowered Liggett’s grandfathered market share exemption under the MSA. The
Company estimated that Liggett’s future annual MSA payments would have been at least approximately $2,500 higher under the revised method of
calculation.
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In December 2012, the parties arbitrated the dispute before a panel of three arbitrators. In February 2013, the arbitrators granted the relief sought by Liggett. 
The arbitrators ruled that the limitations provisions of the MSA precluded the independent auditor from recalculating Liggett's grandfathered market share
exemption or Liggett's payment obligations beyond the last four years.  The arbitrators further ruled that, for purposes of calculating Liggett's payment
obligations for the applicable years, Liggett's market share, calculated on a net basis, should be increased by a factor of 1.25%.  Liggett filed a motion seeking
correction of the part of the arbitrators' decision that would require the 1.25% increase in Liggett's market share. The states objected to Liggett's motion and
sought additional relief from the panel declaring that any adjustment ordered by the panel is not limited by the four year limitations set forth in the MSA. If
the arbitrator's ruling is not modified, Liggett would be required to pay approximately $16,200 for the previous five years. If the relief requested by the states
is granted, Liggett could be required to pay up to approximately $36,200. The panel agreed to hear arguments on the motions in May 2013, but due to the
conditional settlement described below, the parties agreed to adjourn the hearing.
 
In June 2013, Liggett and a negotiating group on behalf of the Settling States reached an agreement in principle to resolve all disputes regarding "gross" v.
"net", subject to definitive documentation and approval thereof by each Settling State. The proposed settlement requires that Liggett pay $8,500 to the Settling
States and agree to reduce its market share exemption from 1.645% to 1.63% starting in 2013 and for all years thereafter. In exchange, the Settling States will
release Liggett from all claims in connection with the "gross" v. "net" dispute. The Company fully accrued the proposed settlement payment of $8,500 in
2013. There can be no assurance that the settlement will be concluded and if it is not, that Liggett will be successful in seeking modification of the award by
the panel or that Liggett will not be required to make additional payments, which could adversely affect the Company’s condensed consolidated financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.
 
Litigation Challenging the MSA.  Litigation challenging the validity of the MSA, including claims that the MSA violates antitrust laws, has not been
successful to date, although several cases are pending. Participating Manufacturers are not typically named as defendants in these cases.
 
Other State Settlements.  The MSA replaced Liggett’s prior settlements with all states and territories except for Florida, Mississippi, Texas and Minnesota.
Each of these four states, prior to the effective date of the MSA, negotiated and executed settlement agreements with each of the other major tobacco
companies, separate from those settlements reached previously with Liggett. Except as described below, Liggett's agreements with these states remain in full
force and effect. These states' settlement agreements with Liggett contained most favored nation provisions which could reduce Liggett's payment obligations
based on subsequent settlements or resolutions by those states with certain other tobacco companies. Beginning in 1999, Liggett determined that, based on
each of these four states' settlements with United States Tobacco Company, Liggett's payment obligations to those states had been eliminated. With respect to
all non-economic obligations under the previous settlements, Liggett believes it is entitled to the most favorable provisions as between the MSA and each
state's respective settlement with the other major tobacco companies. Therefore, Liggett's non-economic obligations to all states and territories are now
defined by the MSA.
 
In 2003, as a result of a dispute with Minnesota regarding its settlement agreement, Liggett agreed to pay $100 a year, in any year cigarettes manufactured by
Liggett are sold in that state. In 2003 and 2004, the Attorneys General for Florida, Mississippi and Texas advised Liggett that they believed that Liggett had
failed to make certain required payments under the respective settlement agreements with these states. In December 2010, Liggett settled with Florida and
agreed to pay $1,200 and to make further annual payments of $250 for a period of 21 years, starting in March 2011. The payments in years 12 – 21 will be
subject to an inflation adjustment. These payments are in lieu of any other payments allegedly due to Florida under the original settlement agreement. In
February 2012, Mississippi provided Liggett with a 60-day notice that the state intended to pursue its remedies if Liggett did not cure the alleged defaults.
Liggett responded to Mississippi's letter denying the existence of any defaults. There can be no assurance that Liggett will be able to resolve the matters with
Texas and Mississippi or that Liggett will not be required to make additional payments which could adversely affect the Company's condensed consolidated
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
 
Cautionary Statement.  Management is not able to predict the outcome of the litigation pending or threatened against Liggett or the Company. Litigation is
subject to many uncertainties. Liggett has been found liable in several Engle progeny cases and in Individual Actions, several of which were affirmed on
appeal and satisfied by Liggett. It is possible that other cases could be decided unfavorably against Liggett and that Liggett will be unsuccessful on appeal.
Liggett may attempt to settle particular cases if it believes it is in its best interest to do so.
 
Management cannot predict the cash requirements related to any future defense costs, settlements or judgments, including cash required to bond any appeals,
and there is a risk that those requirements will not be able to be met. An unfavorable outcome of a pending smoking-related case could encourage the
commencement of additional litigation. Except as discussed in this Note 7, management is unable to estimate the loss or range of loss that could result from
an unfavorable outcome of the cases pending against Liggett or the costs of defending such cases and as a result has not provided any amounts in its
consolidated financial statements for unfavorable outcomes.
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The tobacco industry is subject to a wide range of laws and regulations regarding the marketing, sale, taxation and use of tobacco products imposed by local,
state and federal governments. There have been a number of restrictive regulatory actions, adverse legislative and political decisions and other unfavorable
developments concerning cigarette smoking and the tobacco industry. These developments may negatively affect the perception of potential triers of fact with
respect to the tobacco industry, possibly to the detriment of certain pending litigation, and may prompt the commencement of additional litigation or
legislation.
 
It is possible that the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected by an unfavorable
outcome in any of the smoking-related litigation.
 
The activity in the Company's accruals for the MSA and tobacco litigation for the three months ended March 31, 2014 were as follows:
 

  Current Liabilities   Non-Current Liabilities  

  

Payments 
due under 

Master 
Settlement 
Agreement   

Litigation 
Accruals   Total   

Payments 
due under 

Master 
Settlement 
Agreement   

Litigation 
Accruals   Total  

                   
Balance at January 1, 2014  $ 16,611  $ 59,310  $ 75,921  $ 25,666  $ 27,059  $ 52,725 

Expenses   19,884   1,688   21,572   —   —   — 
Change in MSA obligations capitalized as
inventory   10   —   10   —   —   — 
Payments   —   (59,782)   (59,782)   —   —   — 
Reclassification from non-current liabilities   —   3,575   3,575   —   (3,575)   (3,575)
Interest on withholding   —   6   6   —   263   263 

Balance as of March 31, 2014  $ 36,505  $ 4,797  $ 41,302  $ 25,666  $ 23,747  $ 49,413 
 
The activity in the Company's accruals for the MSA and tobacco litigation for the three months ended March 31, 2013 were as follows:

 
  Current Liabilities   Non-Current Liabilities  

  

Payments 
due under 

Master 
Settlement 
Agreement   

Litigation 
Accruals   Total   

Payments 
due under 

Master 
Settlement 
Agreement   

Litigation 
Accruals   Total  

                   
Balance at January 1, 2013  $ 31,677  $ 1,470  $ 33,147  $ 46,837  $ 1,862  $ 48,699 

Expenses   25,818   124   25,942   —   —   — 
NPM Settlement adjustment   —   —   —   (11,685)   —   (11,685)
Change in MSA obligations capitalized as
inventory   72   —   72   —   —   — 
Payments   —   (1,580)   (1,580)   —   —   — 
Reclassification from non-current liabilities   2,756   223   2,979   (2,756)   (223)   (2,979)
Interest on withholding   —   11   11   —   42   42 

Balance as of March 31, 2013  $ 60,323  $ 248  $ 60,571  $ 32,396  $ 1,681  $ 34,077 
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Other Matters:
 
Liggett’s management are unaware of any material environmental conditions affecting their existing facilities. Liggett’s management believe that current
operations are conducted in material compliance with all environmental laws and regulations and other laws and regulations governing cigarette
manufacturers. Compliance with federal, state and local provisions regulating the discharge of materials into the environment, or otherwise relating to the
protection of the environment, has not had a material effect on the capital expenditures, results of operations or competitive position of Liggett.
 
Liggett Vector Brands entered into an agreement with a subsidiary of the American Wholesale Marketers Association to support a program to permit certain
tobacco distributors to secure, on reasonable terms, tax stamp bonds required by state and local governments for the distribution of cigarettes. The agreement
expires in February 2016. Under the agreement, Liggett Vector Brands has agreed to pay a portion of losses incurred by the surety under the bond program,
with a maximum loss exposure of $500. To secure its potential obligations under the agreement, Liggett Vector Brands posted a $100 letter of credit and
agreed to fund up to an additional $400. In the third quarter of 2013, Liggett Vector Brands paid $83 for obligations under this program, and therefore, is only
committed to fund an additional $317 over the letter of credit. The Company believes the fair value of Liggett Vector Brands’ obligation under the agreement
was immaterial at March 31, 2014.
 
There may be several other proceedings, lawsuits and claims pending against the Company and certain of its consolidated subsidiaries unrelated to tobacco or
tobacco product liability. Management is of the opinion that the liabilities, if any, ultimately resulting from such other proceedings, lawsuits and claims should
not materially affect the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

 
8. Related Party Transactions

 
Liggett is a party to an agreement with Vector to provide various management and administrative services to Liggett in consideration for quarterly
management fees of $225 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, paid in monthly installments and quarterly overhead reimbursements of $216
for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, paid in monthly installments. The charges for services under this agreement amounted to $441 for the
three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013.
 
In addition, Liggett has entered into an annually renewable Corporate Services Agreement with VGR wherein VGR agreed to provide corporate services to
Liggett at an annual fee paid in monthly installments. Corporate services provided by VGR under this agreement include the provision of administrative
services related to Liggett’s participation in its parent company’s multi-employer benefit plan, external publication of financial results, preparation of
consolidated financial statements and tax returns and such other administrative and managerial services as may be reasonably requested by Liggett. The
charges for services rendered under the agreement amounted to $1,901 and $1,811, for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
 
On January 1, 2011, Liggett entered into an updated manufacturing agreement with Vector Tobacco, an affiliate under common ownership, that will terminate
on December 31, 2015, with subsequent automatic renewal for successive one year terms unless terminated by either party. Pricing is set forth in the
agreement based on previously determined standard costs, and invoices are sent to Vector Tobacco on a weekly basis under the agreement. For the three
months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, Liggett manufactured 0.3 and 0.2 billion cigarettes of Vector Tobacco brands, respectively, and realized $18,529 and
$13,211, respectively, in net receipts from these sales and $379 and $272, respectively, in profits from the agreement. Liggett recognized an additional $33
and $24 in receipts and profits for additional manufacturing services provided to Vector Tobacco for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.
 
As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, Liggett has a net receivable from Vector Tobacco totaling $717 and $3,135, respectively. This overall net
receivable position is related primarily to the manufacturing agreement between Liggett and Vector Tobacco in 2013.
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The remaining related party net receivable balance of $430 at March 31, 2014 and $5,508 at December 31, 2013, relates primarily to transactions with
Liggett's affiliate, Liggett Vector Brands.
 
Liggett is party to a tax sharing agreement with Vector and certain other entities pursuant to which Liggett will pay taxes on an estimated basis to Vector as if
it were filing a separate company tax return, except that the agreement effectively limits the ability of Liggett to carry back losses for refunds. Liggett is
entitled to recoup overpayments in a given year out of future payments due under the agreement and is required to fund underpayments. Liggett paid $16,000
to Vector under the tax sharing agreement for the three months ended March 31, 2013. There were no tax sharing payments made for the three months ended
March 31, 2014. At December 31, 2013, Liggett had a receivable balance related to tax payments to VGR, of $4,824, shown as income taxes receivable on
the balance sheet.
 
On February 28, 2014 Liggett entered into an intercompany loan agreement with Vector. Under the terms of the loan agreement, Vector loaned Liggett
$35,000 to facilitate Liggett’s approximate initial $59,200 payment into the Engle Qualified Settlement Fund (“Engle QSF”) in accordance with the
settlement dated October 23, 2013, and further described in Note 7. Liggett has to repay the $35,000, along with interest calculated at a per annum rate of
11%, to VGR by September 30, 2014. Liggett made this approximate $59,200 payment to the Engle QSF on February 28, 2014. As of 3/31/2014, $25,318
was outstanding under the loan from Vector.
The balance was paid off in full in May 2014.
 
Liggett Vector Brands coordinates and executes the sales, marketing and manufacturing efforts along with certain support functions for all of Vector’s tobacco
operations. In conjunction with the duties performed at Liggett Vector Brands, a portion of sales, marketing, manufacturing, distribution, and administrative
expenses have been allocated to Liggett. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, Liggett expensed $18,460 and $18,174, respectively, for the
services provided by Liggett Vector Brands. Expenses in the amount of $11,267 and $11,274 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively, have been classified as selling general and administrative while expenses in the amount of $7,193 and $6,900 for the three months ended March
31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, have been classified as cost of goods sold.
 
Related party net (payables)/receivables consisted of the following as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.
 

  March 31,   December 31,  
  2014   2013  
       
Due to VGR  $ (25,518) $ — 
Due from Vector Tobacco   717   3,135 
Due from/(to) Liggett Vector Brands   630   (5,508)
  $ (24,171) $ (2,373)
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The following financial statements for Vector Group Ltd.'s wholly owned subsidiary, Vector Tobacco Inc., are included pursuant to Regulation S-X, Rule 3-
16, "Financial Statements of Affiliates Whose Securities Collateralize an Issue Registered or Being Registered".
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Vector Tobacco Inc.
Condensed Balance Sheets
March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 
  March 31,   December 31,  

  2014   2013  
       
Assets         
Current assets         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 10,082  $ 10,785 
Accounts receivable — trade, less allowances of $113 and $114, respectively   1,478   1,505 
Due from related parties   1,977   1,215 
Inventories   7,722   7,434 
Deferred income taxes   5,150   4,434 
Income tax receivable, net   330   379 
Other current assets   703   663 

Total current assets   27,442   26,415 
Intangible asset associated with benefit under the Master Settlement Agreement   107,511   107,511 
Deferred income taxes   95,697   96,735 
Due from related parties   14,536   9,595 
Other assets   2,281   2,236 

Total assets  $ 247,467  $ 242,492 
Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity         
Current liabilities         

Current payments due under the Master Settlement Agreement  $ 13,414  $ 8,737 
Due to related parties   717   3,135 
Accrued promotional expenses   1,939   2,086 
Accounts payable - trade   —   27 
Allowance for sales returns   200   130 
Deferred income taxes   2,310   2,310 
Other current liabilities   573   227 

Total current liabilities   19,153   16,652 
Deferred income taxes   34,750   34,029 
Payments due under the Master Settlement Agreement   1,905   1,905 

Total liabilities   55,808   52,586 
Commitments and contingencies         
Shareholder's equity         

Common shares ($1 par value per share; 1,000 shares authorized; 100 shares issued and outstanding) *   —   — 
Additional paid-in capital   303,892   303,892 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   115   115 
Accumulated deficit   (112,348)   (114,101)

Total shareholder's equity   191,659   189,906 
Total liabilities and shareholder's equity  $ 247,467  $ 242,492 

 
* Common shares pledged as collateral for Vector Tobacco's guarantee of Vector Group Ltd's debt (see Note 1).

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Vector Tobacco Inc.
Condensed Statements of Operations
Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2014   2013  
    
Revenues *  $ 31,846  $ 20,487 
Expenses         

Cost of goods sold *   27,007   16,197 
Operating, selling, administrative and general expenses   1,949   1,090 
Management fees paid to Vector Group Ltd.   125   125 
Operating income   2,765   3,075 

Other income (expense)         
Interest income   123   — 
Income before provision for income taxes   2,888   3,075 

Income tax expense   (1,135)   (1,184)
Net income  $ 1,753  $ 1,891 

 
* Revenues and cost of goods sold include net federal excise taxes of $15,575 and $9,923 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013,

respectively.
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Vector Tobacco, Inc.
Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income
Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
  
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2014   2013  
       
Net income  $ 1,753  $ 1,891 
         
Change in pension-related amounts, net of tax   —   (300)
Other comprehensive loss   —   (300)
         
Comprehensive income  $ 1,753  $ 1,591 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Vector Tobacco Inc.
Condensed Statement of Shareholders' Equity
Three Months Ended March 31, 2014
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 
  Common Shares     

  Shares   Amount   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Total
Shareholder's

Equity  
Balance, January 1, 2014   100*   —   303,892   115   (114,101)   189,906 
Net Income   —   —   —   —   1,753   1,753 
Total Comprehensive Income                       1,753 
Balance, March 31, 2014   100*  $ —  $ 303,892  $ 115  $ (112,348)  $ 191,659 

 
*Common shares pledged as collateral for Vector Tobacco Inc.’s guarantee of Vector Group Ltd's debt (see Note 1).
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Vector Tobacco, Inc.
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  
  2014   2013  
       

Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 4,238  $ 4,734 
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Loan financing agreement with ZOOM, LLC   (4,941)   — 
Net cash used in investing activities   (4,941)   — 

Cash flows from financing activities:         
Distributions to Vector Group Ltd.   —   (4,000)

Net cash used in financing activities   —   (4,000)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (703)   734 

Cash and cash equivalents         
Beginning of period   10,785   3,395 
End of period  $ 10,082  $ 4,129 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Vector Tobacco Inc.
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
For the Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2014
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

(a) Basis of Presentation
 
Vector Tobacco Inc. (“Vector Tobacco” or the “Company”), is a wholly-owned subsidiary of VGR Holding LLC (“VGR”), which in turn is wholly
owned by Vector Group Ltd. (“Vector” or “Parent”). The Company is engaged in the manufacture and sale of conventional cigarettes in the United
States through their USA, Silver Eagle, and Eagle 20's brands.
 
Liggett Group LLC (“Liggett”), a company affiliated through common ownership, manufactures most of Vector Tobacco’s cigarette brands under
contract at Liggett’s Mebane, North Carolina manufacturing facility.
 
Liggett Vector Brands LLC (“Liggett Vector Brands”), a company affiliated through common ownership, coordinates and executes the sales,
marketing, administration and manufacturing efforts along with certain support functions for all of Vector’s tobacco operations including Vector
Tobacco and Liggett. In consideration of the duties performed at Liggett Vector Brands on behalf of the Company, a portion of its sales, marketing,
manufacturing, distribution, and administrative expenses are reimbursed by Vector Tobacco (see Note 6).
 
These condensed financial statements are for Vector Tobacco only and exclude its wholly-owned subsidiary, VT Aviation LLC, as Vector
consolidates this entity as its primary beneficiary.
 
The accompanying unaudited, interim condensed financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles for interim financial information and, in management's opinion, contain all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring items,
necessary for a fair statement of the results for the periods presented. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required
by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. These condensed financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the Company's financial statements and the notes thereto included as an exhibit in Vector's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2013 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The results of operations for interim periods should not be
regarded as necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the entire year.
 
Management believes the assumptions underlying the condensed financial statements are reasonable. However, the condensed financial statements
included herein may not necessarily reflect the Company’s results of operations, financial position, shareholder's equity and cash flows in the future
or what its results of operations, financial position, shareholder's equity and cash flows would have been had the Company been a standalone
company during the periods presented.
 
Vector and VGR are holding companies and, as a result, do not have any operating activities that generate revenues or cash flows. Accordingly,
Vector relies on distributions from VGR and its other subsidiaries and investments, and VGR relies on distributions from its other subsidiaries,
including Vector Tobacco, in order to fund its operations and meet its obligations. Vector has certain debt outstanding which requires interest and
principal payments over the terms of such debt. Interest and principal to service the debt is expected to be funded by Vector’s cash and cash
equivalents, investments, the operations of Vector’s subsidiaries, including Vector Tobacco, and proceeds, if any, from Vector’s future financings. For
the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, Vector Tobacco made distributions of $0 and $4,000 respectively, to VGR.
 
7.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2021
 
In February 2013, Vector issued $450,000 of its 7.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 in a private offering to qualified institutional investors in
accordance with Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. The aggregate net proceeds from the sale of the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes were
approximately $438,250 after deducting offering expenses. Vector used the net proceeds of the issuance for a cash tender offer announced on January
29, 2013, with respect to any and all of its outstanding 11% Senior Secured notes due 2015.
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The 7.75% Senior Secured Notes are guaranteed, subject to certain customary automatic release provisions on a joint and several basis by all of the
100% owned domestic subsidiaries of Vector that are engaged in the conduct of Vector’s cigarette businesses, including Vector Tobacco. Vector
Tobacco's balance sheets, statements of operations, and statements of shareholder's equity as of March 31, 2014, do not reflect any amounts related
to these notes as the debt is not acquisition related.
 
Vector Tobacco's cash flows from operations may be utilized to fund the interest and debt obligation of the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes via
distributions by Vector Tobacco to VGR to Vector.
 
Additional Parent Company Notes
 
As of March 31, 2014, Vector has debt with a net amount of approximately $181,525 (face amount $362,530) in addition to the 7.75% Senior
Secured Notes. This $181,525 is not reflected in Vector Tobacco's condensed financial statements as these obligations are not collateralized by
Vector Tobacco's assets nor has Vector Tobacco guaranteed these obligations. It is anticipated that the majority of the payments on this $181,525 will
be funded by Vector's tobacco operations, including those of Vector Tobacco.
 
In addition to the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes, the Company may have to fund certain deferred income tax liabilities of Vector (see Note 3).
 
General Corporate Expenses
 
General corporate expense allocations represent costs related to corporate functions such as executive oversight, risk management, information
technology, accounting, legal, investor relations, human resources, tax, employee benefits and other services and incentives Vector provides to the
Company. The allocations are based on a reasonable estimation of Vector’s overhead expenses based on the relative specific identification and the
relative percentage of the Company’s revenues and expenses to Vector’s total costs. All of these allocations are reflected in management fees paid to
Vector in the Company’s statements of operations of $125 in each of the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013.
 
The Company and Vector consider these general corporate expense allocations to be a reasonable reflection of the utilization of services provided.
The allocations may not, however, reflect the expense the Company would have incurred as a standalone company. Actual costs which may have
been incurred if the Company had been a standalone company during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, would depend on a number
of factors, including how the Company chose to organize itself, what if any functions were outsourced or performed by Company employees, and
strategic decisions made in areas such as information technology systems and infrastructure. However, the Company currently does not believe the
difference between the cost allocations from Vector and the costs the Company would have incurred on a standalone basis would have a material
impact on the Company’s statements of operations, balance sheets or statements of cash flows for 2014 and 2013.
 
(b) Distributions and Dividends on Common Shares

 
The Company records distributions on its common shares as dividends in its statement of shareholder's equity to the extent of retained earnings. Any
amounts exceeding retained earnings are recorded as a reduction of additional paid-in-capital.
 
(c) New Accounting Pronouncements
 
On April 10, 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued final guidance to change the criteria for reporting discontinued operations while
enhancing disclosures in this area (Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-08). Under the new guidance, only disposals representing a
strategic shift, such as a major line of business, a major geographical area or a major equity investment, should be presented as discontinued
operations. The guidance will be applied prospectively to new disposals and new classifications of disposal groups as held for sale after the effective
date. The guidance is effective for annual financial statements with fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2014 with early adoption
permitted for disposals or classifications as held for sale which have not been reported in financial statements previously issued or available for
issuance. Vector Tobacco will adopt the guidance effective January 1, 2015 and the guidance is not anticipated to have a material impact on the
Company's financial statements and notes to the financial statements.
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On March 13, 2014, the Emerging Issues Task Force (the “Task Force”) reached a final consensus to amend the accounting guidance for share
compensation tied to performance targets (Issue No. 13-D). The objective of this guidance is to clarify the accounting treatment of certain types of
performance conditions in share-based compensation awards, more specifically, when performance targets can be achieved after the requisite service
period. The Task Force concluded that performance criteria subsequent to a service period vesting requirement should be treated as vesting
conditions, and as a result, this type of performance condition may delay expense recognition until achievement of the performance target is
probable. Issue No. 13-D will be effective for all entities for reporting periods (including interim periods) beginning after December 15, 2015, and
early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not anticipated to have a material impact on Vector Tobacco's financial statements or
notes to the financial statements.
 
(d) Revision of Previously Reported Cash Flows From Financing and Investing activities
 
During the preparation of the Company’s first quarter 2014 financial statements,  a misclassification was identified which will result in the Company
revising its previously reported cash flow statement for the year ended December 31, 2013 to correctly present its intercompany loan made to Zoom
LLC of $9,595,000 as an investing activity, rather than a financing activity. This change had no effect on previously reported net income, assets,
shareholders’ equity or cash flows from operations.  There is no resulting impact to the March 31, 2013 or 2014 unaudited interim financial
statements.  The misclassification is not material to the previously reported financial statements.  The December 31, 2013 financial statements will
be revised when the 2014 annual financial statements are issued.
 
(e) Out of Period Adjustment
 
In the first quarter of 2013, an out of period adjustment was recorded to reduce pension expense by $300, which was not material to the current
interim financial statements or prior year annual financial statements.
 
(f) Subsequent Events
 
On April 15, 2014, Vector completed the sale of $150,000 principal amount of its 7.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 for a price of 106.750% in a
private offering to qualified institutional investors in accordance with Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. Vector received net proceeds of
approximately $156,000 and the net proceeds will be used for general corporate purposes, including additional investments in real estate and in its
tobacco business. In connection with the issuance of the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes, Vector entered into a Registration Rights Agreement. Vector
agreed to consummate a registered exchange offer for the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes within 360 days after the date of the initial issuance of the
7.75% Senior Secured Notes. The new 7.75% Senior Secured Notes to be issued in the exchange offer will have substantially the same terms as the
original notes, except that the new 7.75% Senior Secured Notes will have been registered under the Securities Act. Vector will be required to pay
additional interest on the 7.75% Senior Secured Notes if it fails to timely comply with its obligations under the Registration Rights Agreement until
such time as it complies.
 
Vector Tobacco has evaluated transactions for consideration as subsequent events through May 12, 2014, which is the date when statements were
issued by its parent company, Vector. Additionally, the Company has evaluated transactions that occurred before the issuance of these financial
statements on June 25, 2014 for purposes of disclosure of unrecognized subsequent events.

 
2. Inventories

 
Inventories consist of the following at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013:
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Vector Tobacco Inc.
Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
For the Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2014
(in thousands of dollars)
(Unaudited)
 

  March 31,   December 31, 
  2014   2013  
       
Finished goods, at current cost  $ 7,905  $ 7,540 
LIFO adjustment   (183)   (106)
  $ 7,722  $ 7,434 
 
Each year, the Company capitalizes in inventory that portion of the Master Settlement Agreement liability related to cigarettes in inventory at public
warehouses but not sold. The amount of capitalized MSA cost in finished goods inventory was $2,418 and $2,399 at March 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, respectively (see Note 5).
 
Since January 1, 2004, most of Vector Tobacco’s products have been manufactured at Liggett’s manufacturing facility in Mebane, North Carolina
under a contract manufacturing agreement with Liggett (see Note 6) and as such, Vector Tobacco generally does not hold raw materials or tobacco
leaf in inventory.
 
All of the Company's inventories at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 have been reported under the LIFO method.
 

3. Income Taxes
 
Vector Tobacco’s income tax provision and related deferred income tax amounts are determined as if the Company filed tax returns on a standalone
basis. The Company and its non-consolidated, wholly-owned subsidiary VT Aviation currently are included in the consolidated federal income tax
return of its indirect parent, Vector.
 
The operations of Vector Tobacco and its affiliates are included in the consolidated federal income tax return of its indirect parent, Vector Group Ltd.
Pursuant to a tax allocation agreement amended in 1999, the amounts provided for as currently payable for federal income taxes are based on the
Company’s pre-tax income for financial reporting purposes. The Company expenses and pays Vector Group Ltd. their portion of the consolidated
income tax expense in accordance with the tax allocation agreement.
 
In 2014, the Company revised it's previously reported December 31, 2013 and 2012 income tax receivable, non-current deferred tax assets and
accumulated deficit due to an error in the Company's tax provision. The error relates solely to a net operating loss and income tax receivable under a
tax sharing agreement between the Company and Vector. Amounts related to the prior periods are not considered material to the financial statements
taken as a whole, but were revised in 2014 for purposes of comparability. The revised financial statements will be presented in conjunction with the
2014 annual financial statements.
 
The following table shows the previously reported balances and the corrected balances for the affected accounts as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.
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  December 31, 2013   December 31, 2013  December 31, 2012   December 31, 2012 

  
Previously Reported

Balance   Corrected Balance   
Previously Reported

Balance   Corrected Balance  
             
Income tax receivable, net  $ 7,956  $ 379  $ 1,471  $ 297 
Deferred income taxes  $ 92,151  $ 96,735  $ 99,894  $ 99,894 
Accumulated deficit  $ (111,108)  $ (114,101)  $ (133,741)  $ (134,915)
Income tax expense  $ 2,863  $ 4,682  $ 4,211  $ 5,385 
Net Income  $ 22,633  $ 20,814  $ 21,214  $ 20,040 

 
Vector Tobacco's provision for income taxes in interim periods is based on an estimated annual effective income tax rate derived, in part, from
estimated annual pre-tax results from ordinary operations. The annual effective income tax rate is reviewed and, if necessary, adjusted on a quarterly
basis.
 
Vector Tobacco's income tax expense consisted of the following:

 
  Three Months Ended  
  March 31,  

  2014   2013  
       
Income before provision for income taxes  $ 2,888  $ 3,075 
Income tax expense using estimated annual effective income tax rate   1,135   1,184 
Impact of discrete items, net   —   — 
Income tax expense  $ 1,135  $ 1,184 

 
4. Fair Value Measurements

 
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted assets and short-term loans approximate their fair value. 

 

  
March 31,

 2014   
December 31,

 2013  

  
Carrying
Amount   

Fair
Value   

Carrying 
Amount   

Fair 
Value  

Financial assets                 
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 10,082  $ 10,082  $ 10,785  $ 10,785 

 
5. Commitments and Contingencies
 

Tobacco-Related Litigation
 
Overview
 
Since 1954, United States cigarette manufacturers have been named as defendants in numerous direct, third-party and purported class actions
predicated on the theory that cigarette manufacturers should be liable for damages alleged to have been caused by cigarette smoking or by exposure
to secondary smoke from cigarettes. Although new cases continue to be commenced against certain cigarette manufacturers, including Liggett,
Vector Tobacco has not been named as a defendant in any such actions.
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(Unaudited)

 
Master Settlement Agreement
In November 1998, Philip Morris, Brown & Williamson, R.J. Reynolds and Lorillard (the “Original Participating Manufacturers” or “OPMs”)
(together with any other tobacco product manufacturer that becomes a signatory, the “Subsequent Participating Manufacturers” or “SPMs”) (the
OPMs and SPMs are hereinafter referred to jointly as the “Participating Manufacturers”) entered into the Master Settlement Agreement (the “MSA”)
with 46 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, Guam, the United States Virgin Islands, American Samoa and the Northern Mariana Islands
(collectively, the “Settling States”) to settle the asserted and unasserted health care cost recovery and certain other claims of the Settling States. The
MSA received final judicial approval in each Settling State. In February 1999, Medallion (n/k/a Vector Tobacco) became a subsequent participating
manufacturer under the MSA.
 
As a result of the MSA, the Settling States released Vector Tobacco and other Participating Manufacturers from:
 
• all claims of the Settling States and their respective political subdivisions and other recipients of state health care funds, relating to: (i) past

conduct arising out of the use, sale, distribution, manufacture, development, advertising and marketing of tobacco products; (ii) the health
effects of, the exposure to, or research, statements or warnings about, tobacco products; and

 
• all monetary claims of the Settling States and their respective subdivisions and other recipients of state health care funds relating to future

conduct arising out of the use of, or exposure to, tobacco products that have been manufactured in the ordinary course of business.
 
The MSA restricts tobacco product advertising and marketing within the Settling States and otherwise restricts the activities of Participating
Manufacturers. Among other things, the MSA prohibits the targeting of youth in the advertising, promotion or marketing of tobacco products; bans
the use of cartoon characters in all tobacco advertising and promotion; limits each Participating Manufacturer to one tobacco brand name
sponsorship during any 12-month period; bans all outdoor advertising, with certain limited exceptions; prohibits payments for tobacco product
placement in various media; bans gift offers based on the purchase of tobacco products without sufficient proof that the intended recipient is an
adult; prohibits Participating Manufacturers from licensing third parties to advertise tobacco brand names in any manner prohibited under the MSA;
and prohibits Participating Manufacturers from using as a tobacco product brand name any nationally recognized non-tobacco brand or trade name
or the names of sports teams, entertainment groups or individual celebrities.
 
The MSA also requires Participating Manufacturers to affirm corporate principles to comply with the MSA and to reduce underage use of tobacco
products and imposes restrictions on lobbying activities conducted on behalf of Participating Manufacturers. In addition, the MSA provides for the
appointment of an independent auditor to calculate and determine the amounts of payments owed pursuant to the MSA.
 
Under the payment provisions of the MSA, the Participating Manufacturers are required to make annual payments of $9,000,000 (subject to
applicable adjustments, offsets and reductions). These annual payments are allocated based on unit volume of domestic cigarette shipments. The
payment obligations under the MSA are the several, and not joint, obligation of each Participating Manufacturer and are not the responsibility of any
parent or affiliate of a Participating Manufacturer.
 
Vector Tobacco has no payment obligations under the MSA except to the extent its market share exceeds a market share exemption of approximately
0.28% of total cigarettes sold in the United States (approximately 768 million cigarettes in 2013). For the year ended December 31, 2013, Vector
Tobacco's domestic shipments accounted for approximately .4% of the total cigarettes shipped in the United States. If Vector Tobacco’s market share
exceeds its respective market share exemption in a given year, then by April 15 of the following year, Vector Tobacco must pay on each excess unit
an amount equal (on a per-unit basis) to that due by the OPMs for that year. On April 15, 2014, Vector Tobacco paid $8,593 for their 2013 MSA
obligations.
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Certain MSA Disputes
 
NPM Adjustment.  In March 2006, an economic consulting firm, selected pursuant to the MSA, determined that the MSA was a “significant factor
contributing to” the loss of market share of Participating Manufacturers, to non-participating manufacturers ("NPMs"), for 2003. This is known as
the “NPM Adjustment.” The economic consulting firm subsequently rendered the same decision with respect to 2004 and 2005. In March 2009, a
different economic consulting firm made the same determination for 2006. As a result, the manufacturers are entitled to potential NPM Adjustments
to each of their 2003 - 2006 MSA payments. The Participating Manufacturers are also entitled to potential NPM Adjustments to their 2007 - 2013
payments pursuant to agreements entered into between the OPMs and the Settling States under which the OPMs agreed to make certain payments for
the benefit of the Settling States, in exchange for which the Settling States stipulated that the MSA was a “significant factor contributing to” the loss
of market share of Participating Manufacturers for each of those years. A Settling State that has diligently enforced its qualifying escrow statute in
the year in question may be able to avoid allocation of the NPM Adjustment to the payments made by the manufacturers for the benefit of that
Settling State.
 
For 2003 to 2013, Vector Tobacco disputed that they owed the Settling States the NPM Adjustments as calculated by the Independent Auditor. As
permitted by the MSA, Vector Tobacco withheld payment or paid into a disputed payment account the amounts associated with these NPM
Adjustments.
 
Notwithstanding provisions in the MSA requiring arbitration, litigation was filed in 49 Settling States involving the application of the NPM
Adjustment for 2003 and whether it was to be determined through litigation or arbitration. These actions related to the potential NPM Adjustment for
2003, which the independent auditor under the MSA previously determined to be as much as $1,200,000 for all Participating Manufacturers. All but
one of the 48 courts that decided the issue ruled that the 2003 NPM Adjustment dispute was arbitrable.
 
In response to a proposal from the OPMs and many of the SPMs, 45 of the Settling States, representing approximately 90% of the allocable share of
the Settling States, entered into an agreement providing for a nationwide arbitration of the dispute with respect to the NPM Adjustment for 2003. In
exchange the OPM's and SPM's agreed to a 20% reduction in the NPM Adjustment for 2003. In June 2010, the three person arbitration panel was
selected. In November 2011, the Participating Manufacturers advised the arbitration panel that they were not contesting diligent enforcement of 16
Settling States for 2003. Substantive hearings commenced in April 2012 and were completed in June 2013.
 
Effective December 17, 2012, the Participating Manufacturers entered into a “term sheet” with 20 Settling States, setting out terms for settlement of
the NPM Adjustment for 2003 through 2012 and addressing the NPM Adjustment with respect to those states for future years. Certain of the non-
settling states objected to the settlement. In March 2013, the arbitration panel entered a Stipulated Partial Settlement and Award which, among other
things, overruled the objections of the non-settling states and directed the independent auditor to implement certain terms of the term sheet effective
with the April 15, 2013 MSA payments. In May 2013, two additional states joined the settlement. Several non-settling states are attempting to vacate
the settlement award by filing state court actions. In Idaho, a trial court denied that state's motion to vacate, and the state noticed an appeal of that
denial. In Colorado, a trial court also denied that state's motion to vacate; Colorado has not filed an appeal and the time period for appeal has passed.
Although certain terms of the settlement were implemented by the independent auditor on April 15, 2013, no assurance can be given as to the
ultimate outcome of the non-settling states' challenges.

 
As a result of the settlement, in the first quarter of 2013 Vector Tobacco recognized income of $430. Following the additional two states joining the
settlement in May 2013, Vector Tobacco recognized an additional $52 of income in the second quarter of 2013. Finally, VT received credits of $146
in April 2014 from these settling states related to the 2013 NPM Adjustment. The remaining NPM Adjustment accrual of $1,905 at March 31, 2014
relates to the disputed amounts Vector Tobacco has withheld from the non-settling states for 2004 through 2010. Approximately $865 remains in the
disputed payments accounts relating to the NPM Adjustment dispute with these non-settling states.
 
"Gross" v. "Net" Calculations.
 
In October 2004, the independent auditor notified Vector Tobacco and all other Participating Manufacturers that their payment obligations under the
MSA, dating from the agreement’s execution in late 1998, had been recalculated using “net” units, rather than “gross” units (which had been used
since 1999). Liggett objected to this retroactive change and disputed the change in methodology. Vector Tobacco had not formally objected to this
change in methodology since the Company benefits from the recalculation of its 1998 market share exemption on a net basis. However, due the
strength of Liggett’s challenge to this change in methodology, Vector Tobacco, through December 31, 2012, continued to accrue its MSA obligations
on a “gross” basis.
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In December 2012, Liggett and 39 Settling States arbitrated the dispute before a panel of three arbitrators. In February 2013, the arbitrators granted
the relief sought by Liggett. The arbitrators ruled that the limitations provisions of the MSA precluded the independent auditor from recalculating
Liggett's grandfathered market share exemption or Liggett's payment obligations beyond the last four years. The arbitrators further ruled that, for
purposes of calculating Liggett's payment obligations for the applicable years, Liggett's market share calculated on a net basis, should be increased
by a factor of 1.25%. Liggett filed a motion seeking correction of the part of the arbitrators' decision that would require the 1.25% increase in
Liggett's market share. The states objected to Liggett's motion and sought additional relief from the panel declaring that any adjustment ordered by
the panel is not limited by the four year limitations set forth in the MSA. The panel agreed to hear arguments on the motions in May 2013, but due to
the conditional settlement described below, the parties agreed to adjourn the hearing.
 
In June 2013, Liggett and a negotiating group on behalf of the Settling States reached an agreement in principle to resolve all disputes regarding
"gross" v. "net", subject to definitive documentation and approval thereof by each Settling State. The proposed settlement requires that Liggett pay
$8,500 to the Settling States and agree to reduce its market share exemption from 1.645% to 1.63% starting in 2013 and for all years thereafter. In
exchange, the Settling States will release Liggett from all claims in connection with the "gross" v. "net" dispute.
 
After evaluating the arbitrators ruling in conjunction with the conditional settlement between Liggett and the Settling States described above, Vector
Tobacco concluded that the probability of the MSA calculation reverting back to a “gross” basis is remote. As such, in 2013 Vector Tobacco accrued
its MSA obligations on a “net” basis and will continue to do so in future years. In conjunction with this decision, as of December 31, 2013, Vector
Tobacco reversed its previously held accrual of $3,075 related to this “gross” vs. “net” dispute.
 
Litigation Challenging the MSA. Litigation challenging the validity of the MSA, including claims that the MSA violates antitrust laws, has not been
successful to date, although several cases are pending. Participating manufacturers are not typically named as defendants in these cases.
 
The activity in the Company's accruals for tobacco litigation for the three months ended March 31, 2014 were as follows:
 
  Current Liabilities   Non-current Liabilities 

  

Payments due under
Master Settlement

Agreement   

Non-current payments
due under Master

Settlement Agreement  
       
Balance at January 1, 2014  $ 8,737  $ 1,905 

Expenses   4,658   — 
Change in MSA obligations capitalized as inventory   19   — 

Balance at March 31, 2014  $ 13,414  $ 1,905 
 
The activity in the Company's accruals for tobacco litigation for the three months ended March 31, 2013 were as follows:
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  Current Liabilities   Non-current Liabilities  

  

Payments due under
Master Settlement

Agreement   

Non-current payments
due under Master

Settlement Agreement  
       
Balance at January 1, 2013  $ 1,293  $ 5,802 

Expenses   2,571   — 
MSA settlements and arbitration rulings   —   (459)
Change in MSA obligations capitalized as inventory   24   — 
Reclassification to current liabilities   521   (521)

Balance at March 31, 2013  $ 4,409  $ 4,822 
 

Other Matters
 
Vector Tobacco’s management is unaware of any material environmental conditions affecting its leased facilities. Vector Tobacco’s management
believes that current operations are conducted in material compliance with all environmental laws and regulations and other laws and regulations
governing cigarette manufacturers. Compliance with federal, state and local provisions regulating the discharge of materials into the environment, or
otherwise relating to the protection of the environment, has not had a material effect on the capital expenditures, results of operations or competitive
position of Vector Tobacco. Vector Tobacco’s management is also unaware of any other claims that would materially affect the Company’s financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

 
6. Related Party Transactions

 
Liggett Vector Brands coordinates and executes the sales, marketing and manufacturing efforts along with certain support functions for all of
Vector’s tobacco operations. In conjunction with the duties performed at Liggett Vector Brands, a portion of sales, marketing, manufacturing,
distribution, and administrative expenses have been allocated to the Company. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013,
Vector Tobacco expensed $1,500 and $1,000, respectively, for services provided by Liggett Vector Brands. These expenses have been classified as
operating, selling, administrative and general expenses.
 
In 2006, Vector Tobacco entered into an agreement with VGR to provide various management and administrative services to Vector Tobacco in
consideration for an annual management fee. The charges for services under this agreement amounted to $125 for the three months ended March 31,
2014 and 2013.

 
On January 1, 2011, Vector Tobacco entered into an updated manufacturing agreement with Liggett Group LLC, an affiliate under common
ownership, that will terminate on December 31, 2015, with subsequent automatic renewal for successive one year terms unless terminated by either
party. Pricing is set forth in the agreement based on previously determined standard costs, and invoices are sent to Vector Tobacco on a weekly basis
under the agreement. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, Vector Tobacco purchased 0.3 and 0.2 billion cigarettes, respectively,
from Liggett and paid $18,529 and $13,211, respectively, which included profit of $379 and $272, respectively, to Liggett. Vector Tobacco also paid
Liggett an additional $33 and $24 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. for additional manufacturing services. Vector
Tobacco has a related party payable of $717 to Liggett at March 31, 2014 relating primarily to the contract manufacturing agreement.
 
Vector Tobacco incurred additional expenses of approximately $13 and $0 for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, for
transactions with VGR and Vector, which primarily reflects reimbursement of amounts paid on behalf of Vector Tobacco.
 
On August 1, 2013 Vector Tobacco entered into a five year revolving credit agreement with Zoom E-Cigs LLC ("Zoom"), a company affiliated
through common ownership, to fund Zoom's initial working capital requirements and other general business expenses. The agreement allows for
Zoom to borrow a maximum of $20 million, bearing interest at a rate of Prime plus 1% per annum. As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013,
the amount receivable from Zoom under the credit agreement was $14,536 and $9,595, respectively. Vector Tobacco recognized $123 of interest
income under the agreement for the three months ended March 31, 2014.
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Related party net (payables)/receivables consisted of the following as of:

 
  March 31,   December 31,  
  2014   2013  
         
Current         
Due to Liggett  $ (717)  $ (3,135)
Due from Liggett Vector Brands   1,977   1,215 
Total Current  $ 1,260  $ (1,920)
Non-current         
Due from Zoom, LLC  $ 14,536  $ 9,595 
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